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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
CRIMINAL GANGS  
Gang Databases 
 

Government Code Section 70615 (Amended); Penal Code Sections 186.36 
(Added), 186.34 and 186.35 (Repealed and Added) 
Chapter 695  / Assembly Bill 90     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  On January 1, 2018 a moratorium on the use of the CalGang database with be in 
effect until the Attorney General certifies that specified information has been purged.  The 
CalGang Executive Board will no longer administer or oversee their database which will be done 
by a new Gang Database Technical Advisory Committee.  A “shared gang database” is redefined 
as any gang database that is accessed by an agency or person outside of the agency that 
created the database.  The Department of Justice will now be responsible for administering and 
overseeing all shared gang databases. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Existing law, the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (act), 
provides specified punishments for certain crimes committed for the benefit of, at the 
direction of, or in association with, a criminal street gang, as specified. There is 
established within the Department of Justice the CalGang Executive Board, which is 
responsible for the administration, policy, and sustainability of the CalGang system, a 
shared gang database of statewide gang-related information.  
 

 The act defines a “shared gang database” as having various attributes, including, among 
others, that the database contains personal identifying information in which a person may 
be designated as a suspected gang member, associate, or affiliate, or for which entry of a 
person in the database reflects a designation of that person as a suspected gang 
member, associate, or affiliate.  

 

 Existing law establishes a review and appeal process for a person to challenge his or her 
inclusion in a gang database. 

 

 This law revises the definition of “shared gang database” for its purposes to mean any 
gang database that is accessed by an agency or person outside of the agency that 
created the database.  
 

 The law also defines “gang database” for its purposes as any database accessed by a 
law enforcement agency that designates a person as a gang member or associate, or 
includes or points to information, including, but not limited to, fact-based or 
uncorroborated information, that reflects a designation of that person as a gang member 
or associate.  

 

 The law makes the Department of Justice responsible for administering and overseeing 
any shared gang database in which California law enforcement agencies participate, and 
would provide that commencing January 1, 2018, the CalGang Executive Board would no 
longer administer or oversee the CalGang database.  

 

 The law requires the department to promulgate regulations governing the use, operation, 
and oversight of any shared gang database, including, among other things, establishing 
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the requirements for entering and reviewing gang designations, the retention period for 
listed gangs, and the criteria for identifying gang members.  

 

 The law requires the department to establish the Gang Database Technical Advisory 
Committee with specified members to advise the department in promulgating regulations 
governing the use, operation, and oversight of shared gang databases, as specified.  

 

 The law requires the department to develop and implement standardized periodic training 
for all persons with access to the CalGang database.  

 

 The law requires the department, by January 1, 2020, to promulgate regulations to 
provide for periodic audits by law enforcement agencies and department staff to ensure 
the accuracy, reliability, and proper use of any shared gang database, and to report the 
results of those audits to the public.  

 

 The law requires the department, commencing February 15, 2018, to publish and post on 
the department’s Internet Web site an annual report regarding specified information about 
the CalGang database and the periodic audits.  

 

 The law imposes a moratorium on the use of the CalGang database commencing 
January 1, 2018, until the Attorney General certifies that specified information has been 
purged from the CalGang database.  

 

 The law recasts, as a petition process, the review and appeal process that authorizes 
challenges to the inclusion in a shared gang database, and would make additional 
conforming changes. 
 

WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT: New requirements and audits are in 
effect for gang databases. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
DOMESTIC VIOLENCE  
Confidential Communications 
 

Penal Code Sections 633.5 and 633.6 (Amended)  
Chapter 191 / Assembly Bill 413     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  Confidential communication obtained by one party for the purpose of obtaining 
evidence reasonably believed to relate to the commission of domestic violence by another party 
may now lawfully be recorded.  That evidence will be admissible against a perpetrator being 
prosecuted.  That same evidence may also be used to obtain a domestic violence restraining 
order. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Existing law makes it a crime, subject to specified exemptions, for a person to 
intentionally eavesdrop on or record a confidential communication by means of an 
electronic amplifying or recording device without the consent of all parties to the 
confidential communication.  
 

 Existing law exempts from the prohibition the recording of a confidential communication 
made for the purpose of obtaining evidence reasonably believed to relate to the 
commission by another party to the communication of certain crimes, including any felony 
involving violence against the person making the recording.  

 

 Existing law allows a judge to include a provision in a domestic violence restraining order 
permitting a victim of domestic violence to record any prohibited communication made to 
him or her by the perpetrator.   

 

 This law allows a party to a confidential communication to record the communication for 
the purpose of obtaining evidence reasonably believed to relate to domestic violence, as 
specified, and the evidence so obtained would not be rendered inadmissible in a 
prosecution against the perpetrator for domestic violence.   

 

 The law also authorizes a victim of domestic violence who is seeking a domestic violence 
restraining order from a court to record specified communications made by the 
perpetrator for the exclusive purpose and use of providing the evidence to the court. 

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT: Domestic violence communications may 
now be lawfully recorded. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 
Protective Orders 
 
Part 6 (Commencing with Section 6450) to Division 10 of the Family Code, 
Relating to Domestic Violence (Added) 
Chapter 98 / Senate Bill 204  
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  This law authorizes law enforcement to enforce Canadian domestic violence 
protective orders as outlined in the below enforcement criteria. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Existing law provides for the issuance and enforcement of protective orders in cases 
involving domestic violence.  
 

 Existing law provides for a Uniform Interstate Enforcement of Domestic Violence 
Protection Orders Act, which authorizes the enforcement of a valid foreign protection 
order in a tribunal of this state under certain conditions.  

 

 Existing law establishes a Domestic Violence Restraining Order System for purposes of 
registering protection orders, as specified, which is administered by the Department of 
Justice. 

 

 This law enacts the Uniform Recognition and Enforcement of Canadian Domestic 
Violence Protection Orders Act, which would authorize the enforcement of a valid 
Canadian domestic violence protection order in a tribunal of this state under certain 
conditions. 

 

 The law prescribes the criteria for a determination of the validity of a protection order 
under these provisions, as specified, and would authorize the registration of such a 
protection order in the Domestic Violence Restraining Order System.  

 

 A Canadian domestic violence protection order is enforceable under this section if all of 
the following apply: 

(1) The order identifies a protected individual and a respondent; 
(2) The order is valid and in effect; 
(3) The issuing court had jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter 
under law applicable in the issuing court; 
(4) The order was issued after either of the following: 

(A) The respondent was given reasonable notice and had an opportunity 
to be heard before the court issued the order, 
(B) In the case of an ex parte order, the respondent was given 
reasonable notice and had or will have an opportunity to be heard within 
a reasonable time after the order was issued, in a manner consistent 
with the right of the respondent to due process. 

 

 A Canadian domestic violence protection order valid on its face is prima facie evidence of 

its enforceability under this section. 
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 The law requires a law enforcement officer of this state to enforce a protection order 
under these provisions upon determining that there is probable cause to believe that a 
valid protection order exists and has been violated. 

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT: Law enforcement may now enforce 
Canadian domestic violence protective orders. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
IMMIGRATION  
Crime: Victims & Witnesses: Immigration Violations  
 
Penal Code Section 679.015 (Added) 
Chapter 194 / Assembly Bill 493  
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  This law expands the prohibition against a peace officer detaining an individual 
exclusively for an immigration violation or turning the individual over to federal immigration 
authorities whenever the individual is a victim of or witness to a crime or otherwise can give 
evidence in a criminal investigation. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Existing law prohibits a peace officer from detaining an individual exclusively for any 
actual or suspected immigration violation or reporting or turning the individual over to 
federal immigration authorities whenever the individual is a victim of or witness to a hate 
crime, as defined, or is someone who otherwise can give evidence in a hate crime 
investigation, and is not charged with or convicted of committing any crime under state 
law.   
 

 This bill would enact a prohibition similar to the one described above that would be 
applicable whenever an individual is a victim of or a witness to a crime, or otherwise can 
give evidence in a criminal investigation, without regard to whether the crime is a hate 
crime. 

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT: Law enforcement is prohibited from 
detaining an individual just for an immigration violation or when the individual is a victim or 
witness to any crime. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
IMMIGRATION 
Law Enforcement: Sharing Data 
 

Health and Safety Code Section 11369 (Repealed); Government Code 
Sections 7282 and 7282.5 (Amended) and Chapter 17.25 (commencing with 
Section 7284) to Division 7 of Title 1 (Added) 
Chapter 495 / Senate Bill 54     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  This law specifies that law enforcement will no longer notify federal immigration 
authorities when a person is arrested for specified controlled substance provisions and may not 
be a citizen of the United States.  It also limits law enforcement from cooperating with federal 
immigration authorities as specified in Government Code sections 7282.5 and 7284.6. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Existing law provides that, when there is reason to believe that a person arrested for a 
violation of specified controlled substance provisions may not be a citizen of the United 
States, the arresting agency shall notify the appropriate agency of the United States 
having charge of deportation matters. 
 

 This law would repeal those provisions. 
 

 Existing law provides that, whenever an individual who is a victim of or witness to a hate 
crime or who otherwise can give evidence in a hate crime investigation is not charged 
with or convicted of committing any crime under state law, a peace officer may not detain 
the individual exclusively for any actual or suspected immigration violation or report or 
turn the individual over to federal immigration authorities. 

 

 This law, among other things and subject to exceptions, prohibits state and local law 
enforcement agencies, including school police and security departments, from using 
money or personnel to investigate, interrogate, detain, detect, or arrest persons for 
immigration enforcement purposes, as specified, and would, subject to exceptions, 
proscribe other activities or conduct in connection with immigration enforcement by law 
enforcement agencies.  

 

 The law applies those provisions to the circumstances in which a law enforcement official 
has discretion to cooperate with immigration authorities.  

 

 The law requires, by October 1, 2018, the Attorney General, in consultation with the 
appropriate stakeholders, to publish model policies limiting assistance with immigration 
enforcement to the fullest extent possible for use by, among other agencies, public 
schools, public libraries, health facilities operated by the state or a political subdivision of 
the state, and courthouses.  

 

 The law requires various agencies, including all public schools, health facilities operated 
by the state or a political subdivision of the state, and courthouses to implement the 
model policy, or an equivalent policy.  
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 The law states that all other organizations and entities that provide services related to 
physical or mental health and wellness, education, or access to justice, including the 
University of California, are encouraged to adopt the model policy.  

 

 The law requires that a law enforcement agency that chooses to participate in a joint law 
enforcement task force, as defined, submit a report annually pertaining to task force 
operations to the Department of Justice, as specified.  

 

 The law requires the Attorney General, by March 1, 2019, and annually thereafter, to 
report on the types and frequency of joint law enforcement task forces and other 
information, as specified, and to post those reports on the Attorney General’s website.  

 

 The law requires law enforcement agencies to report to the department annually 
regarding transfers of persons to immigration authorities.  

 

 The law requires the Attorney General to publish guidance, audit criteria, and training 
recommendations regarding state and local law enforcement databases, for purposes of 
limiting the availability of information for immigration enforcement, as specified.  

 

 The law requires the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation to provide a specified 
written consent form in advance of any interview between a person in the department’s 
custody and the United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement regarding civil 
immigration violations. 

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  Law enforcement is limited in its ability to 
cooperate with the United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement department. 
 
  



Go to Previous Page / Back (Press Alt + Left Arrow)              

 

 
 

9 

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SEARCH WARRANTS 
Disorderly Conduct 
 

Penal Code Section 1524 (Amended) 
Chapter 342 / Assembly Bill 539 
    
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SUMMARY:  This law allows a search warrant to be issued when the property or things to be 
seized consists of evidence that tends to show that a violation of paragraph (1), (2), or (3) of 
subdivision (j) of Section 647 has occurred or is occurring. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Existing law allows a search warrant to be issued upon probable cause, supported by 
affidavit, naming or describing the person to be searched or searched for, and particularly 
describing the property, thing, or things and the place to be searched.  

 

 Existing law also specifies the grounds upon which a search warrant may be issued, 
including, among other grounds, when the property or things to be seized constitute 
evidence showing that a felony has been committed. 

 

 Existing law defines the crime of disorderly conduct as including, among other things, 
actions involving the use of an instrumentality to view the interior of specified rooms with 
the intent to invade the privacy of individuals or the use of specified devices to secretly 
videotape film, photograph, or to record an identifiable person either under or through 
their clothing, for purposes of viewing the body or undergarments, or in a state of full or 
partial undress, as specified.  

 

 This law authorizes a search warrant to be issued on the grounds that the property or 
things to be seized consist of evidence that tends to show that a violation of the above 
described crime of disorderly conduct has occurred or is occurring.  

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  Disorderly conduct is added to the 
grounds for which a search warrant may be issued. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 
SEXUAL ASSAULT 
Victims: Rights 
 
Penal Code Sections 264.2, 679.04, 680, 13823.11 and 13823.95 (Amended); 
680.2 (Added) 
Chapter 692 / Assembly Bill 1312     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  This law changes Penal Code section 264.2 relating to medical providers.   
 
This law, among other things, changes Penal Code section 679.04 by adding that a victim has the 
right to request to have a person of the same or opposite gender as the victim present in the 
room during any interview with a law enforcement official or district attorney, unless no such 
person is reasonably available.  It is the intent of the Legislature to encourage every interviewer in 
this context to have trauma-based training.  An initial investigation by law enforcement to 
determine whether a crime has been committed and to determine the identity of the suspects 
shall not constitute a law enforcement interview for purposes of this section.  A law enforcement 
official shall not, for any reason, discourage a victim of an alleged sexual assault from receiving a 
medical evidentiary or physical examination.   
 
This law changes Penal Code section 680, subdivision (e) (1):  if the law enforcement agency 
intends to destroy or to dispose of rape kit evidence or other crime scene evidence from an 
unsolved sexual assault case, a victim of a violation of Penal Code section 261, 261.5, 262, 286, 
288a, or 289 shall be given written notification by the law enforcement agency of that intention.  
Penal Code section 680, subdivision (e)(2) further provides that a law enforcement agency shall 
not destroy or dispose of rape kit evidence or other crime scene evidence from an unsolved 
sexual assault case before at least 20 years, or if the victim was under 18 years of age at the time 
of the alleged offense, before the victim’s 40th birthday. 
 
This law adds the requirement that law enforcement develop a card, as prescribed in Penal Code 
section 680.2 and provide it to all sexual assault victims. 
 

HIGHLIGHTS:  
 

 Existing law grants the victim of sexual assault, as specified, the right to have a victim 
advocate and a support person of the victim’s choosing at any interview by law 
enforcement authorities, district attorneys, or defense attorneys.  
 

 Existing law requires the law enforcement authority or district attorney, before 
commencing the initial interview, to notify a victim that he or she has this right. 

 

 This law requires a law enforcement authority or district attorney to also notify the victim 
that he or she has the right to request to have a person of the same gender or opposite 
gender as the victim present in the room during any interview with a law enforcement 
official or district attorney, unless no such person is reasonably available.  

 

 The law prohibits a law enforcement official from discouraging a victim from receiving a 
medical evidentiary or physical examination.  
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 The law requires every local law enforcement agency to develop a card, as specified, that 
explains the rights of sexual assault victims, including, among other information, a clear 
statement that the victim is not required to participate in the criminal justice system or to 
receive a medical evidentiary or physical examination to retain his or her rights under law. 

  

 The law requires a law enforcement official or medical provider to provide this card to the 
victim during their initial interaction.  

 

 The law also requires a law enforcement official, upon written request by the victim, to 
furnish a copy of the initial crime report related to the sexual assault, as specified.  

 

 The law requires a prosecutor, upon written request by the victim, to provide the 
defendant’s information on a sex offender registry, if any, to the victim.  

 

 The law specifies that a victim’s waiver of the right to an advocate is not admissible in 
court, unless the waiver is at issue in the pending litigation. 

 

 Existing law states the minimum standards for the examination and treatment of victims 
of sexual assault or attempted sexual assault, including child molestation, and the 
collection and preservation of evidence therefrom.  

 

 Existing law requires a physician or other health care provider to give a female victim of 
sexual assault postcoital contraception upon the request of the victim. 

 

 This law requires the postcoital contraception to be provided at no cost to the victim. 
 

 Existing law requires a law enforcement officer assigned to an alleged violation of 
specified domestic violence or sexual assault crimes to provide the victim of the crime 
with a “Victims of Domestic Violence” card, as specified.  

 

 Existing law requires a medical provider to notify a sexual assault victim that he or she 
has the right to have a sexual assault counselor and at least one other support person of 
his or her choosing before commencing an initial medical evidentiary or physical 
examination. 

 

 This law requires a law enforcement officer assigned to an alleged violation of specified 
domestic violence or sexual assault crimes to also provide the victim with the card 
developed by local law enforcement agencies, described above, that explains the rights 
of sexual assault victims, if applicable.  

 

 The law also requires a medical provider to give the victim the card developed by local 
law enforcement agencies, described above, before the commencement of any initial 
medical evidentiary or physical examination arising out of a sexual assault if the law 
enforcement agency has provided the card to the medical provider in a language 
understood by the victim.  

 

 The law requires the medical provider to give the victim the opportunity to shower or 
bathe at no cost to the victim after the examination is conducted, unless a showering or 
bathing facility is not available. 

 

 Existing law requires a law enforcement agency that intends to destroy or dispose of rape 
kit evidence or other crime scene evidence from an unsolved sexual assault case before 
the expiration of the statute of limitations to give written notification, as specified, to the 
victim of that intention. 
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 This law prohibits a law enforcement agency from destroying or disposing of rape kit 
evidence or other crime scene evidence from an unsolved sexual assault case before at 
least 20 years, or if the victim was under 18 years of age at the time of the alleged 
offense, before the victim’s 40th birthday. 

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT: This law prohibits a law 
enforcement official from discouraging a victim from receiving a medical evidentiary or 
physical examination. It also requires every local law enforcement agency to develop a 
card, as specified, that explains the rights of sexual assault victims, including, among 
other information, a clear statement that the victim is not required to participate in the 
criminal justice system or to receive a medical evidentiary or physical examination to 
retain his or her rights under law. This law also requires a law enforcement official or 
medical provider to provide this card to the victim upon the initial interaction.  
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
INTERROGATION 
Custodial Interrogation: Juveniles     
 

Welfare and Institutions Code Sections 625.6 and 859.5 (Repealed and 
Added) 
Chapter 681 / Senate Bill 395 
    
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SUMMARY:  This law requires a suspect 15 years of age or younger consult with legal counsel 
prior to any custodial interrogation.  The minor may not waive that opportunity.  Failure by law 
enforcement to comply with this law will be taken into consideration by the court in adjudicating 
the admissibility of any statements made by the minor.  
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Existing law authorizes a peace officer to take a minor into temporary custody when that 
officer has reasonable cause to believe that the minor has committed a crime or violated 
an order of the juvenile court.  
 

 In these circumstances, existing law requires the peace officer to advise the minor that 
anything he or she says can be used against him or her, that he or she has the right to 
remain silent, that he or she has the right to have counsel present during any 
interrogation, and that he or she has the right to have counsel appointed if he or she is 
unable to afford counsel. 

 

 This law requires that, prior to a custodial interrogation, a youth 15 years of age or 
younger must consult with legal counsel in person, by telephone, or by videoconference 
prior to waiving any of the above-specified rights.  

 

 The law prohibits a waiver of the consultation.  
 

 The law requires the court to consider the effect of the failure to comply with the above-
specified requirement in adjudicating the admissibility of statements of a youth 15 years 
of age or younger made during or after a custodial interrogation.  

 

 The law clarifies that these provisions do not apply to the admissibility of statements of a 
youth 15 years of age or younger if certain limited criteria are met. 

 

 This law requires the Governor, or his or designee, to convene a panel of at least seven 
experts, as specified, no later than January 1, 2023.  

 

 The law requires the panel to review and to examine the effects and outcomes related to, 
the implementation of the above-described requirements, as specified, and to provide, no 
later than April 1, 2024, certain information to the Legislature and the Governor. 

 

 This bill would repeal these requirements on January 1, 2025. 
 

WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT: Law enforcement no longer merely 
admonishes suspects 15 years old and younger of their Miranda rights but must also have them 
actually consult with an attorney before any custodial interrogation or waiver of rights may occur. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
VICTIM PROTECTIONS 
Human Trafficking: DMV Confidentiality of Victims and Relatives 
 

Government Code Sections 6205, 6205.5, 6206, 6206.7, 6208.5, 6209.5 and 
6209.7 (Amended) 
Chapter 570 / Senate Bill 597  

   
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SUMMARY:  Makes the address confidentiality program administered by the Secretary of State, 
known as the Safe at Home program, available to victims of human trafficking.  This bill also 
expands the program to include household members of victims of domestic violence, sexual 
assault, stalking, and human trafficking. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
  

 “Safe at Home” is California's address confidentiality program administered by the 
California Secretary of State’s office.  The program, which provides such services as a 
confidential name change and Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) records suppression, 
is designed to help victims and survivors of domestic violence, stalking or sexual assault 
to start new lives in peace and to provide added protections to their overall safety plans.  

 

 This law expands existing “Safe at Home” confidentiality protections to include victims of 
human trafficking. 

 

 This law expands address confidentiality beyond the victims of these crimes and now 
includes persons who reside in the households of eligible “Safe at Home” crime victims.  

 

 This law defines the following terms as follows: 
 

• “Cohabitant” has the same meaning as in Welfare and Institutions Code section 
18291, subdivision (b).  

• “Household member” means an adult person who resides at the same residential 
address as the applicant or participant and is related to the applicant or participant by 
blood, marriage, registered domestic partnership, adoption, or is a cohabitant of the 
applicant or participant.  

• “Human trafficking” means any act punishable by Penal Code section 236.1.  

 

WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  The California DMV can suppress an 
individual’s driver license and vehicle registration records if the individual has a clean driving 
record and no criminal history.  Suppression of these records protects address information from 
being available on various state databases.  A specific request to the DMV Confidential Records 
Unit is required to access the records.  Law enforcement personnel should be aware that access 
to individual DMV driving records of those participating in the “Safe at Home” program will be 
limited. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 
MISCELLANEOUS 
Crime: Extortion 
 
Penal Code Sections 518, 520, 523, 524 and 526 (Amended) 
Chapter 518 / Senate Bill 500     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  This law includes within the definition of extortion the obtaining of consideration by 
force, fear, or under color of official right.  The law defines “consideration” as anything of value, 
including enumerated sexual acts or sexual images. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS:  
 

 Existing law defines extortion as the obtaining of property from another, with his or her 
consent, or the obtaining of an official act of a public officer, induced by a wrongful use of 
force or fear or under color of official right. 

 

 This law includes within the definition of extortion the obtaining of consideration, as 
defined, by force, fear, or under color of official right.  

 

 The law defines “consideration” as anything of value, including enumerated sexual acts 
or sexual images. 

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  Penal Code section 518, the definition of 
extortion now includes an “other consideration” besides property. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 
MISCELLANEOUS 
Wrongful Concealment: Statute of Limitations 
 
Penal Code Section 803 (Amended) 
Chapter 74 / Senate Bill 610     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  This law changes the statute of limitations for Penal Code section 152, prohibiting 
active concealment of accidental death, to one year after the crime is discovered but no later than 
four years after the commission of the crime. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS:  
 

 Existing law makes it a misdemeanor for a person who has knowledge of an accidental 
death to actively conceal or attempt to conceal that death.  
 

 Existing law provides that the punishment for that offense is imprisonment in a county jail 
for not more than one year, or by a fine of not less than $1,000 nor more than $10,000, or 
by both that fine and imprisonment. 

 

 Existing law also sets forth various time limits to prosecute crimes.  Except as otherwise 
specified, prosecution for an offense that is not punishable by death or imprisonment in 
the state prison is required to be commenced within one year after commission of the 
offense.  

 

 Existing law provides that, for certain offenses, the prescribed limitation of time does not 
commence to run until the discovery of the offense.  

 

 Existing law also provides that, for other offenses, the criminal complaint may be filed 
within one year after the person is initially identified by law enforcement as a suspect in 
the commission of the crime, as specified. 

 

 This law provides that, for the offense of actively concealing or attempting to conceal an 
accidental death, as described above, a criminal complaint may be filed within one year 
after the person is initially identified by law enforcement as a suspect in the commission 
of the offense, provided, however, that in any case a complaint may not be filed more 
than for years after the commission of the offense. 
 

WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  The statute of limitations for Penal Code 
section 152 has changed to one year after the crime is discovered but no later than four years 
after the commission of the crime. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 
 

 

CHANGES IN  

TRAFFIC LAWS 

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
CANNABIS ENFORCEMENT 
Vehicles: Alcohol and Marijuana: Penalties 
 

Vehicle Code Sections 23220 and 23221 (Amended) 
Chapter 232 / Senate Bill 65     

 
───────────────────────────────────────────────────────  
 
SUMMARY:  Prohibits the smoking or ingestion of marijuana while driving or riding as a 
passenger in a motor vehicle, making violations punishable as an infraction. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Corrects a Proposition 64 (ballot initiative, 2016) oversight by adding smoking or 

ingesting marijuana to Vehicle Code Sections 23220 and 23221 and creating a penalty 

for the violations.  

  

 Enforcement for violations of smoking or ingesting marijuana while driving or riding in a 

vehicle would be consistent with violations for consuming alcohol while driving or riding in 

a vehicle.   

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  Provides needed clarity for enforcement 
towards violations of smoking or ingesting marijuana or marijuana products while driving or riding 
in a vehicle.  Existing laws restrict these actions but do not specify penalties for the violations.  
Proposition 64 (ballot initiative, 2016) added Health and Safety Code section 11362.3 to 
specifically list eight activities not permitted by the section.  The activities include smoking in a 
public place, smoking within 100 feet of a school, possessing an open container while driving or 
riding in a vehicle, and smoking or ingesting while driving or riding in a vehicle.  Proposition 64 
also added Health and Safety Code section 11362.4 to establish penalties for all of these 
activities with the exception of smoking or ingesting while driving or riding in a vehicle.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

CANNABIS ENFORCEMENT 
Vehicles: Open Container of Cannabis in a Vehicle 

 

Vehicle Code Section 23222 (Amended) 
Chapter 27 / Senate Bill 94     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  This law prohibits persons from possessing on their person any receptacle 
containing any cannabis or cannabis products which has been opened or has a seal broken or 
possessing uncontained loose cannabis flower on their person when the person is driving on a 
highway or specified public lands.  A violation of the law is an infraction with a $100 fine.   
 
HIGHLIGHTS:  
 

 Existing law prohibits persons from possessing on their person any bottle, can, or 
other receptacle containing any alcoholic beverage which has been opened, or a seal 
broken, or the contents of which have been partially removed while driving a motor 
vehicle upon a highway or on certain specified public lands.  (Veh. Code, § 23222, 
subd. (a).) 

 

 This new law makes it an infraction, punishable by a $100 fine, for a person to have 
in his or her possession and on his or her person while driving on a highway or 
specified public lands (1) any receptacle containing any cannabis or cannabis 
products, as defined by Health and Safety Code section 11018.1, that has been 
opened or has a seal broken or (2) loose cannabis flower not in a container.  (Veh. 
Code, § 23222, subd. (b)(1).) 
 

 The law does not apply if the receptacle or loose cannabis flower not in a container is 
in the trunk of the vehicle.  (Veh. Code, § 23222, subd. (b)(2).)  
 

 The law also does not apply to a qualified patient or person with an identification 
card, as defined in Health and Safety Code section 11362.7, if both of the following 
apply: (1) the person is carrying a current identification card or a physician’s 
recommendation; and (2) the cannabis or cannabis product is contained in a 
container or receptacle that is sealed, resealed, or closed. 

 
WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  This section allows law enforcement to 
stop and cite persons driving with receptacles of cannabis or cannabis products on their person 
when those receptacles have been opened or had their seal broken or if they have loose 
cannabis flower on their person.   
 

NOTE:  As written, the law applies only when the open containers of cannabis are on the driver’s 
person.  If the intent was to prohibit possessing open containers of marijuana in the same way 
that open containers of alcohol are prohibited, the drafters needed to amend other provisions of 
the Vehicle Code, which prohibit possession of open containers in a vehicle regardless of 
whether the containers are on the person.  It is possible it was an oversight because the 
Legislature included language in the new version of Vehicle Code section 23222.  The new 
version states, if the receptacle or loose cannabis flower is in the trunk of the vehicle, there is no 
violation.  This would be an unnecessary addition if the receptacle must be on the person.   
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In any event, it is important to note that Health and Safety Code section 11362.3, subdivision 
(a)(4), which, in conjunction with Health and Safety Code section 11362.4, subdivision (b), makes 
it infraction with a $250 fine for adults to possess an open container or open package of cannabis 
or cannabis products while driving, operating, or riding in the passenger seat or compartment of a 
motor vehicle, boat, vessel, aircraft, or other vehicle used for transportation.  Health and Safety 
Code sections 11362.3, subdivision (a)(4), and 11362.4, subdivision (b), provide for a higher fine 
and are not limited to possession of open containers of cannabis on the person.  It is currently an 
open question whether the law will apply to unsmoked cigarettes containing cannabis and/or 
whether a vaping device qualifies as an open container.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
CROSSWALKS 
Pedestrian Crossing Signals 
 

Vehicle Code Section 21456 (Amended) 
Chapter 402 / Assembly Bill 390     

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  Authorizes pedestrians to enter a crosswalk when the countdown symbol is 
displayed provided the crossing is completed before the countdown ends. 
  
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Authorizes pedestrians, facing a pedestrian countdown signal, to start to cross provided 
the crossing is completed before the countdown ends and the "DON'T WALK," "WAIT," or 
"Upraised Hand" symbol is displayed. 

WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  Although the traffic safety implications of 
this amendment to Vehicle Code section 21456 are unknown, in its current form it provides clear 
standards for pedestrian behavior at intersections controlled by traffic control signals and will 
clarify requirements relating to countdown timers.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
ELECTRONIC DEVICES 
Vehicles: Electronic Wireless Communication Devices 
 

Vehicle Code Section 23123.5 (Amended) 
Chapter 297 / Assembly Bill 1222    

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  Removes “specialized mobile radio device” and “two way messaging device” as 
examples of electronic wireless communications devices that are prohibited from being used 
while driving.  
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 Makes technical changes to clarify that previous legislation was not intended to be 
construed to limit the use of two-way wireless communication devices. 

WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  Clarifies that specialized mobile radio 
devices (citizen band radio, amateur radio) and two-way messaging devices (“walkie talkies”) are 
not electronic wireless communication devices that are prohibited from use while driving. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 
DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE 
Vehicles: Passenger for Hire: Driving Under the Influence 
 

Vehicle Code Sections 23152 and 23153 (Amended) 
Chapter 765 / Assembly Bill 2687 (Statutes of 2016)    
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
SUMMARY:  Effective July 1, 2018, this law makes it unlawful for a person to drive a motor 
vehicle with a blood alcohol level of 0.04% or more when a passenger for hire is in his or her 
vehicle. 
 
HIGHLIGHTS: 
 

 This is a reasonable attempt to impose higher safety standards on drivers who transport 
small numbers of passengers for compensation. 
 

 This law is consistent with decision 13-09-045 by the California Public Utilities 
Commission requiring a Transportation Network Company (TNC) to institute the following 
zero tolerance intoxicating substance policy with respect to drivers. 
 

 This law makes it a misdemeanor for a person who has 0.04% or more, by weight, of 
alcohol in his or her blood to drive a motor vehicle when a passenger for hire is a 
passenger in the vehicle at the time of the offense.  
 

 This law makes it a felony to have a 0.04% or more, by weight, of alcohol in his or her 
blood and cause an injury to a passenger when driving a motor vehicle when a 
passenger for hire is a passenger in the vehicle at the time of the offense. 

WHAT THIS BILL MEANS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT:  This bill seeks to conform current laws 
governing commercial drivers with the laws governing passenger for hire vehicles.  Current law 
states that the driver of a passenger for hire vehicle may legally have a BAC of .08% or less 
whereas a commercial driver must have a BAC of less than .04%.  This bill ensures that drivers of 
passenger for hire vehicles are held to the strictest standard. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 

CRIMINAL THREATS 
Actions Constituting Criminal Threats; Non-Verbal Conduct 
 
People v. Gonzalez (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1138   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 
RULE:  Because the elements of Penal Code section 422 include only threats made verbally, in 
writing, or by means of an electronic communication device, non-verbal conduct, such as making 
threatening gestures, is not a violation of the section. 

 
FACTS:  An off-duty Cathedral City police officer, while dining with friends at a restaurant in 
Indio, spotted a former high school classmate sitting at another nearby table.  Making eye contact 
with her, he smiled.  She “smirked” in response.  At the same time, the officer noticed that the 
woman was sitting with several Jackson Terrace gang members, including defendant.  The officer 
recognized them as gang members by their gang tattoos including a “JT” tattooed on the back of 
defendant’s head.  The subjects all stared at the officer and his companions in a “confrontational” 
way, as gangsters tend to do.  The subjects eventually left the restaurant while continuing to stare 
menacingly at the officer and his friends.  Sitting in a booth facing the restaurant’s front window, 
the officer watched the gangsters as they got into an SUV and drove up to the window.  As they 
did so, defendant, sitting in the front passenger seat, made what the officer recognized as a “JT” 
hand sign and manually simulated a pistol pointed upward.  The officer considered this to be a 
threat.  The SUV’s driver then ran his finger across his neck, made a “JT” hand sign, and 
simulated a gun with his fingers that he pointed at the officer and his group.  Both the officer and 
some of his companions reported that they were frightened by these gestures.  As a result, 
defendant was charged in state court with five counts (one for the officer and four for his 
companions) of making a criminal threat, per Penal Code section 422, subdivision (a), plus some 
other gang allegations.  After being held to answer, defendant filed a motion to dismiss the 
criminal threat charges, arguing that hand gestures alone were legally insufficient to constitute a 
Penal Code section 422 violation.  The trial court agreed and dismissed the Penal Code section 
422 charges.  The People appealed.  The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's decision.  
(See People v. Gonzalez (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 151.)  However the California Supreme Court 
granted review. 
 
HELD: The California Supreme Court unanimously reversed the Court of Appeal’s decision.  The 
case hinges on an interpretation of Penal Code section 422, subdivision (a), which makes it a 
felony for “[a]ny person [to] willfully threaten[] to commit a crime which will result in death or great 
bodily injury to another person, with the specific intent that the statement, made verbally, in 
writing, or by means of an electronic communication device, . . . be taken as a threat, even if 
there is no intent of actually carrying it out, which, on its face and under the circumstances in 
which it is made, is so unequivocal, unconditional, immediate, and specific as to convey to the 
person threatened, a gravity of purpose and an immediate prospect of execution of the threat, 
and thereby causes that person reasonably to be in sustained fear for his or her own safety or for 
his or her immediate family’s safety.”  (Italics added.)  The only element at issue here was 
whether defendant’s hand gestures met the legal requirement that a threat be communicated 
“verbally,” “in writing,” or “by means of an electronic communication device.”  It is obvious that 
defendant’s threat was not done in writing or by means of an electronic communication device.  
The People argued, however, that “made verbally” does not require an element of sound and that 
defendant’s gestures were a “clear example of verbal communication” because “a word can be 
spoken without sound.”  The court disagreed.  It looked at various dictionary definitions of the 
word “verbal” and reviewed the history behind the development of Penal Code section 422 as it 
stands today.  However, the court found nothing to indicate a legislative intent to interpret the 
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word “verbal,” or the “closely related” term “oral,” to include non-verbal conduct.  As evidence of 
the Legislature’s intent not to include non-verbal conduct, the court noted that, in 2000, the Los 
Angeles County District Attorney sponsored a bill to amend Penal Code section 422 to expressly 
reference Evidence Code section 225.  Evidence Code section 225, in defining the term 
“statement,” expressly includes “nonverbal conduct of a person intended by him as a substitute 
for oral or written verbal expression.”  The Legislature declined to so amend Penal Code section 
422, although it made that very same proposed amendment two years later in the very similar 
Penal Code section 11418.5, former subdivision (a), that criminalized threats “to use a weapon of 
mass destruction.”  The Legislature's failure to similarly add, to Penal Code section 422, a 
reference to Evidence Code section 225 makes apparent the Legislature’s intent not to include 
non-verbal conduct as a means of communicating a threat.  As such, although defendant 
obviously intended to threaten the officer when he made his admittedly threatening gestures, he 
did not violate Penal Code section 422.  The charges were therefore properly dismissed by the 
Superior Court. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SEX CRIMES 
Penal Code Sections 664/288, subdivision (a); Attempted Lewd and 
Lascivious Act on a Child Under 14 
 
People v. Villagran (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 880   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: A violation of attempted lewd and lascivious act on a child under the age of 14 (Pen. 
Code, §§ 664/288, subd. (a)) may be committed by communicating with the victim via text 
messaging in an attempt to get the victim to commit a “constructive touching.” 
 
FACTS:  Defendant communicated via text messaging with four children under the age of 14 and 
one undercover police officer posing as a child under 14 by sending them nude photos of himself 
and asking that they send him their nude photos in return.  As a result, defendant was charged in 
state court with 25 counts related to these activities.  Convicted of 21 counts after a jury trial, 
defendant appealed his convictions for Penal Code sections 664 and 288, subdivision (a) 
(attempted lewd and lascivious act on a child under 14 year of age), as charged in counts 6, 9, 
and 22.   

 
Count 6, Jane Doe I:  Defendant, who was 23 years old at the time, met Jane Doe I, age 
11, at a party.  Two years later, when she was 13, defendant posted a comment on her 
Instagram page telling her she had a pretty smile.  After she thanked him, he asked her 
to add him as a contact on “Kik,” a social text messaging application.  She did, but she 
made it clear to him that she was only 13 years old.  After some back-and-forth, 
defendant eventually sent her a close up photograph of his erect penis, asking her to 
“send me one.”  After she declined, he asked her twice more for nude photos of herself.  
She continued to decline, eventually blocking him so he could no longer contact her.   
 
Count 9, Jane Doe III:  When Jane Doe III was 12 years old, she posted a picture of 
herself (a “selfie”) on her Instagram page.  Defendant, who Jane Doe III did not know, 
responded to the photo, telling her that she had a “cute smile.”  Defendant asked Jane 
Doe III for her Kik contact information, which she provided.  After she told him she was 12 
years old, defendant asked for a picture of her.  He then asked her to send him pictures 
of her naked body.  Without sending any pictures, Jane Doe III blocked defendant from 
communicating with her.  
 
Count 22, Jane Doe V:  Defendant commented on a picture Jane Doe V had posted of 
herself on Instagram, telling her she was beautiful.  She thanked him but told him that 
she was only 13.  He claimed to be 19.  They exchanged Kik contact information and 
communicated for three days.  For two days, they communicated like friends, with 
defendant sending her non-pornographic pictures of drawings he had made.  When Jane 
Doe V told him he was a good drawer, he asked her if she would like to see more.  After 
telling him she would, defendant responded with two photographs of himself holding his 
penis, one of which was taken at such an angle that it showed his face as well.  
Defendant told Jane Doe V, “I’m hard for you,” and asked her for nude pictures of herself 
showing him her “boobs.”  When she refused, defendant persisted, volunteering that he 
had “morning wood” every day.  He also told her that he lived close to her school and 
asked her to come to his house.  Annoyed, Jane Doe V eventually blocked defendant 
from both her Kik and Instagram accounts.    
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Convicted of 21 counts, including three counts of attempted lewd and lascivious act on a child 
under 14 (and other related charges) stemming from the facts as described above, defendant 
was sentenced to five years in prison, suspended on condition that he do 364 days in county jail 
and be on probation for five years.  Defendant appealed the verdicts in counts 6, 9, and 22. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed.  Defendant’s primary argument on appeal was that the 
evidence as presented was insufficient to prove an attempted violation of Penal Code section 
288, subdivision (a), i.e., that section 288, subdivision (a), requires more than “virtual 
communications,” even if those communications are obscene.  He argued that, to sustain a 
conviction under this statute, “some kind of attempt to make physical contact with the victim is 
required and here there was none.”  A violation of attempted 288, subdivision (a), requires the 
prosecution to prove (a) defendant intended to commit a lewd and lascivious act with a child 
under 14 years of age and (b) he made a direct but ineffectual step toward committing a lewd and 
lascivious act with a child under 14 years of age.  Defendant’s primary argument was that, by 
simply asking his victims for nude photos, he may have been violating other offenses (see, e.g., 
Pen. Code, §§ 288.3 [contact or communication with a minor or an attempt to do so with the 
specific intent to commit an enumerated sex offense], 311.3 [exploitation of a minor]), but he was 
not committing an attempted violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a).  The court 
disagreed.  Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a), is violated if there is any touching of an 
underage child accomplished with the intent of arousing the sexual desires of either the 
perpetrator or the child.  The “touching” need not be by the defendant himself but rather may be a 
“constructive touching.”  This includes a touching of herself by the victim.  Prior case law has 
found such a touching when the victim, at the defendant’s instigation, removes her own clothing.  
Defendant here asked the victims to send him nude photos of themselves which necessarily 
requires such a touching.  Also, defendant need not be present when the touching occurs.  No 
personal contact between defendant and his victims is necessary.  Such a touching may be 
precipitated via social media, as was done here.  Also, in addition to an actual or constructive 
touching, Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a), requires proof of a specific intent to arouse, 
appeal to, or gratify the lust of the child or the accused.  Such an intent is necessarily to be 
inferred by the circumstances.  In defendant’s opening brief on appeal, he admitted to acting with 
the intent of arousing or appealing to the girls’ “lust, passions, or sexual desires.”  The court 
further held that a jury could also have found from the evidence of him sending photos to the 
victims of his own private parts that he intended to arouse his own sexual desires.  Lastly, the 
court held that that such intent need not occur simultaneously with the act of the victims’ 
constructive touching.  The court therefore found that a reasonable jury could have found 
defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of an attempt to commit a lewd or lascivious act on a 
minor as alleged in counts 6, 9, and 22.   
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───────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

ASSAULT 
Penal Code Section 245, Subdivision (c); Assault on a Peace Officer 
 
People v. Nguyen (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 44   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  A suspect who charges at a police officer with a knife may validly be convicted of 
aggravated assault on a peace officer.  (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (c).)  That the suspect is 10-to-
15 feet away does not prevent a finding that the suspect had the “present ability” to commit a 
violent injury on the officer. 
 
FACTS: Garden Grove Police Officers John Raney and Joshua Olivo responded to a call concerning a 
man (the eventual defendant) who had been making threats while carrying a large knife or samurai 
sword in the caller’s home.  (Defendant turned out to be the caller’s son.) Arriving at the scene, the 
caller, who appeared stressed and nervous, told the officers that the man was inside the house and 
that he was “loco.”  As the officers approached the open front door, defendant came around a corner 
inside the house and stopped 10-to-15 feet from the officers.  With his left arm obscured by his body, 
Officer Olivo told defendant to show both hands or he would be shot.  Defendant lifted his left hand, 
exposing a 12-to-15-inch knife, and raised it to his throat while telling the officers to “shoot me.”  Upon 
seeing the knife, Officer Olivo removed his gun from its holster.  The officers unsuccessfully attempted 
to get defendant to drop the knife.  Instead, defendant moved the knife away from his neck and 
pointed it in the direction of the officers as he took a step in their direction.  Fearing for their safety, 
Officer Olivo shot three rounds at defendant, wounding him.  Defendant was taken into custody and 
survived.  He was subsequently charged in state court with one felony count each of aggravated 
assault on a peace officer (Pen. Code, § 245, subd. (c)) and of resisting an executive officer (Pen. 
Code, § 69).  A jury convicted defendant of both counts, and defendant appealed. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed.  Defendant challenged his conviction on the aggravated assault 
charge only, arguing that, as a matter of law, he could not be found guilty of aggravated assault on a 
peace officer because he “did not have the ‘present ability’ to strike the officer[s] with [the] knife” due to 
the distance between him and the officers.  To be guilty of the crime of assault on a peace officer 
under Penal Code section 245, subdivision (c), it must be shown, among other elements, that the 
defendant had committed an assault.  An “assault” includes proof that defendant had the “present 
ability . . . to commit a violent injury.”  To have a “present ability,” there must be threat of “a present, 
and not a future injury.”  “[W]hen a defendant equips and positions himself to carry out a battery (i.e., a 
‘harmful or offensive touching of another’), he has the ‘present ability’ required . . . if he is capable of 
inflicting injury on the given occasion, even if some steps remain to be taken, and even if the victim or 
the surrounding circumstances thwart the infliction of injury.”  Defendant argued that, for an assault to 
occur when the victim is some distance (i.e., “several steps away”) from the perpetrator, the weapon 
used must be a firearm.  The court declined to limit assaults to firearms noting that such assaults have 
been upheld with swords, hatches, and bayonets.  The court also declined to set a specific distance 
between the suspect and the victim that would constitute the distance necessary for the suspect to 
have the “present ability” to commit a violent injury.  That determination is a factual issue for a jury to 
decide, i.e., was the suspect too far away from his intended victim that he could no longer be said to 
have a “present ability” to commit a violent injury.  The court referenced a California Supreme Court 
case (People v. Yslas (1865) 27 Cal. 630) that upheld an assault conviction where the suspect, armed 
with a hatchet, was seven-to-eight feet away from his intended victim.  The court then ruled here: “We 
decline to distinguish, as a matter of law, a situation involving seven or eight feet of separation 
between the perpetrator and the victim, from that involving 10 or 15 feet, as in the present case. Such 
is a factual matter within the province of the trier of fact.”  Defendant’s conviction for assault on a 
peace officer, therefore, was upheld. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SHOPLIFTING 
Proposition 47; Shoplifting, per Penal Code Section 459.5 
 
People v. Hallam (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 905   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: A thief’s entry into a commercial establishment through a rear door during business hours 
to steal property worth $350 from an employee restroom qualifies as shoplifting under Penal 
Code section 459.5. 
 
FACTS:  Defendant entered a Computers NLA store during business hours and, with permission of 
store employees, used the employee restroom.  After leaving the store, defendant went to the back of 
the building, climbed over a fence, and reentered the store through a back door.  He returned to the 
restroom, took the store’s air compressor valued at $350, and left. He was charged with felony second 
degree burglary, pled no contest, and was sentenced to state prison. 
 
In November 2014, California voters approved Proposition 47.  A part of Proposition 47 added a new 
crime of “shoplifting” (Pen. Code, § 459.5), which makes it only a misdemeanor to commit what 
previously would have qualified as felony commercial burglary.  Per section 459.5, subdivision (a), 
“shoplifting” is defined as “entering a commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny while that 
establishment is open during regular business hours, where the value of the property that is taken or 
intended to be taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars ($950).”  Proposition 47 also added 
Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (a), which allows “a person . . . who is currently serving a 
felony sentence for an offense that is now a misdemeanor . . . to petition for recall of sentence and 
resentencing in accordance with its provisions.” 
 
In April 2015, defendant filed a petition seeking to designate his felony burglary conviction as a 
misdemeanor shoplifting conviction.  The district attorney opposed the application, arguing that the 
employee restroom was not an area to which the public generally had access and that defendant 
intended to steal an item that belonged to the store rather than store merchandise.  The trial court 
agreed with the prosecution and denied defendant’s petition. Defendant appealed. 
 
HELD: The state Court of Appeal reversed. The court first noted the necessary elements of 
shoplifting:  (1) entry into a commercial establishment (2) while the establishment is open during 
regular business hours (3) with intent to commit larceny of property valued at $950 or less.  It was 
undisputed both that Computers NLA is a commercial establishment and that it was open. The central 
issue was whether the store’s employee restroom was a part of a “commercial establishment,” as 
required by Penal Code section 459.5. The court looked at the wording of the statute itself and held 
that there is no indication that a shoplifting is limited to any specific areas of a commercial 
establishment.  Nor is there any requirement that the business’s commercial activity take place in the 
area where the theft occurs.  To read those requirements into the statute would, in effect, add an extra 
element to the offense. 
 
The court rejected the conclusion that the crime did not qualify as shoplifting because defendant had 
entered the store through the back door and had stolen an item from the employee restroom rather 
than an area of the store that was “open for business.”  There was no evidence that the employee 
restroom was locked off from the rest of the business or was otherwise provided any more than “a 
limited transitory source of privacy.”  Such evidence might indicate that the restroom was separate 
from the rest of the commercial establishment.  But without it, the restroom “lacked any objective 
indications of a heightened expectation of privacy and security beyond what the store itself provided 
such that the offense should be deemed burglary (of the restroom) rather than shoplifting.”  Thus, 
defendant’s crime qualified under Penal Code section 459.5 as shoplifting. The trial court erred in 
denying relief under Proposition 47. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SHOPLIFTING 
Proposition 47; Burglary of a Laundromat as a Shoplifting 
 
People v. Bunyard (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 1237   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Attempting to break into a coin-operated soap dispenser at an open laundromat with the 
intent to obtain $950 or less is shoplifting. 
 
FACTS: A police sergeant came upon defendant using a screwdriver in an attempt to break into a 
coin-operated soap dispenser in a 24-hour laundromat.  Defendant dropped the screwdriver and 
ran. Caught shortly thereafter, defendant admitted that he had been attempting to break into the 
machine so that he could get the $10 or $15 that might be inside.  Defendant was charged with a 
felony second degree burglary for entering a building with the intent to commit theft plus other 
related misdemeanor charges.  Defendant pled no contest to the burglary charge.  It was noted 
that defendant had prior convictions for strike offenses.  He was sentenced to state prison. 
 
Two years later, California voters approved Proposition 47.  A part of Proposition 47 added a new 
crime of “shoplifting” per Penal Code section 459.5, which makes it a misdemeanor offense to 
commit what previously would have qualified as a felony commercial burglary.  Proposition 47 
also added Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (a), that allows “a person . . . who is 
currently serving a felony sentence for an offense that is now a misdemeanor . . . to petition for 
recall of sentence and resentencing in accordance with its provisions.” 
 
Defendant petitioned to have his felony burglary conviction reduced to a misdemeanor shoplifting 
under Penal Code section 459.5. The trial court did not find that an attempted theft from a soap 
dispensing machine in a laundromat qualified as shoplifting, as that term is commonly 
understood.  The court denied defendant’s petition.  Defendant appealed.   
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal reversed and held that defendant’s burglary did in fact constitute 
shoplifting as defined in Penal Code section 459.5.  Penal Code section 459 states, “Every 
person who enters any … shop, … store, … or other building, … with intent to commit grand or 
petit larceny or any felony is guilty of burglary.”  Such an entry into a commercial establishment 
constitutes second degree burglary (Pen. Code, § 460, subd. (b)) which may be punished as 
either a felony or a misdemeanor (Pen. Code, § 461, subd. (b)).  After Proposition 47, however, 
defendant’s conduct constitutes shoplifting under Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a).  
Shoplifting pursuant to this section is not necessarily the same as that term has been used over 
the years.  Under Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a), “shoplifting” is defined “as entering a 
commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny while that establishment is open during 
regular business hours, where the value of the property that is taken or intended to be taken does 
not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars ($950).”  If these elements are met, then the crime must be 
charged as a misdemeanor shoplifting.  “No person who is charged with shoplifting may also be 
charged with burglary or theft of the same property.”  (Pen. Code, § 459.5, subd. (b).)  But 
subdivision (a) of Penal Code section 459.5 provides that “a person with one or more prior 
convictions for an offense specified in clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of 
subdivision (e) of Section 667 or for an offense requiring registration pursuant to subdivision (c) of 
Section 290 may be punished pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170.”  Penal Code section 
1170, subdivision (h), refers to felony punishment that may be served in county jail. 
 
Looking at defendant’s actions in this case, the court held that there had been “no doubt that, 
upon his entry into the laundromat (which was during the business's regular business hours, 
since it was open 24 hours a day), defendant intended to commit larceny by theft under the 
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foregoing definition.”  The court further held that it was irrelevant that he had intended to take 
money as opposed to merchandise.  The court also rejected the argument that the voting public 
may have been misled as to the nature of the offense by using the term “shoplifting.”  The stated 
purpose of Proposition 47 was to lighten the prison population by treating non-violent drug and 
theft offenses as misdemeanors only.  Defendant’s crime certainly fell into that category.  The 
court concluded that defendant’s conduct underlying his second degree burglary conviction would 
have rendered him guilty of misdemeanor shoplifting, pursuant to Penal Code section 459.5, had 
that statute been in effect at the time of his offense.  Unless otherwise disqualified, defendant is 
entitled to the benefits of the new statutes.  
 
Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (b), requires the trial court to recall defendant’s felony 
sentence and to resentence defendant to a misdemeanor pursuant to Penal Code section 459.5 
“unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the petitioner would pose an 
unreasonable risk of danger to public safety.”  The trial court must consider the petitioner’s 
criminal history, record of rehabilitation, and any other evidence that is relevant in deciding 
whether a new sentence would result in an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety.  
Because of defendant’s criminal history, the case was remanded to the trial court to make a 
determination as to whether defendant qualified for Proposition 47 relief. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SHOPLIFTING 
Proposition 47; Entering a Business with the Intent to Pass a Forged 
Prescription 
 
People v. Brown (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 1214    
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  Entering a commercial business with the intent to acquire prescription drugs using a 
forged prescription is not the same as entry with the intent to commit a larceny and is therefore 
not a shoplifting under Penal Code section 459.5. 
 
FACTS:  Police responded to a pharmacy where defendant was attempting to pick up a forged 
prescription for OxyContin pills.  Defendant was found patiently waiting for the prescription to be 
filled.  The doctor who purportedly wrote the prescription said that his prescription pad had been 
stolen from his office and that he did not authorize the prescription.  Defendant said she had been 
given money to pay for the prescription drug and was to deliver the pills to a third party. 
Defendant admitted that she knew the prescription had been forged.  Defendant was charged 
with a felony second degree commercial burglary along with other charges and allegations.  She 
pled guilty and was placed on probation. 
 
In November 2014, California voters approved Proposition 47.  A part of Proposition 47 added a 
new offense called “shoplifting,” per Penal Code section 459.5.  Shoplifting is defined in 
subdivision (a) as “entering a commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny while that 
establishment is open during regular business hours, where the value of the property that is taken 
or intended to be taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars ($950).”  The same section 
establishes that if an offense fails to meet all the elements of shoplifting, then it is a felony 
(wobbler) second degree burglary.  Also added was Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (a), 
which allows “a person . . . who is currently serving a felony sentence for an offense that is now a 
misdemeanor . . . to petition for recall of sentence and resentencing in accordance with its 
provisions.” 
 
After passage of Proposition 47 (see below), which established the new misdemeanor charge of 
“shoplifting” pursuant to Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a), defendant filed a petition to 
have her second degree felony commercial burglary conviction reduced to a misdemeanor.  The 
motion was denied.  Defendant appealed. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed. The court noted it was defendant’s burden to prove that 
her offense did indeed meet all the elements of Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a).  But 
defendant failed to show that she had the intent to commit larceny upon entering the pharmacy. 
Specifically, as noted above, shoplifting requires proof that defendant entered a commercial 
business with the “intent to commit larceny.”  Larceny requires a taking of property with the 
specific intent to steal, i.e., to appropriate property of another and permanently deprive that 
person of possession.  The gravamen of defendant’s second degree burglary conviction, 
however, did not involve the intent to steal.  Rather the intent was to commit the felony offense of 
passing a forged prescription—a violation of Health and Safety Code section 11368.  That 
supports a conviction for burglary under Penal Code section 459, which requires a showing of the 
intent to commit “any felony.”  Bottom line, shoplifting, as defined in Penal Code section 459.5, is 
limited to persons with the “intent to commit larceny.”  Defendant lacked the intent to commit 
larceny. Without that intent, there was no violation of Penal Code section 459.5.  Thus, 
defendant’s crime was a commercial burglary.  Her petition to reduce her conviction to a 
misdemeanor shoplifting was properly denied. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SHOPLIFTING 
Proposition 47; Shoplifting per Penal Code Section 459.5, Subdivision (a), 
and Theft by False Pretenses 

 

People v. Gonzales (2017) 2 Cal.5th 858 

 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Entering a bank with the intent to cash two forged checks for $125 each constitutes 
misdemeanor shoplifting under Proposition 47 and Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a). 
 
FACTS:  Defendant stole his grandmother’s checkbook.  On two separate occasions, he entered 
a bank and cashed one of her checks, made out to him. Each check was for $125.  His 
grandmother neither signed the checks nor authorized defendant to cash them.  Defendant was 
subsequently charged with felony commercial burglary and forgery.  He pled guilty to one count of 
burglary; the forgery count was dismissed.  Defendant was placed on felony probation. 
 
Almost a year later, California voters approved Proposition 47.  A part of Proposition 47 added a 
new crime of “shoplifting” per Penal Code section 459.5, which makes it a misdemeanor offense 
to commit what previously would have qualified as a felony commercial burglary.  Proposition 47 
also added Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (a), that allows “a person . . . who is 
currently serving a felony sentence for an offense that is now a misdemeanor . . . to petition for 
recall of sentence and resentencing in accordance with its provisions.” 
 
Defendant petitioned to recall his sentence and to be resentenced as authorized by Proposition 
47 and Penal Code section 1170.18.  The trial court denied his petition, holding that Proposition 
47 did not apply to his crime.  The Court of Appeal affirmed.  Defendant petitioned to the 
California Supreme Court. 
 
HELD: The California Supreme Court reversed.  On appeal, defendant argued that his conduct 
would have constituted shoplifting because he entered a commercial establishment during regular 
business hours with intent to take $950 or less.  (Pen. Code, § 459.5, subd. (a).)  The prosecution 
countered that defendant’s conduct did not constitute shoplifting because he had not entered the 
bank with the intent to commit “larceny,” as specified in Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision 
(a).  Instead, his intent was to pass forged checks, which constituted a “theft by false pretenses.” 
 
The prosecution argument rests on a distinction between different types of theft.  Specifically, 
Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a), defines “shoplifting” as “entering a commercial 
establishment with intent to commit larceny while that establishment is open during regular 
business hours, where the value of the property that is taken or intended to be taken does not 
exceed nine hundred fifty dollars ($950).”  A larceny is “the felonious stealing, taking, carrying, 
leading, or driving away the personal property of another” that deprives the victim of the 
possession of his property.  By contrast, a theft by false pretenses requires that a defendant not 
only take possession but title as well.  Defendant’s underlying crime, in attempting to obtain his 
grandmother’s money through the use of a forged check, is a theft by false pretenses.  On its 
face, therefore, defendant’s crime does not qualify as a shoplifting under Penal Code section 
459.5, subdivision (a). 
 
However, the high court noted that the Legislature amended Penal Code section 484 in 1927 to 
redefine the general crime of “theft.”  In so doing, “theft” was defined expansively to include all the 
elements of larceny, false pretenses, and embezzlement.  At the same time, the Legislature 
enacted Penal Code section 490a, which states that “[w]herever any law or statute of this state 
refers to or mentions larceny, embezzlement, or stealing, said law or statute shall hereafter be 
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read and interpreted as if the word ‘theft’ were substituted therefor.”  This provision reflects that 
the definition of theft encompasses all three ways in which property can be unlawfully stolen, i.e., 
larceny, theft by false pretenses, and embezzlement.  Under this theory, the reference to 
“larceny” in Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a), is to be read as if it says “theft.”  Thus, 
shoplifting under that section includes the intent to commit larceny, theft by false pretenses, and 
embezzlement.  Defendant’s conduct fell within that definition.  He was, therefore, entitled to a 
reduction to a misdemeanor. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SHOPLIFTING 
Proposition 47; Value of the Property Taken in a Pawned Property 
Commercial Burglary 
 
People v. Pak (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 1111 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: In a commercial burglary involving the successful pawning of stolen goods, the relevant 
value is the amount of money received in exchange for the stolen goods, not the value of the 
stolen goods themselves. 
 
FACTS:  Defendant entered a pawn shop with the intent to pawn a stolen watch, earrings, and 
camcorder with an estimated value “well in excess of $5,000.”  She pled no contest to a number 
of felony charges including Penal Code section 459, commercial burglary.  She served her felony 
probation sentence.  After her conviction, California voters approved Proposition 47, which 
reclassified certain felony drug and theft-related offenses to misdemeanors for eligible 
defendants.   
 
Proposition 47 also created the misdemeanor crime of “shoplifting” at Penal Code section 459.5.  
This new statute provides in relevant part: “Notwithstanding Section 459 [burglary], shoplifting is 
defined as entering a commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny while that 
establishment is open during regular business hours, where the value of the property that is taken 
or intended to be taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars ($950).  Any other entry into a 
commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny is burglary. . . . [¶] Any act of shoplifting 
as defined . . . shall be charged as shoplifting.  No person who is charged with shoplifting may 
also be charged with burglary or theft of the same property.”  (Pen. Code, § 459.5, subds. (a) & 
(b).)  Proposition 47 also included a provision, codified at Penal Code section 1170.18, 
subdivision (f), that allows a person who has completed his or her sentence for a felony, and who 
would have instead been guilty of a misdemeanor had Proposition 47 been in effect at the time of 
the crime, to petition the trial court to designate the felony conviction as a misdemeanor. 
Subsequent to her successful completion of probation, defendant filed an application pursuant to 
Proposition 47 and Penal Code section 1170.18, subdivision (f), asking the court to designate the 
felony burglary conviction for the pawn shop theft as a misdemeanor shoplifting.  The only issue 
was whether the value of the “property that [was] taken” exceeded $950.  If the value is over 
$950, defendant is ineligible for Proposition 47 relief.  In her petition, she asserted that the value 
of the property taken from the pawnshop, i.e., the money received in exchange for the stolen 
items, was $950 or less.  At the hearing, the People argued that it is the value of the property 
pawned (here, over $5,000) and not the money received in exchange for that property, that must 
be considered.  The trial court determined that it was the value of the pawned property that the 
statute intended the court to use and denied defendant’s motion.  She appealed. 
 
HELD: The state appellate court affirmed.  But it was only because defendant had failed to offer 
any proof that the money she had obtained from the pawnshop for the stolen property was $950 
or less.  The issue litigated was whether the statutory $950 limit reflected the value of the 
property pawned or the money defendant received for the property pawned.  The Court of Appeal 
disagreed with the trial court as to which value controls. 
 
The appellate court noted that the shoplifting statute (Pen. Code, § 459.5) provides that 
shoplifting occurs where “the value of the property that is taken or intended to be taken does not 
exceed nine hundred fifty dollars ($950).”  Noting that “the property that is taken or intended to be 
taken” is described in the disjunctive, the court held that only one or the other can apply, i.e., 
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“taken” or “intended to be taken.”  Once the property is in fact taken, the “intended to be taken” 
language is no longer operative.  While defendant may have intended to take an amount closer to 
the $5,000 value of the property she pawned, she actually took less than $950.  If proven, this 
would make defendant eligible for Proposition 47 relief.  But the court affirmed the trial court’s 
denial of the requested reduction to a misdemeanor because defendant had failed to offer any 
substantive evidence of the amount of money she had received from the pawnshop.  Her mere 
assertion that she took less than $950 was not legally sufficient.  
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SHOPLIFTING 
Proposition 47; Determination of the Value of the Property Taken 
 
People v. Seals (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 1210 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  Shoplifting per Penal Code section 459.5, subdivision (a), does not include taking 
property valued at over $950 from a commercial establishment.  To determine the value of the 
property taken, the fair market value includes sales tax for the item.   
 
FACTS:  In July 2014, defendant stole a cellphone from the Hot Spot Wireless store, taking it 
from a display after distracting the store clerk. The storeowner, German Flores, gave chase. 
Flores caught up to defendant and demanded the phone back.  Defendant denied having it.  As 
Flores got closer, defendant pulled out a nine-inch knife and held it at his side as he continued to 
deny having the cellphone.  Flores became “hesitant” and “a little bit scared” and backed off a bit.  
But, determined to retrieve his cellphone, he started throwing rocks at defendant who threw rocks 
back at Flores.  Eventually, the police arrived and arrested defendant.  The cellphone and knife 
were recovered at the scene.  A jury found defendant guilty of second degree robbery and 
second degree commercial burglary. The trial court thereafter found true five alleged prior 
convictions and sentenced him to a total state prison term of 35 years to life. 
 
By the time of defendant’s trial, California voters enacted Proposition 47 which, among other 
things, added Penal Code section 459.5.  That section created a new and separate misdemeanor 
offense of “shoplifting.”  Under section 459.5, subdivision (a), “shoplifting is defined as entering a 
commercial establishment with intent to commit larceny while that establishment is open during 
regular business hours, where the value of the property that is taken or intended to be taken does 
not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars ($950).  Any other entry into a commercial establishment 
with intent to commit larceny is burglary.”  Also, under subdivision (b) of section 459.5, any 
criminal act that fits the elements of shoplifting must be charged as such.  No person charged 
with shoplifting may also be charged with burglary or theft of the same property. 
 
At trial, defendant argued that his conduct was shoplifting and not burglary because the value of 
the cellphone he took did not exceed $950.  But Flores testified that the cellphone at issue was 
priced at $899.  With sales tax added, he sold it for almost $1,000.  The jury convicted defendant 
of the burglary charge instead of shoplifting.  Defendant appealed. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed, ruling that the jury properly included the sales tax in 
determining the value of the stolen cellphone.  To establish a violation of second degree burglary, 
the People must prove that the underlying theft or felony involved property with a value exceeding 
$950. At trial, the evidence was that the phone, with sales tax, exceeded the $950 threshold.  To 
convict defendant of burglary, the jury had to necessarily include the sales tax in its determination 
of the value of the phone. 
 
The issue was what the “fair market value” of the cellphone was at the time of the theft and 
whether sales tax can be added to the basic cost of the item in determining its fair market value. 
Fair market value is determined by considering what a willing buyer and a willing seller, neither of 
whom is forced to act, would agree upon as the highest price obtainable for the article in the open 
market.  As for whether a sales tax is a part of the fair market value, the court looked to a civil 
case to answer this question -- Xerox Corp. v. County of Orange (1977) 66 Cal.App.3d 746 
(Xerox).  In Xerox, it was noted that sales tax is imposed on retailers for the privilege of selling 
tangible personal property at retail.  Retailers pay sales tax on their gross receipts, not on a per 
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item basis.  Under California law, retailers are permitted, but not required, to obtain 
reimbursement for their tax liability from the consumer at the time of sale.  The sales tax, in effect, 
is a part of the cost to the retailer to get a product to the consumer and may be added to the cost 
of the item in its sale.  Therefore, a sales tax may be included in a fair market value 
determination.  The court held it was proper for the jury to consider sales tax when determining 
the value of the cell phone and to conclude the value was in excess of $950.  The burglary 
conviction was upheld. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SHOPLIFTING 
Proposition 47; Theft of Access Card Information per Penal Code Section 
484e, Subdivision (d) 
 
People v. Romanowski (2017) 2 Cal.5th 903  
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Proposition 47, reducing a grand theft of a value of $950 or less to a misdemeanor petty 
theft, applies to Penal Code section 484e, subdivision (d), which criminalizes fraudulent 
acquisition or retention of access card account information.  The value of such information is 
based upon its fair market value. 
 

FACTS:  Defendant pleaded no contest to a felony violation of Penal Code section 484e, 
subdivision (d) (Fraudulent Acquisition or Retention of Access Card Account Information).  That 
section states, “Every person who acquires or retains possession of access card account 
information with respect to an access card validly issued to another person, without the 
cardholder’s or issuer’s consent, with the intent to use it fraudulently, is guilty of grand theft.”  
Defendant was sentenced to county jail for four years. 
 

Just over a month later, California voters approved Proposition 47 which reclassified certain 
felony drug and theft-related offenses to misdemeanors for eligible defendants.  The provision of 
Proposition 47 that reduces the punishment for theft crimes provides: “Notwithstanding Section 
487 or any other provision of law defining grand theft, obtaining any property by theft where the 
value of the money, labor, real or personal property taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty 
dollars ($950) shall be considered petty theft and shall be punished as a misdemeanor . . . .” 
(Pen. Code, § 490.2, subd. (a).)  These reductions in punishment were directed both at future 
offenders and those currently “serving a sentence for a conviction.”  (Pen. Code, § 1170.18, subd. 
(a).)  For the latter group, anyone who “would have been guilty of a misdemeanor . . . had 
[Proposition 47] been in effect at the time of the offense” may “petition for a recall of sentence 
before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction in his or her case to request 
resentencing in accordance with” Proposition 47’s provisions. 
 

In March 2015, defendant filed a petition to have his grand theft conviction reduced to a 
misdemeanor.  The trial court denied his petition, ruling that Proposition 47 does not apply to 
access card information crimes.  The Court of Appeal reversed, ruling that “by its plain terms, 
section 490.2, subdivision (a), reduces a violation of section 484e, subdivision (d) to a 
misdemeanor if it involves property valued at less than $ 950.”  Left open was the issue of how to 
determine the value of access card account information.  The People petitioned the California 
Supreme Court. 
 

HELD: The California Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Court of Appeal.  The issues 
on appeal were (1) whether Penal Code section 484e, subdivision (d), was affected by 
Proposition 47, and if so, (2) how is the value of such information determined.  
 

Proposition 47 and Access Card Account Information:  The high court held that Penal Code 
section 484e, subdivision (d), where the value of the property involved is $950 or less, was in fact 
reduced to a misdemeanor by passage of Proposition 47.  Section 484e, subdivision (d), 
specifically classifies the offense as a “grand theft.”  Penal Code section 490.2, subdivision (a), 
enacted as a part of Proposition 47, mandates that all grand thefts of a value of $950 or less are 
to be treated as misdemeanor petty theft.  The California Supreme Court found that “the text and 
structure of Proposition 47 convey that section 490.2’s clear purpose was to reduce punishment 
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for crimes of ‘obtaining any property by theft’ that were previously punished as ‘grand theft’ when 
the stolen property was worth less than $950.  And section 484e confirms that (the theft, 
acquisition, or retention) of access card information is one of those crimes.”  The court found this 
to be consistent with the stated purpose of Proposition 47.  As noted in the measure’s preamble, 
the purpose is “to ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses, [and] to 
maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime . . . .”  The court concluded that “the 
statute’s unqualified references to ‘obtaining any property by theft’ and ‘any . . . provision of law 
defining grand theft’ encompass[es] theft of access card information.”  
 

Determining the Value of Access Card Account Information: Noting that the fraudulent use of 
access cards or account information is punished as a separate crime (see Pen. Code, § 484g), 
the California Supreme Court addressed the issue of how to assign a value on the mere 
possession of access card or account information with a fraudulent intent.  The court specifically 
rejected that the value was that of the plastic card itself (noting that section 484e, subdivision (d), 
does not require that the defendant possess the card but rather the account information).  
Instead, the court held that the standard “reasonable and fair market value” rule, as set forth in 
Penal Code section 484, subdivision (a), is applicable.  “When you have a willing buyer and a 
willing seller, neither of whom is forced to act, the price they agree upon is the highest price 
obtainable for the article in the open market.  Put another way, ‘fair market value’ means the 
highest price obtainable in the market place . . . .”  The fact that stolen access card information is 
not sold legally does not matter.  It is the “Black Market” value of that information that must be 
determined.  The court noted that whether such value is $950 or less for Proposition 47 purposes 
may be inferred from “the uncontested information in the petition and record of conviction.”  But 
an evidentiary hearing may be required at which courts may consider evidence of what stolen 
access card information would fetch in an illegal market.  
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 

FORGERY 
Documents Included in Pen. Code, § 473, subd. (b)   
 
People v. Martinez (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 234 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

RULE: Proposition 47’s enactment of Penal Code section 473, subdivision (b)—which requires 
that the crime of forgery be classified as a misdemeanor when a defendant used one of seven 
specified items when the item is valued at $950 or less—applies only when one of the listed 
instruments was used to commit the crime and not when a different type of instrument, such as a 
credit card receipt, is forged.   

FACTS:  Defendant signed someone else’s name on credit card receipts after making credit card 
purchases at a gas station.  He was convicted of felony forgery in violation of Penal Code section 
470, subdivision (a).  After the passage of Proposition 47, defendant sought to reduce his felony 
to a misdemeanor violation under the statute which allows persons who have completed felony 
sentences for offenses that would, post-Proposition 47, be misdemeanors under Proposition 47 to 
have their felony convictions designated as misdemeanors.  The issue on appeal was whether 
defendant was entitled to a reduction of his felony forgery conviction. 

HELD:  A forgery in violation of Penal Code section 470, subdivision (a), can be punished as a 
felony even if the value of the item forged is under $950.  (See Pen. Code, § 473, subd. (a).)  
However, under subdivision (b) of Penal Code section 473 (as enacted by Proposition 4), a 
forgery conviction is a misdemeanor if the instrument used in the forgery is a check, bond, bank 
bill, note, cashier’s check, traveler’s check, or money order with a value of $950 or less.  If the 
forgery does not involve one of the seven instruments specified in section 473, subdivision (b), it 
is a wobbler under subdivision (a) of Penal Code section 473 and may be prosecuted as a felony.  
Since defendant was convicted of a ‘receipt for goods’ forgery, and a receipt for goods is not one 
of the seven instruments specified in section 473, subdivision (b), defendant was ineligible to 
have his ‘receipt for goods’ forgery conviction re-designated as a misdemeanor, even though the 
value of the forged receipt was less than $950.   

NOTE: The import of this holding is that a suspect may be arrested for a felony violation of a 
forgery statute, regardless of Proposition 47, when the item forged is not listed in Penal Code 
section 473, subdivision (b).   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 

FORGERY 
Documents Included in Pen. Code, § 473, subd. (b)   
 
People v. Bloomfield (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 647   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

RULE: Proposition 47’s enactment of Penal Code section 473, subdivision (b)—which requires 
that the crime of forgery be classified as a misdemeanor when a defendant used one of seven 
specified items when the item is valued at $950 or less—applies only when one of the listed 
instruments was used to commit the crime and not when a different type of instrument, such as 
an access card, is forged.   

FACTS:  Defendant attempted to pay the $73.53 cab fare with a prepaid debit card, but the 
charge did not go through.  When police searched defendant, they located a prepaid Visa card 
with defendant's name and another individual's name embossed on it.  A week later, defendant 
attempted to purchase dinner at a fast food restaurant.  A store employee contacted police 
because he remembered defendant from an earlier incident when she had attempted to purchase 
food using a stolen credit card.  When the police searched defendant's car, they located several 
credit cards with numbers removed or altered.  Several cards had defendant’s name on them.  
Defendant was convicted of two felony counts of access card forgery in violation of Penal Code 
section 484f, subdivision (a).  After the passage of Proposition 47, defendant sought to reduce his 
felony convictions to misdemeanor convictions under the statute that allows persons who have 
completed felony sentences for offenses that would, post-Proposition 47, be misdemeanors 
under Proposition 47 to have their felony convictions designated as misdemeanors.  The issue on 
appeal was whether defendant was entitled to a reduction of her felony forgery conviction. 

HELD:  A forgery in violation of Penal Code section 470, subdivision (a), may be punished as a 
felony, even if the value of the item forged is under $950.  (See Pen. Code, § 473, subd. (a).)  
However, under subdivision (b) of Penal Code section 473 (as enacted by Proposition 47), a 
forgery conviction is a misdemeanor if the instrument utilized in the forgery is a check, bond, bank 
bill, note, cashier’s check, traveler’s check, or money order with a value of $950 or less.  If the 
forgery does not involve one of the seven instruments specified in section 473, subdivision (b), it 
may be prosecuted as a felony or a misdemeanor.  Since defendant was convicted of access 
card forgery, and an access card is not one of the seven instruments specified in section 473, 
subdivision (b), defendant was ineligible to have his access card forgery conviction in violation of 
Penal Code section 484f, subdivision (a), re-designated as a misdemeanor, even though the 
value of the cards was under $950.   

NOTE: The import of this holding is that a suspect can be arrested for a felony violation of a 
forgery statute, regardless of Proposition 47, when the item forged is not listed in Penal Code 
section 473, subdivision (b).  
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

CRIMES AGAINST OFFICERS 
Penal Code Section 148, Subdivision (a)(1); Resisting Arrest; Flight from an 
Attempted Detention 
 
In re Charles G. (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th 945   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: A violation of Penal Code section 148, subdivision (a)(1), when based on an individual’s flight 
from law enforcement officers, requires that the officers take direct action to affirmatively communicate 
their desire to stop and detain the individual.  Unless and until a subject knows, or reasonably should 
know, that the police wish to detain him, he is free to leave the area and not wait around to see if the 
police might want to talk to him.    
 
FACTS:   A citizen reported to Officer England that a nearby residence had been burglarized and 
pointed out the two burglars, who were walking down the street carrying backpacks.  The minor, 
Charles G., was one of the two suspects identified by the citizen.  Officer England, who was on patrol 
and in full uniform, radioed the information he had received to other officers while driving his marked 
patrol car towards the two suspects.  As he got to within 30 yards of the suspects, they ran into a 
restaurant.  At the same time, but from a different vantage point, Officer Berkley also observed the two 
suspects, both still with backpacks, slowly jogging across the street into the area of the restaurant.  
Although his companion was quickly detained by officers in the parking lot, Charles G. was not.  Officer 
Berkley then drove his marked patrol car to the rear of the restaurant and saw Charles G., now without 
his backpack.  Charles G. looked at Officer Berkley and then jumped over a fence—where he was 
quickly detained by other officers.  Officer Cartwright responded and found Charles G.’s backpack in 
nearby bushes.  A .22-caliber revolver was recovered from the backpack.  As a result, Charles G. was 
charged in juvenile court with firearms-related offenses and a violation of Penal Code section 148, 
subdivision (a)(1).  After Charles G.’s motion to suppress was denied, the magistrate found true all of 
the charges.  Regarding the Penal Code section 148, subdivision (a)(1), charge, the magistrate found 
that the evidence was insufficient to prove that Charles G. had fled from Officer England.  However, 
the evidence did show Charles G. had knowingly fled from Officer Berkley when, on seeing the officer 
approach, he jumped over the fence.  Charles G. appealed. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal reversed the Penal Code section 148, subdivision (a)(1), charge.  The 
People argued that defendant had committed a violation of Penal Code section 148, subdivision (a)(1), 
by willfully resisting, delaying, or obstructing Officer Berkley’s lawful attempt to detain him.  The People 
pointed out that Officer Berkley was dressed in a police uniform and was driving a marked patrol car at 
the time he located Charles G., who then jumped over the fence.  The prosecution also argued that 
Charles G.’s flight from the uniformed officers and abandonment of his backpack further demonstrated 
his knowledge that they sought to detain him.  The court rejected the People’s arguments.  Instead, the 
Court of Appeal found no evidence that Charles G. could have reasonably known Officer Berkley was 
attempting to detain him.  Although Charles G.’s actions may have been suspicious, the juvenile court 
could not have reasonably inferred from the abandonment of his backpack and scaling of a fence that 
Charles G. knew the police were after him.  Defendant’s conduct, per the court, was consistent with a 
general intent to avoid detection as opposed to detention.  Defendant did not violate Penal Code 
section 148, subdivision (a)(1), by jogging across the street, abandoning his backpack, or jumping a 
fence to avoid the police unless he knew, or reasonably should have known, the police wanted to 
detain him. The court found no evidence of direct police action, such as a command, which would have 
informed Charles G. that the police wanted to detain him.  Unless and until a subject knows that the 
police wish to detain him, he is free to leave the area and not wait around to see if the police might 
want to talk to him.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 

CRIMES AGAINST OFFICERS 
False Information to Peace Officers  
 
People v. Morera-Munoz (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 838 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

RULE: For a person to be found guilty of providing false information to a peace officer in violation 
of Vehicle Code section 31, the false information must be related to a material fact.   

FACTS: A police officer found defendant asleep behind the wheel of a car parked in a lane of 
travel.  Defendant appeared to have been drinking alcohol. The officer asked defendant if he had 
anything to drink.  Defendant denied he had.  The officer asked where defendant had been. 
Defendant said he had been on his way home from work. He agreed to take a breath test, which 
showed a blood-alcohol level of .26 percent.  At trial, defendant testified—contrary to his 
statement to the officer—that on the night of his arrest he was returning from an after-work party 
at which he “drank a few beers.”  Defendant was acquitted of driving under the influence but 
convicted of violating Vehicle Code section 31.  On appeal, defendant claimed Vehicle Code 
section 31 violated the First Amendment because it criminalized the giving of any false 
information to a peace officer without regard to the information's materiality. 

HELD:  To prevent Vehicle Code section 31 from being found unconstitutional, the appellate court 
construed the statute as incorporating a “materiality” requirement.  Thus, while Vehicle Code 
section 31—“No person shall give, either orally or in writing, information to a peace officer while in 
the performance of his duties under the provisions of this code when such person knows that the 
information is false”—does not specify the statement must be “material,” the statute must be 
interpreted as only prohibiting deceit “as to a material fact pertinent to an investigatory matter 
undertaken by a peace officer pursuant to the Vehicle Code.”  The test of “materiality” is an 
objective test: “would a reasonable peace officer find the information relevant and material in his 
or her investigation?”  In other words, is the false statement objectively capable of influencing the 
behavior of the officer?  Applying this test, the court held that a defendant was properly convicted 
of violating Vehicle Code section 31 even though the jury was not instructed on the element of 
“materiality” because any reasonable jury would have found the false statements made by 
defendant to be material where defendant lied about (i) drinking any alcohol and (ii) where he was 
coming from when questioned by a CHP officer after being pulled over on suspicion of DUI.     

NOTE: The appellate court noted that “have you been drinking” is an obvious and material 
question in an investigation for DUI.  However, the court also found the question “where have you 
been” to be a question seeking material information because the question was relevant to the 
degree of sobriety (or lack thereof) on defendant's part.  The court noted the question was 
designed to show whether the driver had the memory and ability to recall where he had been or if 
he had been so inebriated that he could not recall such a detail.  An answer would help an officer 
decide whether defendant was under the influence, since intoxicated people often have difficulty 
recalling prior conduct.  The question also seeks material information because the answer would 
tend to help officers uncover witnesses and others who might testify for or against the basis for 
the arrest.  The rationale for finding the answer to the question regarding where the driver had 
been to be material is significant because much of the rationale would also support a finding that 
most of the questions asked during a standard DUI inquiry are soliciting material information.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

TRESPASS 
Trespass, per Penal Code Section 602.1, Subdivision (a) 
 
People v. Turner (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 397 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

RULE: Probable cause supports an arrest for trespass (Pen. Code, § 602.1, subd. (a)) where a 
suspect’s repeated refusal to leave a business establishment as well as other aggravating 
circumstances results in the intentional interference with that business.  
 
FACTS:  San Pablo Police Officer Greg Niemi responded to a 24-hour Nation’s Restaurant in the 
early morning hours of September 15, 2015, upon receiving a report of a man “refusing to leave.”  
Upon arrival, the restaurant manager directed Officer Niemi to defendant who was “slouched 
over” in one of the booths, leaning on a duffle bag, with a jacket coving his head; apparently 
sleeping.  Verbal attempts to wake him were unsuccessful.  Touching his shoulder resulted in no 
more than defendant telling the officer to go away.  Lifting the jacket off of his head, Officer Niemi 
recognized him as someone who had been the subject of frequent similar calls at the same 
restaurant.  Officer Niemi told defendant that he had to leave.  Instead of responding, defendant 
started looking for his cellphone, first around his booth and then in nearby garbage cans and 
unoccupied booths.  About the third time after telling defendant he had to leave, Officer Niemi 
picked up defendant’s duffel bag and carried it outside.  Defendant eventually followed the officer 
but not before asking the restaurant manager to call his cellphone for him, which she did.  Once 
outside, Officer Niemi again told defendant to leave. But defendant started to check around 
planter boxes and looking into the restaurant through its windows.  After three or four minutes of 
this, Officer Niemi told defendant that if he did not leave, he would be arrested.  Still ignoring the 
officer, defendant stopped customers going into the restaurant, asking them “to keep an eye out 
for his cellphone.”  He asked at least one customer to call his phone.  After these customers went 
inside, defendant opened the door and asked one of the customers to try to find his phone.  At 
this point, Officer Niemi asked the restaurant manager if she wanted defendant removed from the 
property.  She told him that she wanted him arrested for trespassing and signed a form for a 
citizen’s arrest and request for prosecution.  She informed Officer Niemi that defendant had been 
in the restaurant for about eight hours and had been asked to leave approximately four times.  
Officer Niemi took defendant into custody for trespassing, i.e., interfering with a business 
establishment, per Penal Code section 602.1, subdivision (a).  Defendant and his duffle bag were 
transported to the police station where defendant was booked.  His duffle bag was eventually 
subjected to an inventory search, per San Pablo Police Department’s standard policy.  The 
search is done to protect anything of value in such a container as well as to secure anything that 
might potentially be dangerous.  In the bag was found a fully loaded .38-caliber six-shot revolver 
that appeared to be functional, a 50-round box containing 44 rounds of .38-caliber ammunition 
that matched the ammunition in the revolver, and a niacin pill bottle with a white crystalline 
substance inside that was later determined to be slightly over three grams of methamphetamine. 
Charged in state court with Penal Code section 602.1, subdivision (a), as well as being a felon in 
possession of a firearm and ammunition and for possession of methamphetamine, defendant filed 
a motion to suppress the physical evidence under the theory that he had been unlawfully arrested 
and that the recovered weapon, ammunition, and contraband was all the product of that illegal 
arrest.  After the motion was denied and the jury convicted him, defendant was sentenced to 
three years’ probation and appealed. 
 
HELD:  The Court of Appeal affirmed.  The issue on appeal, as it was in the trial court, was the 
legality of defendant’s arrest for trespass.  The parties all agreed that, if defendant’s arrest was 
lawful, then the pre-booking inventory search theory applied and no search warrant was 
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necessary.  The inventory search theory permits “police to search the personal effects of a 
person under lawful arrest as part of the routine administrative procedure at a police station 
house incident to booking and jailing the suspect.”  (Illinois v. Lafayette (1983) 462 U.S. 640.)  
Defendant’s arrest was lawful as long as Officer Niemi had probable cause.  Probable cause to 
arrest exists if facts known to the arresting officer would lead a person of ordinary care and 
prudence to entertain an honest and strong suspicion that an individual is guilty of a crime.  The 
“crime” at issue here was trespass, per Penal Code section 602.1, subdivision (a).  Under this 
section, it had to be shown that defendant intentionally interfered with a lawful business, or 
occupation carried on by the owner or agent of a business establishment, open to the public by 
obstructing or intimidating those attempting to carry on business, or their customers, and by 
refusing to leave the premises of the business establishment after being requested to leave by 
the owner or the owner’s agent, or by a peace officer acting at the request of the owner or 
owner’s agent.  It was not an issue that defendant had refused to leave the restaurant at the 
request of both the manager and of a police officer at the request of the manager.  The only 
issue, therefore, was whether defendant had intentionally interfered with the business of the 
restaurant by obstructing or intimidating those attempting to carry on the business, or their 
customers.  On this issue, the court ruled that, even assuming that defendant’s intent to interfere 
could not be inferred solely from his refusal to leave, there were sufficient other facts known to 
Officer Niemi to establish probable cause.  First, defendant was asked multiple times over a span 
of hours to leave the restaurant, and he refused to do so.  Second, the restaurant’s manager had 
to interrupt her duties not only to ask defendant to leave some four times but also to call the 
police, talk to Officer Niemi, and fill out paperwork necessary for a citizen’s arrest.  Finally, Officer 
Niemi testified that he had been called to the restaurant several times before because of 
defendant’s reoccurring refusal to leave.  These circumstances were sufficient to provide Officer 
Niemi with the necessary probable cause to believe that defendant was in violation of Penal Code 
section 602.1, subdivision (a).  His arrest, therefore, was lawful. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

VEHICLE CODE OFFENSES 
Vehicle Code Section 22520.5, Subdivision (a); Soliciting or Panhandling on 
Freeway Ramps 
  
People v. Pina (2017) 14 Cal.App.5th Supp. 1 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  Vehicle Code section 22520.5, subdivision (a), does not prohibit the non-commercial 
solicitation of charitable contributions on freeway ramps. 
 
FACTS:  Long Beach Police Department Officer Michael Demarco observed defendant walking in 
lanes of traffic at the Bellflower off-ramp of the 405 Freeway as he solicited and accepted money 
from motorists who were stopped at the red light at the end of the ramp.  Defendant was carrying 
a sign that said:  “Lost my job.  Lost my home.  Lost my car.  Please pray for me and my family.  
Thank You.  God bless.”  Officer Demarco contacted defendant and ordered him to leave.  When 
defendant refused, Officer Demarco arrested him for violating Vehicle Code section 22520.5, 
subdivision (a), which makes it an infraction (for a first violation) to “solicit, display, sell, offer for 
sale, or otherwise vend or attempt to vend any merchandise or service” in designated locations 
on and near freeway on-ramps and off-ramps.  When searched, defendant had $51.35 on his 
person.  Defendant was found guilty in a court trial and fined $530.  He appealed. 
 
HELD: The Appellate Division of the Los Angeles Superior Court reversed.  On appeal, 
defendant argued that there was insufficient evidence of a violation of Vehicle Code section 
22520.5, subdivision (a), in that the section applies only to “commercial transactions.”  Per 
defendant, since he had received money without selling goods or services, the People had failed 
to prove that he had violated the statute.  The issue on appeal, therefore, was one of “statutory 
construction,” i.e., how the statute should be interpreted.  Vehicle Code section 22520.5, 
subdivision (a), provides, in relevant part: “No person shall solicit, display, sell, offer for sale, or 
otherwise vend or attempt to vend any merchandise or service while being wholly or partly within 
any of the following (locations),” including freeway on and off-ramps.   A first violation of this 
section is an infraction.  A second or subsequent conviction of a violation of this section is a 
misdemeanor.  In interpreting this statute, the court looked to the Legislature’s intent.  The 
primary term at issue was the word “solicit.”  By itself, “solicit” includes asking for money or 
“panhandling.”  While defendant’s sign did not specifically ask for anything more than prayers, it 
could well be interpreted to imply that a financial donation would indeed be appreciated.  But in 
Vehicle Code section 22520.5, subdivision (a), the word “solicit” is immediately followed by 
“display, sell, offer for sale, or otherwise vend or attempt to vend any merchandise or service.”  A 
“sale” or “to sell” necessarily involves a transaction involving valuable consideration.  The court 
concluded that the intent of the statute was to prohibit commercial transactions from taking place 
in the prohibited areas and not merely to prohibit seeking charitable donations unrelated to the 
sale of merchandize or services.  The court further found that the history behind the 1981 
enactment of Vehicle Code section 22520.5 also supported the conclusion that simple 
panhandling was not intended to be included.  At the time of enactment, the section’s title 
specifically referred to “vending,” and a legislative analysis of the statute made specific reference 
to the need to prohibit the sale of merchandise or services within the boundaries of a freeway.  In 
sum, the court concluded that defendant had not violated Vehicle Code section 22520.5, 
subdivision (a), by simply soliciting charitable contributions on a freeway ramp.   
 
NOTE: Defendant also argued that his First Amendment rights had been violated by prohibiting 
him from soliciting money on a freeway ramp.  Although the opinion here did not discuss 
defendant’s theory for the First Amendment violation, previous cases have rejected the theory 
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that a person has a First Amendment right to “solicit alms.”  (See Ulmer v. Municipal Court (1976) 
55 Cal.App.3d 263 & People v. Zimmerman (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th Supp. 7 [holding that the First 
Amendment is not violated by prohibiting, per Pen. Code, § 647, subd. (c), the “aggressive” 
solicitation of money].)  The court here declined to decide the issue but suggested that law 
enforcement look to local ordinances to control defendant’s soliciting activities.  (See, e.g., Long 
Beach Mun. Code, § 9.35.010 & Los Angeles Mun. Code, § 41.59 [both barring aggressive 
solicitation of money or items of value].)  Bottom line, however, is that this court determined that 
defendant’s conduct did not fall under Vehicle Code section 22520.5 and did not discuss whether 
his conduct was “aggressive” within the meaning of other statutes because those statutes were 
not the basis for his conviction. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

VEHICLE CODE OFFENSES 
Vehicle Code Section 22350; Basic Speed Law 
 
People v. Farleigh (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th Supp. 12 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Under the basic speed law (Veh. Code, § 22350), a police officer may stop and cite a 
person who is driving at a speed that, although less than the posted speed limit and at a speed 
that is safe for current road and weather conditions, is unsafe when considering the manner in 
which the person is driving. 
 
FACTS:  At about 4:35 in the afternoon on September 9, 2015, Officer Cody Bates observed 
defendant driving at 45 mph in a posted 50 mph speed zone while holding a cigarette with one 
hand out the window and a cellphone with the other, leaving no hands on the steering wheel.  
Upon being stopped, defendant claimed to be using her cellphone for GPS navigation.  The 
officer later testified that the weather was dry and clear with no water on the roadway.  The traffic 
was heavy.  He also testified that, when considering these external conditions only, excluding the 
fact that both her hands were being used for something other than steering, “45 miles per hour 
would be appropriate for that roadway.”  But he cited defendant anyway, noting on the citation 
that, under the “Basic Speed Law,” a safe speed was “zero.”  Defendant contested her citation in 
court, but was found guilty.  She appealed. 
 
HELD: The Appellate Division of the Superior Court for Orange County affirmed.  The issue on 
appeal was one of statutory interpretation.  Vehicle Code section 22350, known as the “Basic 
Speed Law,” provides as follows: “No person shall drive a vehicle upon a highway at a speed 
greater than is reasonable or prudent having due regard for weather, visibility, the traffic on, and 
the surface and width of, the highway, and in no event at a speed which endangers the safety of 
persons or property.”  Defendant argued that, when considering the four factors listed in the 
section (i.e., weather, visibility, traffic, and the road width and surface), she was driving at a safe 
speed.  The court ruled, however, that the Legislature intended “the safety of persons or 
property,” which includes other factors such as (but not limited to) “the behavior of the driver,” 
must also be considered.  In this case, defendant’s “behavior” included driving with both hands 
occupied by activities other than steering the car, a factor the officer was allowed to consider 
under the Basic Speed Law.  Per the court, he reasonably concluded that, because defendant 
was driving without her hands on the steering wheel, “zero” was the safe speed.  “Because the 
Basic Speed Law is not limited to regulating speed with reference to conditions external to the 
driver herself,” the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

DETENTION 
Prolonged Detentions; Fruit of the Poisonous Tree Doctrine; Coordinated 
Traffic Stops and the Fourth Amendment 
 
United States v. Gorman (9th Cir. 2017) 870 F.3d 963  
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Information gathered during an illegally prolonged traffic detention cannot be used to 
support a subsequent traffic stop and dog-sniff when the two stops are part of one coordinated 
traffic stop performed by two officers working together.  The Fruit of the Poisonous Tree Doctrine 
dictates that evidence recovered as a result of the second stop is subject to suppression as the 
product of an earlier illegally prolonged detention. 
 
FACTS:  On the morning of January 23, 2013, defendant was driving a motorhome westbound on 
Interstate-80 near Wells, Nevada.  While so doing, defendant attempted to pass a truck by 
moving into the left of two lanes.  Failing to get by the truck, he moved back into the slow lane.  
Trooper Monroe observed defendant when he was in the fast lane and concluded that this was a 
“potential . . . left-lane violation.”  Making a traffic stop, Trooper Monroe contacted defendant and 
explained to him why he’d been stopped.  In response to Monroe’s inquiries, defendant explained 
that he was on his way to visit “his chick” in Sacramento, that he was moving to California, that 
the motorhome belonged to his brother, and that he had earned money by selling paddleboards 
in Hawaii.  Also, defendant answered “yep” when asked whether he intended to work in 
California.  Trooper Monroe found all these answers to be “suspicious” and “rehearsed.”  Trooper 
Monroe also thought it suspicious that defendant didn’t know his girlfriend’s address and had to 
look it up on his GPS.  He also thought it suspicious that defendant, whose occupation was 
selling paddleboards, could afford to drive cross-country in a motorhome, given the large 
vehicle's poor gas mileage and the cost of gas.  He also noted that defendant’s stated destination 
was Northern California, a place known for cultivating marijuana.  All this told, Trooper Monroe 
believed the defendant was transporting drugs or drug money.  Trooper Monroe returned to his 
vehicle to do a driver’s license warrant check, to get a criminal history report, and to request a 
drug-detection dog.  The Nevada Highway Patrol (NHP) Communications dispatcher responded 
with negative findings on the checks.  The dispatcher also told Trooper Monroe that there were 
no dogs available in the area.  Knowing that he did not yet have the necessary probable cause to 
obtain a search warrant, Trooper Monroe initiated a “non-routine record check,” asking the El 
Paso Intelligence Center (a multi-jurisdictional bureau known as EPIC) for information on 
defendant.  This resulted in a Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) “hit” on defendant involving the 
transfer of $11,000 in 2006.  EPIC also indicated that defendant had entered or exited the United 
States four times in recent years.  Twenty minutes into the traffic stop, Trooper Monroe returned 
defendant’s driver’s license to him without issuing a citation.  But instead of letting defendant go, 
Trooper Monroe began questioning him about some of the factors he found to be suspicious.  
When asked how he could afford to be driving a motorhome across the country, defendant 
responded, “I don’t want to talk about how much I make.”  When asked directly if there was 
anything illegal in his motorhome and if he was carrying cash, defendant replied that he had 
$2,000.  Trooper Monroe then asked defendant if he could search the vehicle, to which defendant 
said no.  Convinced that defendant was lying and that he was “carrying money,” but giving up 
trying to find a legal way to prove it, Monroe finally let defendant leave.  The whole stop took 
nearly half an hour.  But Trooper Monroe was not yet done.  He contacted the NHP and 
suggested that, if the Elko County Sheriff’s Office had an officer and a dog who could intercept 
defendant, they “might want to take a second look at the car.”  Deputy Fisher, with a drug 
detection dog that had been trained to alert on the odor of tainted currency as well as drugs, was 
contacted and given the gist of the information obtained from Trooper Monroe.  Deputy Fisher 
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and Trooper Monroe subsequently communicated via telephone with Monroe giving Fisher the 
particulars of his contact with defendant and his suspicions that he might be transporting drug 
money.  Deputy Fisher, who was not patrolling when first contacted, headed out to I-80 to find the 
motorhome, which he subsequently did about an hour after Trooper Monroe’s contact with him.  
Observing the “problematic traffic violations” of the motorhome’s tire partly crossing onto the fog 
line three times, Deputy Fisher made a traffic stop.  Obtaining defendant’s license and registration 
documents, Deputy Fisher initiated the same routine records checks that Trooper Monroe had 
already done.  Awaiting the results (which again turned out to be negative), Deputy Fisher asked 
defendant if he was opposed to letting his dog sniff around the motorhome.  Defendant said that 
he was opposed to it, “if that means anything.”  Fisher, nevertheless, prepared to begin the dog 
sniff.  Running the dog around the exterior of the motorhome, he alerted at a couple of locations.  
With this probable cause, a search warrant was sought from the Elko County Justice Court.  The 
warrant was obtained some 20 minutes later.  A search pursuant to the warrant resulted in the 
recovery of $167,070 in cash and other items possibly indicative of drug dealing.  However, no 
criminal charges were brought against defendant arising from this incident.  Instead, the federal 
government pursued civil forfeiture of the $167,070.  In the forfeiture action, defendant filed a 
motion to suppress the currency on the ground that it was obtained in violation of the Fourth 
Amendment. The federal District Court agreed and granted defendant’s motion.  In a separate 
order, the court awarded defendant $146,938.50 in attorneys’ fees.  The Government appealed.  
 
HELD:  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.  Referring to the sequence of events in this 
case as a “coordinated traffic stop,” the Ninth Circuit agreed with the trial court when it 
determined that, pursuant to the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine, the recovery of the money 
during the second traffic stop was a product of, and tainted by, the illegally prolonged detention 
that had occurred during the first traffic stop.  Without determining the legality of the second traffic 
stop itself (as performed by Deputy Fisher), the court evaluated the legality of the first traffic stop 
(as effected by Trooper Monroe) and its legal effect on the eventual discovery of the currency.  
First, it noted that “(t)raffic stops are ‘presumptively temporary and brief.’”  Traffic stops, to be 
lawful, may last only as long as is reasonably necessary to carry out the “mission” of the stop, 
absent some independent reason (typically developed during the stop) to detain the motorist 
longer. The “mission” of a stop includes the officer’s right to determine whether to issue a traffic 
ticket, to check the validity of the driver’s license, to determine whether there are outstanding 
warrants against the driver, and to inspect the automobile’s registration and proof of insurance.  It 
typically takes no more than ten minutes to accomplish all this.  An officer must develop some 
independent legal justification to prolong the traffic stop beyond the typical, approximate ten 
minutes.  Failure to do so results in an unlawfully prolonged detention, i.e., an unlawful seizure 
under the Fourth Amendment.  Any evidence of criminal activity recovered during this period of 
an unlawfully prolonged traffic stop is subject to suppression.  Non-routine record checks and dog 
sniffs, as activities aimed at detecting evidence of ordinary criminal wrongdoing and not typically 
part of the “mission” of a lawful traffic stop, are examples of activities that may not be performed if 
performing them prolongs an otherwise lawful roadside traffic stop.  In this case, Trooper 
Monroe’s detention of defendant for nearly thirty minutes was unlawfully prolonged, a fact 
conceded by the Government.  The potential issue as to the legal sufficiency of his suspicions 
concerning what defendant might be transporting (i.e., illegal drug money) was not discussed, no 
doubt due to the Government’s concession that the stop was illegally prolonged.  The Ninth 
Circuit agreed that Trooper Monroe’s suspicions were not enough to support the extension of the 
detention beyond the ten minutes or less it should have taken him to check defendant’s 
documentation, explain the violation, do routine radio checks, and cite or release defendant.  
During this additional period, Trooper Monroe performed non-routine investigative inquiries and 
questioned defendant about matters unrelated to the traffic infraction.  These actions and 
inquiries fell beyond the scope of the stop’s “mission.”  Per the court, they were, instead, 
impermissibly “aimed at detect[ing] evidence of ordinary criminal wrongdoing.”  However, the 
currency in question in this case was not recovered during this concededly illegally prolonged 
detention.  The true issue in this case is what legal effect, if any, Trooper Monroe’s illegal 
detention had on the recovery of the currency during the second traffic stop, as performed by 
Deputy Fisher.  Under the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine, the exclusionary rule 
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encompasses not only the direct products of an illegal detention, but any indirect products as 
well.  In this case, the court tied Trooper Monroe’s illegal acts during the first traffic stop to the 
eventual recovery of the currency in question by tying the two stops together in what the court 
referred to as a single “coordinated traffic stop.”  “Here, there is an indisputable ‘causal 
connection’ between (defendant’s) concededly unlawful detention and the dog sniff and its fruits. . 
. . The detention unquestionably served as ‘the impetus for the chain of events leading to’ the 
discovery of the currency.”  Deputy Fisher’s acts, as they related to defendant and his 
motorhome, were the direct result of a request made by Trooper Monroe and were based upon 
information at least partially accumulated during the unlawful extension of defendant’s detention 
(e.g., the DEA “hit”).  Deputy Fisher and his dog would never have had any contact with 
defendant had it not been for information supplied by Trooper Monroe.  As such, the two traffic 
stops are inextricably tied together, thus triggering the protections of the fruit of the poisonous 
tree doctrine.  The court rejected that any of the traditional exceptions to the fruit of the poisonous 
tree doctrine applied, such as the “independent source” exception, the “inevitable discovery” 
exception, and in particular, the “attenuated basis” exception, the court ruled that the currency 
recovered by Deputy Fisher was justifiably suppressed by the federal District Court judge as the 
fruit of Trooper Monroe’s illegally prolonged detention. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

PAT SEARCH/FRISK 
Articulating Suspicions  
 
United States v. Job (9th Cir. 2017) 851 F.3d 852  
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  When conducting a Terry pat-search, a law enforcement officer must articulate specific 
facts that he or she reasonably believes shows the subject of the search is involved in criminal 
activity and is “armed and presently dangerous.”     
 
 FACTS:  Officers were investigating a major narcotics trafficking conspiracy.  An extensive 
investigation, including wiretap evidence, tied defendant into the conspiracy.  On October 3, 
2012, officers went to a residence looking for an unrelated individual.  When they arrived, 
defendant and another man opened the garage door and looked “very surprised to see the 
police.”  Defendant, in particular, appeared to be “very nervous.”  He was wearing a baggy shirt 
that concealed his waistband as well as baggy cargo shorts with pockets that appeared to be full 
of items.  Due to defendant’s nervous behavior, concealed waistband and full pockets, an officer 
“felt it would be much safer for my partners and myself if I patted [defendant] down for weapons.”  
Handcuffing him first, the officer patted defendant down and felt “a hard tube like object with a 
bulbous end” in defendant’s left cargo pants pocket.  Based upon his training and experience, the 
officer recognized this object to be an illegal glass smoking pipe and removed it from defendant’s 
pocket.  The officer also found $1,450 in cash and defendant’s car keys in his pockets.  
Defendant was arrested for possession of narcotics paraphernalia.  Asked where he had parked 
his car, defendant “looked around nervously and said, ‘I don’t know.’”  The officer used the key 
fob to locate the car and search it, recovering 3.9 grams of methamphetamine in two Ziploc-style 
bags, a “Spice” cigarette, another glass pipe containing burnt white residue, and a cell phone.  
Two months later, officers executed a search warrant on defendant’s apartment and found 56.4 
grams of methamphetamine in a freezer, five scales, small amounts of methamphetamine totaling 
15.28 grams, baggies, several glass pipes, “Spice,” bath salts, marijuana, and other drug 
processing paraphernalia.  Defendant was charged with conspiracy to distribute 
methamphetamine and possession of methamphetamine with intent to distribute.  After 
defendant’s motions to suppress the evidence were denied, he was convicted by jury of all 
charges and appealed. 
 
HELD:  The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed in part and affirmed in part.  At issue on 
appeal were the warrantless searches of defendant’s person and vehicle.  Among other things, 
the Ninth Circuit found insufficient evidence to support a Terry pat search of defendant’s person.  
Although defendant appeared surprised to see the police, acted nervously, and had baggy 
clothing with pockets appearing full of items, the Ninth Circuit found that all of these facts together 
were insufficient to justify the conclusion that defendant was engaged in criminal activity or 
otherwise might be armed and dangerous.  The Ninth Circuit would have given significant weight 
to an officer’s observation of a bulge that could be a weapon but merely having pockets “full of 
items” while “appearing nervous” was not enough.  The Ninth Circuit also would have considered 
evidence relating to the individual that law enforcement sought to find at the residence, such as 
whether that individual was involved in a crime of violence, whether defendant was suspected to 
have engaged in similar activity with that individual, and whether defendant made any 
movements that appeared threatening when the officers had contacted him.  However, the Ninth 
noted that no such evidence was presented.  The Ninth Circuit also rejected the argument that 
the search of defendant’s person was a protective sweep.  Protective sweeps are limited to 
checking a residence for other persons officers reasonably believe might be in the residence and 
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who may constitute a danger, generally upon the lawful search of a residence or the arrest of an 
occupant.  The pat-search, therefore, was unlawful, and the evidence found on his person should 
have been suppressed.  As to the search of defendant’s vehicle, the Ninth Circuit rejected the 
argument that the search of defendant’s car was justified under the automobile exception.  The 
Ninth Circuit held that, because all evidence found on defendant’s person should have been 
suppressed, there was insufficient evidence remaining to provide probable cause to search the 
car.  The search of the car, therefore, was also illegal, and the evidence should have been 
suppressed.  The court found that the later search of defendant’s residence was pursuant to a 
valid search warrant.  After excising the suppressed evidence from the affidavit, sufficient 
probable cause remained for the search of the residence.  Therefore, that search was lawful.  
Charges relating to the search of the residence were affirmed, but charges relating to the search 
of defendant and his vehicle were reversed.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SEARCH OF PERSON 
Searches Incident to Arrest 
 
People v. Macabeo (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1206 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  Officers may conduct a search of a suspect incident to arrest only if the suspect has been 
taken into actual custody.  Under Penal Code section 853.5, infraction offenders must be cited 
and released unless they refuse to sign a promise to appear, cannot satisfactorily identify 
themselves, or refuse to provide fingerprints.  Although making an impermissible custodial arrest 
for an infraction is a violation of state statutes, the arrest does not violate the Fourth Amendment 
as long as it is supported by probable cause, so any resulting evidence will not be suppressed.  
(See Virginia v. Moore (2008) 553 U.S. 164; People v. McKay (2002) 27 Cal.4th 601, 607-619; 
People v. Gomez (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 531, 538-539.)   
 
FACTS:  Detectives on routine patrol detained defendant Macabeo for riding his bicycle through a 
stop sign without stopping, an infraction violation of Vehicle Code section 22450.  During the 
detention, the detectives discovered child porn in Macabeo’s pocket.  The detectives arrested 
Macabeo for possession of child pornography.  The trial court denied defendant’s motion to 
suppress the child porn, accepting the prosecutor’s argument that, because defendant could have 
been arrested for failing to stop at a stop sign, he was lawfully searched incident to arrest, and 
the search of his person was lawful.  The appellate court upheld the trial court’s ruling.  
 
HELD: The California Supreme Court reversed, ruling the child porn should have been 
suppressed.  Warrantless searches incident to arrest, as a general rule, are lawful.  However, 
because Macabeo was not actually arrested, the fact that he could have been arrested could not 
justify his search incident to arrest.  Even though it would not have violated the Fourth 
Amendment to make a custodial arrest where California law allows only for cite-and release, here 
the detectives did not arrest Macabeo for the traffic infraction but rather for possessing the child 
porn found in the search.  Macabeo was not under custodial arrest when searched, so the 
warrant exception did not apply.  There is no warrant exception allowing for a search incident to 
citation.  
 
NOTE:  Officers should not view this case as encouragement to violate California’s statutory 
requirement that infraction offenders be cited and released absent a statutory exception.  
Violation of state statutes can expose officers to administrative and civil consequences.  Even 
more basically, professionalism and law enforcement’s overall credibility dictates that officers 
follow statutes even if failing to do so does not violate the Constitution.  Of separate note, the 
child porn found in this case consisted of images in Macabeo’s cell phone.  However, this case 
occurred before the United States Supreme Court decision in California v. Riley, which held cell 
phones cannot be searched for content merely incident to arrest.  So, the fact a cell phone was 
the item searched was not an issue in this case.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SEARCH OF PERSON 
Searches Incident to Arrest 
 
In re D.W. (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 1249 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Officers can conduct a search of a suspect incident to arrest only if the suspect has been 
taken into actual custody.  Under Penal Code section 853.5, infraction offenders must be cited 
and released unless they refuse to sign a promise to appear, cannot satisfactorily identify 
themselves, or refuse to provide a fingerprint.   
 
FACTS:  Officers responding to a report of someone with a gun in a known gang area found five 
to eight individuals, including 17-year-old D.W., standing on a street corner.  One of the officers 
told D.W. he smelled like marijuana.  D.W. said he had just smoked some.  The officer decided to 
search D.W. for more marijuana, telling him to put his hands on his head.  Instead, D.W. pulled 
away, and the officer felt a revolver under D.W.’s backpack.  Officers handcuffed D.W. and 
recovered the revolver.  D.W.’s motion to suppress the gun was denied by the magistrate.  D.W. 
appealed, and the Court of Appeal affirmed.  The California Supreme Court granted review but 
held onto the case pending its decision in People v. Macabeo (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1206.  (See p. 56, 
ante.)  Once Macabeo was decided, D.W’s case was transferred back to the Court of Appeal for 
reconsideration in light of Macabeo. 
 
HELD:   Relying on the Macabeo decision, the Court of Appeal reversed the juvenile court 
magistrate and ordered the gun suppressed.  The decision addressed only the theory that the 
search could be justified as a search incident to arrest.  However, the court believed, at best, the 
officers had probable cause to believe D.W. might be in possession of some small amount of 
marijuana, a non-bookable infraction punishable at the time by a $100 fine only.  In other words, 
D.W. was subject to a citation only.  A “search incident to citation” is not one of the recognized 
exceptions to the search warrant requirement.  “Here, the search fails to satisfy the Fourth 
Amendment because when officers decided to search D.W., they had neither cause to make a 
custodial arrest nor evidence that he was guilty of anything more than an infraction.”  Based on 
the record created at the motion to suppress, the court further held that it would have been “mere 
conjecture” for the officers to conclude D.W. might have possessed enough marijuana on his 
person to constitute a jailable offense.  Since there was no custodial arrest prior to the search, the 
court ruled the firearm recovered from under defendant’s backpack should have been 
suppressed.   
 
NOTE:  Although Proposition 64 legalized the possession of less than an ounce of marijuana for 
adults over 21, possession of even a small amount of marijuana by a person under 21 remains an 
infraction.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 
CONSENT 
Knock and Notice; Residential Entries Based on the Consent of a  
Co-Occupant 
 
People v. Byers (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 856 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: A person’s in-custody status, even when he is handcuffed, does not automatically vitiate 
his consent and is just one factor to consider.  The statutory knock-and-notice requirements are 
not excused merely because police have the consent of a non-present co-occupant to enter a 
residence.  Failure to comply with the statutory knock-and-notice requirements is but one factor in 
determining whether a warrantless entry into a residence was reasonable.  Officers are not 
required to seek out a co-occupant and give him or her the opportunity to overrule another 
occupant's consent.  Exclusion of evidence is not the remedy for a violation of the knock-notice 
requirement. 
 
FACTS:  Informed that someone was dealing drugs out of defendant Byers' apartment, officers 
conducted surveillance and observed a man leave the apartment.  Officers determined through a 
records check and from the apartment manager that this man was Brandon Wallace and that he 
had an outstanding misdemeanor warrant for his arrest.  When Wallace returned some 10 to 15 
minutes later with another man, officers contacted them in the parking lot.  An officer removed his 
gun from its holster, pointed it down in a “low ready” position, and ordered Wallace and his 
companion to get on the ground.  Wallace was handcuffed and placed into the back seat of an 
undercover van.  Wallace admitted to Officer Gharah that he lived in the apartment and that the 
southwest bedroom was his own room.  He admitted to having narcotics and a gun in his 
bedroom.  He then gave Officer Gharah permission to search his bedroom and retrieve those 
items.  No threats or promises were made to obtain Wallace’s consent.  Wallace told Officer 
Gharah that Byers was his roommate and that he might be home.  Officer Gharah and two other 
officers went to the apartment.  Hearing people inside, Officer Gharah knocked and announced 
“Police Department.”  Without waiting for anyone to answer the door, Officer Gharah made entry.  
As he did so, he saw two men about three feet away walking toward the door.  He also observed 
Byers sitting at the kitchen table.  On the table was a box of sandwich baggies, a digital scale, 
and a white powdery substance later determined to be cocaine.  Byers refused to consent to a 
search of his bedroom.  So, based on the items in plain view on the kitchen table, the officers 
obtained a search warrant for Byers’ bedroom and the rest of the apartment.  Charged in state 
court with possession of cocaine for sale (Health & Saf. Code, § 11351) and possession of 
nitrous oxide for the purpose of intoxication (Pen. Code, § 381b), defendant Byers' motion to 
suppress was denied by the trial court.  Defendant then pled guilty and appealed. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed.  On appeal, defendant argued that (1) Wallace’s consent to 
enter the apartment was coerced and (2) California’s “knock and notice” requirements were 
violated, requiring the suppression of any evidence found in the apartment.  The court upheld the 
trial judge’s conclusion that Wallace’s consent was not coerced, despite his being under arrest at 
the time.  “A person’s in-custody status, even when he is handcuffed, does not automatically 
vitiate his consent; this is ‘but one of the factors, but not the only one, to be considered by the trial 
judge who sees and hears the witnesses and is best able to pass upon the matter.’”  With 
Wallace admitting to the possession of drugs and a firearm in his room, his intent to cooperate 
with law enforcement was evident.  The trial court did not abuse its discretion, therefore, in finding 
that Wallace voluntarily consented to the officers entering his apartment and searching his room.  
At the suppression hearing, defense counsel had attempted to cross-examine Officer Gharah 
concerning the circumstances of his entry into the residence, specifically, whether he had waited 
long enough after knocking to give defendant an opportunity to come to the door where, if given 
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the opportunity, defendant would have refused a consensual entry.  The trial judge sustained the 
prosecutor’s objection to this line of questioning, ruling that the issue was irrelevant.  The Court of 
Appeal ruled that this was error.  Entry based on consent is an exception to the general rule that 
a search warrant must first be obtained to enter and search a person’s residence.  Wallace, in 
this case, gave such consent.  However, it is also a rule that when an occupant, such as Wallace, 
consents to a search, but a co-occupant, such as Byers, who is present at the scene and 
expressly refuses consent at the door, the co-occupant’s refusal prevails, rendering the 
warrantless search unreasonable and invalid as to him.  (Georgia v. Randolph (2006) 547 U.S. 
103.)  The Court of Appeal held here that, when the person who gives police consent to enter is 
off the premises, the officers are not excused from compliance with the knock and notice 
requirements.  (See, e.g., Duke v. Superior Court (1969) 1 Cal.3d 314, 321-322.)  The knock and 
notice rules must be followed unless there is evidence that to do so would be dangerous or futile 
or would allow the destruction of evidence.  In this case, there was no evidence of any such 
issues.  Therefore, knock and notice was required.  The trial court erred in sustaining the 
prosecution’s objections to the relevance of time of entry after knock-notice.  However, non-
compliance with knock and notice is but one factor to consider in determining whether the 
resulting evidence should be suppressed.  (Hudson v. Michigan (2006) 547 U.S. 586.)  Looking at 
the purposes of the knock and notice rule (i.e., to prevent violence due to an inhabitant being 
taken by surprise, property destruction, or the loss of an occupant’s privacy and dignity caused by 
an outsider’s sudden entry), the court held here that these did not apply.  The court found that 
knock and notice’s historical “deterrence benefits” (discouraging police from violating the 
Constitution) were outweighed by the “substantial societal costs” incurred when evidence is 
suppressed.  The court also noted there is no requirement that defendant be sought out and 
given the opportunity to object to the entry once the officers had the co-occupant Wallace’s 
consent.  In determining whether the time between knock-notice and entry was reasonable, the 
test is not time that is adequate for the co-occupant to deny entry at the door but time that is 
sufficient to prevent destruction of evidence.  Suppression, therefore, was not an appropriate 
remedy in this case. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

DUI ADMONITION 
DUI; Scope of Consent for the Withdrawal of a Blood Sample 
 
People v. Pickard (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th Supp. 12 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

RULE: The consent of a defendant to a blood draw for purposes of having her blood tested for 
alcohol does not constitute consent to having the sample tested for drugs.    

FACTS: Defendant was arrested for driving under the influence.  The arresting officer advised her 
that she had a choice of breath or blood testing.  He added that if she chose blood, two vials 
would be drawn and her blood would “get tested for alcohol” by the crime lab.  The officer later 
repeated to defendant that, with respect to a blood draw, two vials would be drawn and “[get] 
tested for alcohol and … that report gets added to my report at a later date.”  Defendant chose a 
blood draw.  The blood was tested for alcohol content.  After getting a low result, the sample was 
tested for drugs—with positive results.  Defendant was charged with driving under the combined 
influence of alcohol and drugs.  She moved to suppress the results of the testing.  The trial court 
denied the motion as to the alcohol results but granted the motion as to the drug results. The 
People appealed.  At issue on appeal was whether, under the circumstances, defendant’s 
consent to testing of her blood also constituted consent to testing of her blood for drugs.  

HELD:  The court held that testing of the sample for drugs violated the Fourth Amendment.  The 
officer limited the scope of the search of the blood by twice indicating that it would “get tested for 
alcohol.”  Under those circumstances, defendant's reasonable expectation would be that her 
blood would be tested only for alcohol.  It was with that understanding that she consented to the 
blood draw. The court found that the blood draw itself was properly obtained and tested for 
alcohol based upon defendant’s consent.  However, the additional drug testing by the lab was a 
violation of defendant’s right to privacy in the content of her blood.  That testing exceeded the 
scope of defendant’s consent as limited by the officer’s words.  Further, the court was not 
convinced that the additional test for drugs was in good faith reliance on the implied consent 
advisement.  The court stated that “presumably” the lab “routinely” sent blood samples for drug 
testing when the alcohol content result was low.  This procedure was a “recurring or systematic 
failure by the law enforcement agency’s personnel to abide by the Fourth Amendment.” 
Therefore, the results of the drug test were properly suppressed by the trial court.   

NOTE:  Pursuant to Vehicle Code section 13384, subdivision (a), the DMV cannot “issue or 
renew a driver's license to any person unless the person consents in writing to submit to a 
chemical test or tests of that person's blood, breath, or urine pursuant to Section 23612, or a 
preliminary alcohol screening test pursuant to Section 23136, when requested to do so by a 
peace officer.”  Subdivision (b) of that section requires applicants for driver’s licenses or renewal 
of driver’s licenses to sign a declaration wherein they agree to “submit to a chemical test of my 
blood, breath, or urine for the purpose of determining the alcohol or drug content of my blood 
when testing is requested by a peace officer acting in accordance with Section 13388 or 23612 of 
the Vehicle Code.”  Arguably, this section constitutes advance consent and would permit an 
officer to require a defendant to submit to a chemical test regardless of whether the defendant 
consents at the time of the arrest.  (But see People v. Mason, discussed next in this guide.)  
However, it does not appear any argument based on this theory was put forth in Pickard.  
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

DUI ADMONITION 
DUI; Blood Extractions and Consent 
 
People v. Mason (2016) 8 Cal.App.5th Supp. 11  
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  Whether a DUI arrestee’s consent to submit to a blood draw is freely and voluntarily 
given is based upon an evaluation of the totality of the circumstances.  An officer’s failure to 
advise a DUI arrestee of the consequences of refusing to submit to such a test is a factor to 
consider in determining whether the arrestee’s consent was valid. 
 
FACTS:  A police officer saw defendant driving the wrong way on a one-way street. Upon 
conducting a traffic stop, the officer smelled the odor of an alcoholic beverage on defendant’s 
breath and noted other indications that she had been drinking.  Defendant admitted to having 
“one or two margaritas” at a nearby restaurant.  Defendant did poorly on field sobriety tests.  The 
officer asked defendant whether she would submit to a preliminary alcohol screening (PAS) test 
and also told her it was “optional.”  Defendant declined.  The officer arrested her for driving while 
under the influence of alcohol.  He told defendant she was “required” (or words to that effect) to 
provide a blood or breath sample. At a motion to suppress the blood alcohol results, the officer 
testified he could not remember the exact words he had used. 
 
The officer testified that his “standard practice” was to tell a DUI arrestee that he or she had a 
choice of providing either a blood or a breath sample and that it was up to the person to decide.  
The officer further testified that he did not advise defendant of any consequences of refusing to 
submit to a blood or breath test.  It was his general practice not to inform an individual about the 
consequences of refusing a chemical test unless and until the person actually refused. He 
believed that he was under no obligation to “let [defendant] know the admonishment on the back 
of the “DS-367 DMV form” unless she declined to “provide a sample.” 
 
Defendant opted to take a blood test.  She did not inquire into other alternatives and did not 
otherwise verbally or physically resist the blood draw.  No search warrant was obtained. The 
officer testified that he had believed a warrant was necessary only if a DUI suspect physically 
resisted the procedure and actual force had to be used.  
 
Defendant was charged with driving under the influence of alcohol and driving with a blood 
alcohol level of 0.08% or more.  The trial court denied defendant’s motion to suppress the results 
of the blood draw.  The court ruled that, although a “very close” case, defendant had voluntarily 
consented to having her blood taken.  Defendant appealed this ruling. 
 
HELD: The Appellate Division of the Santa Clara County Superior Court reversed.  The court 
ruled that, in considering the “totality of the circumstances,” defendant’s consent to the blood 
draw was not voluntary.  The extraction of blood or other materials from a person’s body for 
purposes of chemical testing is a search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment.  For such a 
search to be constitutional, the prosecution must show either that a search warrant had been 
obtained or that an exception to the search warrant requirement existed.  One possible exception 
to the warrant requirement is consent.  Such consent, however, must be freely and voluntarily 
given. “[T]he defendant’s manifestation of consent [must be] the product of his [or her] free will 
and not a mere submission to an express or implied assertion of authority.” 
 
In this case, the court held that defendant’s consent to submit to a blood test was coerced and 
that she merely submitted to an “express or implied assertion of authority.”  In support, the court 
pointed out that defendant declined providing a PAS sample after the officer told her the test was 
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optional.  After defendant was arrested, the officer told her that she was required to provide a 
breath or blood sample but never advised her that she could refuse.  The court called the officer’s 
statement misleading.  Defendant had a Fourth Amendment right to refuse to submit to chemical 
testing.  The court observed that failure to give the full advisement as required by the Vehicle 
Code does not, in and of itself, amount to a constitutional violation.  But such failure is a 
consideration bearing on whether subsequent consent was freely and voluntarily given.  Under 
the particular circumstances presented here, a representation by the officer that submission to a 
chemical test was “required,” without reference to any of the consequences of refusing, may have 
conveyed that there was no actual choice to refuse.  Defendant’s consent, based upon a totality 
of the circumstances, was merely submission to authority. 
 
The court also discussed Vehicle Code section 23612, subdivisions (a)(1)(A) and (B), commonly 
referred to as the “implied consent law.”  Implied consent under this section, by itself, is not actual 
consent. The court stated, “it is not real or actual consent in fact for purposes of the Fourth 
Amendment, though it may be perfectly fine for purposes of administrative proceedings involving 
forfeiture of driving privileges under the implied consent law upon a refusal to submit to a duly 
requested chemical test.”  Actual consent for Fourth Amendment purposes will only be found 
when such implied consent is followed up by circumstances consistent with an arrestee’s free and 
voluntary decision to give consent to a search.  In this case, the circumstances following 
defendant’s arrest suggested that defendant did not believe she had a choice.  Thus, there was 
no actual consent.  The results of her blood test should have been suppressed. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

 

DUI ADMONITION 
DUI; Warrantless Blood Draws and Consent 
 
People v.  Ling (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th Supp. 1 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 

RULE:  Simple acquiescence to taking a chemical test after an arrest for driving under the 
influence may not be considered valid consent to taking the test if the suspect is told only that he 
or she must submit to a chemical test and not also told of the actual consequences of failing to 
submit to a test.  

FACTS:  A CHP officer arrested defendant for driving under the influence.  The officer told 
defendant, “Because you are under arrest for DUI, you have to submit to a chemical test, which is 
a test of either your breath or blood.”  The officer's communication with defendant regarding the 
implied consent law was limited to the instruction that defendant had to submit to a blood or 
breath test.  The officer did not advise defendant of the consequences of failing to submit to a 
chemical test.  Defendant did not choose a test and did not decline any test.  The officer took 
defendant to the CHP office where the only available test was a blood test.  Defendant 
acquiesced to the blood draw in that he did not physically or verbally resist the test.  Defendant 
appealed, claiming the blood draw could not be justified under the implied consent law where he 
did not voluntarily consent to blood draw and his consent to such a search of his bodily fluids 
could not be considered voluntary because, among other things, he was not told of the actual 
consequences for refusing to take the test.  The People responded that, since there was no 
evidence that defendant refused or revoked his consent or that he resisted the blood draw 
procedure in any manner, the warrantless blood draw was consensual under the Fourth 
Amendment.   

HELD:  The court held that a peace officer's failure to abide by the requirements of the implied 
consent law (i.e., failure to use the exact language of the Vehicle Code section 23612 
admonition) does not, per se, violate the Fourth Amendment.  However, the level of compliance 
with the implied consent law is part of the totality of the circumstances considered when 
determining the constitutionality of blood draws that the People attempt to justify by consent.  
Here, under the totality of the circumstances, defendant did not voluntarily consent to blood draw.  
Even though defendant did not physically or verbally resist draw, defendant never agreed to the 
test.  Absent evidence to the contrary, it cannot be presumed that individuals under arrest would 
reasonably construe a direction from an arresting officer that they must take some action as a 
mere query as to whether they will voluntarily consent to it.  Because the arresting police officer 
told defendant that he “had” to submit to a chemical test, without advising defendant of the 
consequences of failing to submit to a test, his admonition implied the test would be conducted 
against defendant's will if necessary.  Acquiescence to lawful authority is not consent and there 
was no other exception to the warrant requirement that would allow for the blood draw.  
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE SEARCH 
Pretext Stops 
 
United States v. Orozco (9th Cir. 2017) 858 F.3d 1204 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  Pretextual detentions are illegal when the pretext used to conduct an investigation of 
“ordinary criminal wrongdoing” is an officer’s statutory administrative authority to conduct 
warrantless and suspicionless inspections and when the detention and search would not have 
occurred but for the officer’s intent to conduct the criminal investigation. 
 
FACTS:  Nevada Trooper Adam Zehr was tasked both with enforcing the traffic and criminal laws 
on Nevada’s highways (Nev. Rev. Stat. § 480.360(1)(b)) as well as with performing limited 
administrative inspections of commercial trucks.  This later responsibility was for the purpose of 
“enforce[ing] the provisions of laws and regulations relating to motor carriers, the safety of their 
vehicles and equipment, and their transportation of hazardous materials and other cargo.”  (Nev. 
Rev. Stat. § 480.360.)  Pursuant to this later administrative responsibility, Trooper Zehr had the 
legal power to “examine, at any time during the business hours of the day, the books, papers and 
records of any fully regulated carrier, and of any other common, contract or private motor carrier 
doing business in this State to the extent necessary for their respective duties.”  (Nev. Rev. Stat. 
§ 706.171(1)(d).)  Nevada has also enacted a “Commercial Vehicle Safety Plan” that complies 
with the Motor Carrier Safety Assistance Program’s requirements for receiving federal highway 
funding by, inter alia, requiring Nevada Highway Patrol troopers to conduct inspections in a 
manner consistent with “the North American Standard [“NAS”] Inspection procedure.”  (49 C.F.R. 
§ 350.211(d).)  A “NAS Level III” inspection includes not only the stop of a vehicle but also an 
entry into the cab for a full review of the driver’s papers.  The administrative purpose of such 
inspections is to prevent and deter dangerous driving by, for example, including a review of the 
driving log which would reveal whether a driver had exceeded the maximum time allowed on the 
road, among other possible safety violations.  In the spring of 2013, Trooper Zehr received 
information from a trucker that another trucking company might possibly be transporting drugs.  
Passing that information up the chain of command, Trooper Zehr was contacted on April 26th by 
a detective who told him that information from that same tipster indicated that defendant’s 
specifically described truck “may possibly have controlled substances” the following day.  On the 
27th, the detective contacted Trooper Zehr again, giving him new information from the tipster 
concerning when and where the truck would be.  The detective warned Zehr, however, “that he 
would have to develop his own probable cause to get the vehicle stopped” because “there could 
possibly be drugs in the vehicle” but “[t]here was nothing solid.”  Based upon this information, 
Troopers Zehr and Boynton drove to the appointed location to wait for the truck.  When 
defendant’s truck appeared, as predicted, Trooper Zehr pulled around another commercial truck, 
got behind defendant’s truck, and pulled it over.  No traffic violations had been observed.  
Although the ostensible reason for the stop was to do a NSA Level III paperwork inspection, 
which the troopers did do, it was clear that defendant’s truck would not have been stopped had it 
not been for the information concerning the possibility that he was transporting drugs.  In fact, 
although numerous violations of the commercial vehicle regulations were discovered, no citations 
were issued.  Instead, the troopers asked for, and received, consent to search defendant’s 
tractor-trailer.  A drug-sniffing dog was used to make a pass around the truck.  The dog made a 
positive alert as to the presence of drugs that was confirmed when the troopers found a duffel 
bag containing twenty-six pounds of methamphetamine and six pounds of heroin in the sleeper 
compartment.  Charged in federal court with two counts of possession with intent to distribute a 
controlled substance, defendant filed a motion to suppress the contraband found in his truck.  
Upon denial of his motion, defendant was convicted and sentenced to 16 years in prison.  
Defendant appealed. 
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HELD: The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed.  It was not an issue in this case whether the 
state troopers had sufficient reasonable suspicion for a stop and detention because that issue 
had been waived by the U.S. Attorney’s failure to argue that reasonable suspicion justified the 
troopers’ actions.  The issue litigated instead was whether a lawful administrative purpose may be 
used as a pretext for a search and seizure that was motivated by an officer’s intent to uncover 
general criminal activity.  Trooper Zehr’s general authority to do an administrative search of a 
commercial truck without reasonable suspicion or probable cause had been upheld in similar 
cases by the U.S. Supreme Court. (See, e.g., New York v. Burger (1987) 482 U.S. 691.)  It had 
also been held that, as a general rule, an officer’s subjective motivations for conducting a seizure 
and/or a search are irrelevant as long as there is some legal theory available under the 
circumstances that justify the officer’s actions.  (Whren v. United States (1996) 517 U.S. 806.)  It 
is undisputed that Trooper Zehr used his NAS Level III inspection authority as a pretext to 
conduct an investigation of “ordinary criminal wrongdoing” concerning defendant’s reported 
transportation of controlled substances.  Testimony from Trooper Zehr and others admitted as 
much, as did concessions by the U.S. Attorney, and the uncontested circumstances of the stop 
supported those admissions.  The Supreme Court in Whren, however, and other cases as listed 
in the written decision in this case (see pp. 1210-1212) point out that one of the exceptions to the 
general legality of pretextual detentions and searches is in the area of administrative searches.  
(Whren, at pp. 811-812.)  The Supreme Court has repeatedly disapproved “pretextual searches 
that were undertaken pursuant to valid administrative schemes.”  To allow warrantless and 
suspicionless administrative searches as a means to avoid the probable cause and warrant 
requirements of the Fourth Amendment in cases where the real purpose of a detention or a 
search is to conduct a criminal investigation of “ordinary criminal wrongdoing” would serve only to 
sidestep the requirements of the Fourth Amendment itself.  However, this does not mean that the 
presence of a criminal investigatory motive, by itself, will necessarily render an administrative 
stop and search pretextual in all cases.  The presence of a “dual motive—one valid and one 
impermissible”—does not necessarily make the resulting detention or search illegal.  Applying an 
objective test, the court here held that a pretextual administrative search will be held to be illegal 
only in those cases where the officer would not have made the stop or search except for the 
presence of what is later determined to be an invalid purpose.  “[E]ven an ‘unlawful secondary 
search purpose’ does not ‘invalidate [an] otherwise lawful administrative . . . search’ when . . . 
“the searching officer’s actions would have been the same regardless of his true motivation.’”  In 
this case, except for the information Trooper Zehr had concerning defendant’s possible 
transportation of contraband in his truck, he would not have stopped defendant and conducted 
the search that he did.  This fact was sufficient to find that the use of the trooper’s administrative 
search authority as an excuse to conduct a criminal investigation constitutes an illegal pretextual 
search.  The evidence in this case should have been suppressed.  
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

SEARCH WARRANTS 
Search Warrants and the Particularity Requirement 
 
People v. Camel (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 989   
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

RULE:  A warrant permitting a search broad in scope may be appropriate under some 
circumstances but not in others.  The warrant’s language must be read in context and with 
common sense.  Listing “any vehicle” on the property in a search warrant for a suspect’s 
residence is not per se overbroad.   
 
FACTS:  Camel was the suspect in two separate shooting murders.  Investigating officers 
obtained a search warrant for the home Camel shared with his mother.  In addition to the 
residence itself, the warrant authorized the search of two specific vehicles.  It also authorized the 
search of “any vehicles under the control of [the real property] or the occupants of the premises to 
be searched, at the time the warrant is to be served, as established by DMV documents and 
records, possession of keys or actual use of the vehicles and/or statements of the witnesses.”  
When the warrant was executed, an inoperable green Saturn, which was not one of the two listed 
vehicles, was on the front lawn of the residence.  Camel’s mother claimed a friend had left the car 
there, but a records check revealed that a release of liability for the car was in fact issued to 
Camel’s mother.  An officer found a rifle in the trunk. The rifle was later determined to be one of 
the murder weapons.  Prior to trial, Camel moved to suppress the rifle, arguing the warrant 
authorizing the search of the Saturn was impermissibly overbroad.   The trial court denied the 
motion, and Camel was convicted at trial.  He appealed. 
 
HELD:  The Court of Appeal affirmed, finding the search lawful.  Defendant unsuccessfully 
argued the warrant was unconstitutionally overbroad because it allowed the search of “any 
vehicles” on the property.  The court, noting that defendant had cited no authority for this 
argument, disagreed.  In determining whether a warrant is overbroad, relevant considerations 
include the purpose of the warrant and the nature of the items sought.  Here, the affidavit 
established Camel was the principal suspect and lived at the residence.  Thus, it was reasonable 
to believe he may have stashed evidence of the shooting murders in any vehicle on the premises.  
The same probable cause that connected Camel to the inside of the residence also connected 
him to the Saturn on the front lawn.  Under the circumstances of this case, a search warrant 
listing “any vehicle” found on the premises as a likely depository of evidence was not overbroad.   
 
NOTE: Additional facts in this case set up a great discussion point.  When the officer found the 
rifle, the search of the green Saturn was halted so investigating officers could get a second 
warrant specifically authorizing the search of the Saturn.  The Camel court never discussed what 
information was included in the second affidavit.  Ideally, the affidavit would have described the 
Saturn as inoperable, set forth exactly where it had been located on the property, and would have 
explained how Camel’s mother’s misinformation about ownership appeared to be an attempt to 
disassociate the Saturn from the residence (and thus from Camel).  In addition, the affidavit would 
include information that, in the affiant’s training and experience, the Saturn would be a likely 
depository of evidence of Camel’s crimes.  However, the affidavit should not have included 
anything about items found in the Saturn.  That way, probable cause would be evaluated by the 
magistrate without knowing that the officers already knew the rifle (arguably based upon an illegal 
observation) was in the trunk.  Such an “omission” would not invalidate the second warrant 
because, if the rifle's presence in the Saturn had been added, it would only add to probable 
cause.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

PROBATION SEARCHES 
Cell Phone Searches 
 
People v. Sandee (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 294 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  When determining whether a search based on a Fourth Amendment waiver includes the 
text messages in a probationer’s cell phone, the test is what a reasonable person would have 
understood from the language of the waiver condition itself.  Prior to the passage of CalECPA, 
where a probationer has agreed generally to suspicionless searches of her property and personal 
effects, it is reasonable to believe that this waiver includes the contents of a cell phone. 
 
FACTS:  On September 23, 2015, San Diego County Sheriff’s Department detectives conducted 
surveillance of a house where narcotics activity was suspected of occurring.  Eventually, they 
observed Sandee and a male companion riding up to the house on bicycles.  They entered the 
house “for a period of time” and then rode away.  As they did so, a detective observed them blow 
a red light and conducted a traffic stop.  Sandee admitted to being on probation and subject to 
search and seizure conditions.  After the detective verified that Sandee had a valid Fourth 
Amendment waiver covering property in her residence, vehicle, person, and place of work, he 
searched her backpack and found a hypodermic needle.  He also conducted a search of 
defendant's cell phone and found several text messages that he believed were indications she 
was currently involved in selling narcotics.  The detective took photos of the text messages and 
noted them in his report.  The detective also found a bag containing 6.9 grams of 
methamphetamine lying next to a bush near where Sandee had stopped her bike.  Charged with 
several drug-related offenses, defendant filed a motion to suppress the information obtained from 
her cell phone.  Concluding that the detective’s search of defendant’s cell phone for text 
messages was within the scope of her Fourth Amendment waiver, the trial court denied the 
motion.  Sandee thereafter pled guilty, was sentenced to probation, and appealed. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed.  The only issue on appeal concerned the legality of a 
warrantless search of a cell phone belonging to a person who is subject to Fourth waiver 
conditions.  Since the U.S. Supreme Court decided the case of Riley v. California (2014) 134 
S.Ct. 2473, the rule has been that a law enforcement officer may not conduct a search of a 
person’s cell phone without a warrant, even incident to arrest, unless an applicable exception to 
the warrant requirement applies.  This is based upon the conclusion that, because of all the 
potentially personal information contained in today’s cell phones, “[c]ell phones differ in both a 
quantitative and a qualitative sense from other objects that might be carried on an arrestee’s 
person.”  Cell phones are thus entitled to a higher expectation of privacy than other objects a 
person might have in his or her pocket.  Sandee, however, waived her right to be free from 
warrantless and suspicionless searches as a condition of probation.  Specifically, she agreed to 
“[s]ubmit person, vehicle, place of residence, property, personal effects to search at any time with 
or without a warrant, and with or without reasonable cause.”  The detective in this case relied on 
this probation search condition to conduct the warrantless search of defendant’s cell phone.  The 
California Supreme Court held years ago (see People v. Bravo (1987) 43 Cal.3d 600, 606) that, 
when interpreting the scope of a Fourth Amendment waiver agreed to by a probationer, the 
“waiver of [the defendant’s] Fourth Amendment rights must be interpreted on the basis of an 
objective test.”  Under this approach, the "search condition must . . . be interpreted on the basis 
of what a reasonable person would understand from the language of the condition itself, not on 
the basis of appellant’s subjective understanding, or under a strict test in which a presumption 
against waiver is applied.”  Defendant’s conditions included the warrantless search of her 
“property” and “personal effects.”  The court ruled here that, at the time the search was 
conducted, a reasonable, objective person would have understood this to encompass a search of 
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defendant’s cellphone.  Defendant, however, argued that the recent federal Ninth Circuit Court of 
Appeals decision of U.S. v. Lara (9th Cir. 2016) 815 F.3d 605 dictates that a probationer’s cell 
phone is not subject to warrantless searches unless the search conditions at issue are clear that 
a cellphone is included in the “property” to be searched.  The state Court of Appeal, however, 
noted that the federal Ninth Circuit uses a different standard for determining the legality of a 
Fourth Amendment waiver search, namely, a “balancing approach” that consists of “assessing, 
on the one hand, the degree to which [the search] intrudes upon an individual’s privacy and, on 
the other, the degree to which it is needed for the promotion of legitimate governmental interests.”   
The state Court of Appeal held that, because the decision in Lara is not binding on California 
courts, Lara is not persuasive authority in California.  Unless and until the U.S. Supreme Court 
dictates that People v. Bravo is no longer good law, defendant’s argument that Lara requires a 
reversal will not prevail.   
 
Sandee further argued that California’s recently enacted Electronic Communications Pr ivacy Act 
(“CalECPA”; Pen. Code, §§ 1546 et seq.) required the suppression of her text messages in this 
case.  CalECPA states that a government entity shall not “[a]ccess electronic device information 
by means of physical interaction or electronic communication with the electronic device” unless 
one of several statutory exceptions applies, including obtaining the specific consent of the 
authorized possessor of the device.”  (Pen. Code, § 1546.1, subds. (a)(3), (c)(4).)  However, 
CalECPA wasn’t effective until January 1, 2016.  Defendant’s arrest was in 2013.  The court 
declined to apply CalECPA retroactively because, prior to its enactment, it would not have been 
reasonable to assume that Sandee’s probation conditions did not allow for the retrieval of text 
messages from her cell phone.  Similarly, the court rejected the applicability of the recent case of 
In re I.V. (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 249 to this case.  In re I.V. held that a probation condition 
requiring the minor to submit his “property” and “any property under [his] immediate ... control” to 
search at any time was unconstitutionally vague as to whether it encompassed electronic devices 
and data in light of CalECPA.  Noting again that CalECPA wasn’t effective until 2016, In re I.V. 
did not apply to Sandee’s case.  Thus, the court held that the search of defendant’s cell phone as 
a condition of her probation was lawful. 
 

NOTE:  In the aftermath of CalECPA, it is important for officers to check every time to confirm the 
exact wording of a probationer's Fourth Amendment waiver.  It may or may not authorize the 
search of electronic communication devices such as cell phones, and caution is advised absent 
specific and explicit language relating to such devices.  Penal Code section 1546.1, subdivision 
(c)(10), states an exception to CalECPA's general prohibition on searches of electronic 
communication devices: “Except where prohibited by state or federal law, if the device is seized 
from an authorized possessor of the device who is subject to an electronic device search as a 
clear and unambiguous condition of probation, mandatory supervision, or pretrial release."   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

PROBATION SEARCHES 
Searches of Containers in Vehicles; Probation and Parole Searches of 
Vehicles; Inevitable Discovery Doctrine 
 
People v. Cervantes (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 860    
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  The rule that an officer may lawfully conduct a warrantless search of the passenger 
compartment in a vehicle where an officer reasonably expects that a parolee/passenger could 
have stowed personal belongings or discarded illegal items applies also to probationers with a 
Fourth Amendment waiver condition.  The inevitable discovery doctrine will save illegally 
discovered evidence if it is reasonable to believe that, after an officer has found other evidence 
legally, that legally seized evidence would have provided the necessary probable cause to look 
for the illegally seized evidence.     
 
FACTS:  Cervantes was stopped by San Diego Police Officers Peter Larson and Thomas Cooper 
for an expired registration tab on his car.  A female, who verbally identified herself as Sarah Craft, 
was sitting in the front passenger seat.  The officers quickly determined that her real name was 
Tiffany Craft, that she had an outstanding felony warrant, and that she was subject to a probation 
Fourth Amendment waiver.  Officer Larson decided to search the vehicle based upon Craft’s 
waiver of her search and seizure rights.  The officer began by searching two bags on the 
backseat behind the driver’s seat.  Despite first observing men’s toiletries and clothing, he 
continued searching and found a large amount of methamphetamine, heroin, and some drug 
paraphernalia.  Officer Larson then searched the center console, where he found more 
methamphetamine.  A search of defendant’s person resulted in the recovery of a glass pipe and 
$300 in cash.  After his arrest, Cervantes admitted to transporting the drugs from Los Angeles to 
San Diego.  Charged with several drug-related offenses, defendant filed a motion to suppress 
before his preliminary hearing.  The motion was denied.  He filed another motion to suppress in 
the trial court, challenging the legality of the search.  Again his motion was denied.  Cervantes 
pled guilty and was sentenced to three years probation with one year in county jail.  He appealed. 
  
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed.  On appeal, defendant argued that his car was searched 
unlawfully.  The controlling authority argued by both sides was the California Supreme Court case 
of People v. Schmitz (2012) 55 Cal.4th 909.  Schmitz held that a warrantless search of those 
areas of a vehicle's passenger compartment where an officer reasonably expects that a 
parolee/passenger could have stowed personal belongings or discarded items when aware of 
police activity, as well as a search of personal property located in those areas if the officer 
reasonably believes that the parolee owns those items or has the ability to exert control over 
them, is lawful.  Noting that courts have found probationers have a somewhat higher expectation 
of privacy than parolees, Cervantes argued that because Craft was a probationer, as opposed to 
a parolee, Schmitz does not apply.  The court, analyzing Schmitz in detail, disagreed.  In the 
context of a vehicle search, the court noted that (1) both parolees and probationers have 
demonstrated histories of criminal activity and share a motivation to conceal further criminal 
activity and (2) a driver's already-diminished expectation of privacy in his or her vehicle is even 
further diminished when transporting a passenger, particularly one subject to warrantless and 
suspicionless parole or probation searches.  In a vehicle, both drivers and passengers have a 
reduced expectation of privacy in the interior of the automobile, as well as its contents, because 
cars travel public thoroughfares, seldom serve as the repository of personal effects, are subjected 
to police stop and examination to enforce pervasive governmental controls as an everyday 
occurrence, and, finally, are exposed to traffic accidents that may render all their contents open to 
public scrutiny.  The court found these basic rules hold true whether the passenger was a parolee 
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or a probationer.  The court, therefore, found that the rule of Schmitz applies to probationers with 
a Fourth Amendment waiver to the same extent as parolees. 
 
Cervantes also argued that, when Officer Larson first looked into the bags and found clothing and 
toiletries associated with a male, he should have realized that there would be nothing in there 
belonging to Craft, a female.  The court declined to decide this issue, however, ruling that the 
“inevitable discovery” doctrine applies in this case.  Pursuant to the inevitable discovery doctrine, 
if the government can prove that the evidence in issue would have inevitably and lawfully been 
discovered regardless of any overreaching by the police, then whether a particular search was 
lawful is no longer relevant.  In this case, the court held that Officer Larson had cause, per 
Schmitz, to search the center console of defendant’s vehicle.  Clearly, with the center console 
being within inches of where Craft was sitting, that was an area Officer Larson could have 
reasonably expected her to hide contraband, and he would have inevitably searched it anyway.  
The court found that, had Officer Larson chosen to search the center console first, finding the 
methamphetamine that was in there would have provided him with the necessary probable cause 
to search the rest of the vehicle and any containers found in the vehicle, including the two bags 
on the back seat.  Inevitably, the two bags would therefore have been searched lawfully.  The 
court ruled that, “although Officer Larson happened to have begun his search of defendant's car 
by searching the toiletries bag and plastic drawstring bag in the backseat, he inevitably would 
have also searched the center console, and been legally justified in doing so.”  Thus, defendant’s 
motion to suppress was properly denied. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

MANDATORY SUPERVISION / PAROLE 
Penal Code Section 1170, Subdivision (h)(5); Mandatory Supervision 
Searches 
 
United States v. Cervantes (9th Cir. 2017) 859 F.3d 1175 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  An individual on Mandatory Community Supervision is subject to warrantless, 
suspicionless searches of his residence and any premises over which he has control.  Such a 
probationer has the privacy rights of a parolee rather than the less restrictive rights of an actual 
probationer.  
 
FACTS:  Defendant was serving a split sentence pursuant to California’s Criminal Justice 
Realignment Act of 2011 for drug and counterfeiting charges.  A “split sentence” under 
Realignment is a “local prison” sentence, which used to be served in State Prison, followed by a 
period of “mandatory supervision” that takes the place of true parole.  Offenders on mandatory 
supervision are supervised in a similar manner to offenders who are on probation: “During the 
period of mandatory supervision, the defendant shall be supervised by the county probation 
officer in accordance with the terms, conditions, and procedures generally applicable to persons 
placed on probation, for the remaining unserved portion of the sentence imposed by the court.”  
(Pen. Code, § 1170, subd. (h)(5)(B).)  As part of his plea bargain, defendant agreed to abide by 
certain conditions during the period of mandatory supervision, including a warrantless and 
suspicionless search condition.  After serving his in-custody “local prison” time, defendant was 
released and began his mandatory supervision.  While on mandatory supervision, defendant and 
his girlfriend were stopped by a police officer for jaywalking.  Defendant told the officer that he 
was on probation and subject to search conditions, a fact the officer confirmed via a radio records 
check.  Defendant was searched, and a hotel room key was located in his pocket.  Defendant told 
the officer that he and his girlfriend were staying at the hotel and, although the room was rented 
in her name, his personal belongings were in the room.  Nothing found during the search of 
defendant’s person or disclosed during questioning gave the officer any reason to suspect that 
defendant was engaged in criminal activity, and the two were released without being cited.  
However, unbeknownst to defendant or his girlfriend, the officer immediately went to search 
defendant’s hotel room without a warrant and was admitted into the room by hotel employees.  
Upon searching the room, the officer found counterfeit currency in various stages of production, 
along with equipment used to make it, in plain sight.  Defendant was subsequently arrested and 
charged in federal court with unlawfully possessing counterfeit currency and images of counterfeit 
currency.  Defendant’s motion to suppress was denied, and defendant was convicted.  Defendant 
appealed. 
 
HELD: The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.  On appeal, defendant argued that the 
warrantless, suspicionless search of his hotel room violated the Fourth Amendment.  In rejecting 
defendant’s argument, the 9th Circuit first recognized that persons subject to search and seizure 
conditions are generally divided into two categories: probationers and parolees.  Parolees are 
generally entitled to less protection than probationers, given the increased seriousness of their 
crimes, resulting in them being subjected to stricter scrutiny.  Mandatory supervision is really 
neither probation nor parole, but rather on the continuum of punishments somewhere between 
the two.  The 9th Circuit found that “(t)he State’s interest in supervising offenders placed on 
mandatory supervision is considerably stronger than its interest in supervising probationers. A 
defendant receives mandatory supervision as part of a sentence of imprisonment, only after a 
court determines that a sentence of probation is not appropriate.”  Probation, on the other hand, 
is in lieu of such punishment.  Deciding, therefore, that mandatory supervision is “more akin to 
parole than probation,” at least for Fourth Amendment purposes, the court found that defendant 
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should be held to the standards of a parolee, rather than one who is placed on local probation.  
California courts are in accord, holding that a split sentence under Penal Code section 1170, 
subdivision (h)(5), is “akin to a state prison commitment,” and that mandatory supervision is 
therefore “more similar to parole than probation.” (See People v. Martinez (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 
759, 763.)  This is an important distinction because the U.S. Supreme Court has held that the 
residence of a parolee may be subjected to warrantless, suspicionless, searches, so long as this 
is a condition he agreed to under the terms of his release.  For a probationer, however, under the 
Ninth Circuit’s previous holdings, suspicionless searches of a probationer’s home are only valid if 
the crime for which the person was on probation is a violent felony.  Therefore, by finding 
mandatory supervision more similar to parole, the 9th Circuit found that those on mandatory 
supervision could be subjected to the warrantless and suspicionless searches agreed to as part 
of release from custody.  The 9th Circuit rejected defendant’s argument that there was insufficient 
evidence to show that hotel room was subject to his search waiver. In this case, defendant’s 
search condition authorized warrantless, suspicionless searches of his “residence” and any 
“premises” under his control.  Recognizing that a “premises” may be different than one’s 
“residence,” the 9th Circuit found that the evidence supported the conclusion that the hotel room 
in this case was still a “premises” under defendant’s control.  The evidence presented showed 
that he had the key to the room in his pocket, he told the officer that he was staying there and his 
possessions were in the room.  Additionally, although the room had been rented with his 
girlfriend’s credit card, it was clear that the two were co-occupants.  Finding the standard as to 
whether defendant was at least in joint control over the hotel room to be “probable cause,” this 
standard was clearly met based upon the evidence in this case.  Also, to be a “reasonable” 
search under the Fourth Amendment, the search must not have been conducted in an “arbitrary, 
capricious, or harassing” manner. The 9th Circuit found no evidence that officers conducted the 
search for an improper purpose, such as a desire to harass him or out of personal animosity 
toward him, appearing instead to have conducted the search solely for legitimate law-
enforcement purposes. Based upon all of the above, the court held that the trial court had 
properly denied defendant’s motion to suppress. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

MIRANDA 
Anticipatory Invocation in a DUI Context 
 
Robertson v. Pichon (9th Cir. 2017) 849 F.3d 1173 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  In the context of an arrest for driving while intoxicated, a police inquiry as to whether the 
suspect will take a blood-alcohol test is not typically an interrogation within the meaning of 
Miranda.  As such, asking for an attorney at that time does not necessarily preclude questioning 
of the suspect following a subsequent waiver of rights.  
 
FACTS:  Defendant partied hard with friends at a restaurant in Palo Alto, California.  Twenty-four 
shots helped wash down mixed drinks over the course of four hours.  An intoxicated defendant 
eventually left the restaurant and attempted to drive home, only to be stopped by Agent Dan 
Ryan of the Palo Alto Police Department who observed him cut off another driver.  An 
uncooperative and mouthy defendant did poorly on a field sobriety test and was arrested for 
driving while under the influence of alcohol.  Officer David Guy, who covered Agent Ryan, 
recovered a billy club lying between the driver and passenger seats of defendant’s truck.  Upon 
being take to the police station, defendant refused to take a breath or blood test.  At that point 
Agent Ryan gave Robertson a form issued by the California Department of Motor Vehicles which 
noted, among other legal consequences for refusing to provide a breath or blood sample, that 
defendant did “not have the right to talk to an attorney or have an attorney present before stating 
whether you will submit to a test, before deciding which test to take, or during the test. . . .”  
Defendant read the form and then immediately told Agent Ryan that he wanted to speak with his 
attorney before submitting to any chemical test.  Pointing to the part of the form that said he did 
not have that right, defendant told Agent Ryan, “See, I have the right to an attorney right here, 
and I want my attorney.”  Agent Ryan tried to correct this misreading of the attorney restriction 
but, when he asked defendant again to take a breath test, defendant responded, “Absolutely not.”  
In response to another request to take a blood test, defendant replied, “No, I will not take a blood 
test.”  Shortly thereafter, Agent Ryan read defendant his Miranda warnings.  After reading 
defendant his rights, Agent Ryan asked defendant if the billy club that Officer Guy found in his 
truck belonged to him.  Defendant responded: “Yes, it belonged in the truck.”  Defendant then 
asked “if it was a misdemeanor to possess that in California.” Agent Ryan explained to him that it 
could be charged as a felony or a misdemeanor and showed him a copy of the California Penal 
Code so he could read the law for himself.  Defendant was subsequently charged in state court 
with driving while under the influence of alcohol (Veh .Code, § 23152, subd. (a)), along with an 
enhancement for refusing to submit to a chemical test (Veh. Code, § 23577), and one count of 
the misdemeanor possession of a billy club (Pen. Code, § 12020, subd. (a)(1)), as these offenses 
read in 2006, the year of defendant’s arrest.  At trial, defendant’s admissions related to the billy 
club were offered as evidence.  After conviction on all charges, denials of his state court appeals, 
and denial of his petition for a writ of habeas corpus in federal District Court, defendant appealed 
to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. 
 
HELD: The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.  The primary issue was whether defendant’s 
Miranda rights had been violated by the state trial court’s admission into testimony his statements 
about the billy club.  However, on appeal from a denial of a federal writ of habeas corpus, the 
issue is not whether the federal court believes a Miranda violation occurred but rather whether the 
state court’s decision that there was no Miranda violation: (1) “was contrary to, or involved an 
unreasonable application of, clearly established Federal law,” as determined by the U.S. 
Supreme Court; or (2) whether the decision “was based on an unreasonable determination of the 
facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding.”  Defendant argued the 
state trial court’s failure to suppress his statements regarding the billy club after defendant had 



Go to Previous Page / Back (Press Alt + Left Arrow)              

 

 
 

74 

clearly requested an attorney violated his Fifth Amendment rights under the principles set forth by 
the United States Supreme Court in Edwards v. Arizona (1981) 451 U.S. 477.  Per Edwards, 
once an in-custody criminal suspect specifically asks for the assistance of an attorney, all 
questioning must cease until he himself reinitiates the questioning, an attorney is provided for 
him, or he is released.   However, the Ninth Circuit pointed out that Edwards involved a 
defendant’s invocation to an attorney that occurred while he was in custody and being 
interrogated.  “Miranda safeguards come into play whenever a person in custody is subjected to 
either express questioning or its functional equivalent.”  In the current case, defendant was in fact 
in custody but not yet subject to an interrogation at the time he asked for the assistance of an 
attorney.  “In the context of an arrest for driving while intoxicated, a police inquiry as to whether 
the suspect will take a blood-alcohol test is not an interrogation within the meaning of Miranda.”  
As such, asking for an attorney at that time does not preclude questioning of the suspect 
following a subsequent waiver of rights.  The United States Supreme Court has never specifically 
decided whether asking for an attorney under the circumstances present in this case (i.e., while 
explaining to him the legal consequences of a refusal and how he is not entitled to the assistance 
of counsel in deciding what to do) constitutes an Edwards-invocation.  Thus, the state court could 
have reasonably concluded that Agent Ryan’s request that defendant submit to chemical testing 
did not in fact constitute a custodial interrogation.  If not an interrogation, then asking for an 
attorney at that point was premature and legally ineffective.  Defendant was properly denied 
relief. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

MIRANDA 
Implied Waivers; Re-initiation of Interrogation After an Invocation of 
Silence 
 
People v. Parker (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1184 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  (1) A waiver of an in-custody suspect’s Miranda rights may be implied, depending upon 
the circumstances.  (2)  After an invocation of one’s right to silence, re-initiation of an 
interrogation concerning other cases, with a corresponding waiver of rights, is not improper. 
 
FACTS:  Defendant, while a Marine stationed in Tustin in Orange County, committed six home-
invasion rape/murders in ten months between 1978 and 1979.  As a result of these crimes (with 
defendant’s identity as the murderer being unknown until 1996), he was nicknamed by the news 
media as the “Bedroom Basher” in that he beat each of his victims to death.  Five of his victims 
died from massive head injuries caused by being struck with a blunt object with such force their 
skulls were fractured.  One of defendant’s victims survived.  However, the assault resulted in the 
death of her unborn fetus.  (1) Sandra Fry: Seventeen-year-old Fry was discovered by her 
roommate in their Anaheim apartment on the evening of December 1, 1978, nude from the waist 
down and bleeding from head injuries.  She died shortly thereafter from those head injuries, 
caused by an unknown number of blows to her head by a blunt instrument such as a baseball 
bat, two-by-four, or metal pipe.  Defendant was identified as the killer in 1996 through DNA and a 
latent fingerprint left at the scene.  When eventually interrogated, defendant admitted to this 
offense, telling investigators that he entered Fry’s apartment intending to rape her, hit her with a 
two-by-four, and then ejaculated on Fry before leaving her dying on her bed.  (2) Kimberly 
Rawlins:  Twenty-one-year-old Rawlins was found by her roommate at about 4:45 a.m. in their 
Costa Mesa apartment on April 1, 1979, lying half on and half off of her bed.  Wearing only a 
robe, Rawlins’ face had been severely beaten.  She died later at the hospital from blunt force 
trauma to her head.  Defendant was again matched in 1996 through DNA found on a tampon 
Rawlins had been wearing. When eventually interrogated, defendant admitted to this murder, 
entering her apartment with the intent to rape her, and using a two-by-four to beat Rawlins to 
death.  However, he did not remember if he raped her. (3) Marolyn Carleton: In the early morning 
hours of September 15, 1979, Costa Mesa Police Officers responded to a call from the nine-year-
old son of 31-year-old Carlton.  She was found lying on the master bedroom floor, partially 
propped up against the bed and nightstand in her apartment.  Her face and hair were covered 
with blood and there was a large wound on the top of her skull.  The short nightgown she was 
wearing had been pulled up above her waist and her underwear was down.  Transported to the 
hospital, she died the next day from blunt force trauma to her head.  A rape kit taken from 
Carleton after her admission to the hospital yielded insufficient biological evidence for any type of 
testing or analysis.  In defendant’s 1996 interrogation, he admitted to hitting her in the head three 
or four times with what he thought might have been a two-by-four, with the intention of knocking 
her unconscious so he could rape her.  He admitted attempting to sexually assault her but could 
not recall if he got an erection or ejaculated.  (4) Baby Chantal Green:  On September 30, 1979, 
Tustin Police responded to a 9-1-1 call from D. Green’s husband.  They found the nine-month 
pregnant D., age 20, in the bedroom, unconscious, and lying nude on the bed with her legs 
spread apart.  With injuries to her head (“a two-inch hole in the middle of her forehead,” with 
“exposed brain tissue”), she was transported to the hospital where her fetus, named Chantal, was 
delivered stillborn.  The pathologist later testified that the blunt force traumatic injury caused D.’s 
body to shift the oxygenated blood to her heart, lungs and brain, resulting in her uterus receiving 
less oxygenated blood.  Chantal died from intrauterine anoxia caused by the marked decrease in 
the oxygenation of her mother's blood.  D. survived but was in a coma for 10 days before 
regaining consciousness.  She had total amnesia and could not remember anyone or (to her 
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husband’s detriment) anything. She had to learn to talk and spell all over again, a process that 
took years.  D. eventually regained her memory, but at the time of defendant’s trial, some 17 
years later, she still had problems communicating.  Meanwhile, D.’s husband was convicted of 
the second degree murder of Chantal and of attempting to murder D.  He went to prison in 
November 1980 for a term of 15 years to life.  However, subsequent testing of the sperm on the 
vaginal swab from D.’s rape kit revealed a DNA profile that matched defendant. In June 1996, 
D.’s husband was finally released from custody with his convictions set aside and the case 
against him dismissed.  When interrogated in 1996, defendant admitted to entering the victim’s 
apartment after D.’s husband left, following an argument.  He found D. in the bedroom where he 
hit her with a board and raped her.  (5) Debora Kennedy:  Twenty-four-year-old Kennedy was 
found by her sister in their apartment in Tustin, lying in an exaggerated spread-eagle position on 
a blood-soaked mattress on the floor of her bedroom, clothed only in a robe.  She had massive 
blunt force trauma to her face and showed no signs of life.  Kennedy died from blunt force trauma 
to the head.  Subsequent testing of the sperm swabbed from Kennedy’s body revealed a DNA 
profile that matched defendant.  When later interrogated, defendant admitted to hitting Kennedy 
on the head with the mallet he’d found in a nearby pickup truck, raping her, and ejaculating inside 
her.  (6)  Debra Senior:  Seventeen-year-old Senior was found dead in her Fountain Valley 
apartment bedroom by her roommate at about 2:30 a.m. on October 20, 1979.  Senior was lying 
on the floor of her bedroom near her torn underwear, unclothed except for a pair of socks, a torn 
blouse, and an unsnapped bra pulled up around her shoulders. She died from severe head 
trauma.  Subsequent testing of the sperm swabbed from Senior’s body revealed a DNA profile 
that matched defendant.  Defendant’s palm print was found on the bathroom windowsill; the point 
of entry.  When interrogated, defendant admitted to hitting Senior with a two-by-four, removing 
her underwear, raping her, and ejaculating inside her.   
 
Shortly after this last murder, defendant was transferred by the Marine Corps to El Toro where 
separated from the service.  In 1996, he was in prison on an unrelated matter when the advent of 
DNA testing led Costa Mesa Police Department Detective William Redmond to defendant.  
Detective Redmond had in hand the DNA test results that linked defendant to the above 
homicides.  On June 14, 1996, Detective Redmond, Investigator Lynda Giesler, and Tustin Police 
Department Investigator Thomas Tarpley drove to Avenal State Prison to serve a search warrant 
on defendant and to interrogate him.  Redmond and Giesler spoke to defendant first.  After 
advising defendant of his Miranda rights, but without obtaining an express waiver, defendant was 
told that DNA connected him with “a couple of Costa Mesa homicides back in 1979.”  Defendant 
never denied the allegations but indicated that the heavy use of drugs and alcohol around that 
time left him with a lot of blank periods in his life.  When told that his DNA matched that found on 
four of the victims, defendant responded; “I don't know what to tell you.”  After Investigator Giesler 
encouraged him to confess and “[g]et the monkey off your back,” defendant responded with; “the 
day is not today” and “I think I should wait until later on . . . . I just need some time to . . . to draw 
upon some strength. . . . To say what I have to say.”  He told Redmond and Giesler to come back 
after he was transferred to Orange County jail in 23 days.  Taking this as an invocation of his right 
to remain silent, at least for now, Giesler agreed.  But she told defendant that another 
investigator, Detective Tarpley from Tustin, had come with them and wanted to talk to him.  
Redmond and Giesler left the interview room as Detective Tarpley entered. Tarpley re-advised 
defendant of his Miranda rights.  Defendant expressly waived his rights and agreed to talk to him 
“about why I’m here today.”  After going through some background information, Detective Tarpley 
showed defendant a picture of Debora Kennedy (Victim # 5).  Defendant denied knowing 
anything about her. Tarpley also described the Green case (Victims #4; D. and Baby Chantal 
Green).  Defendant recalled reading about this case and then asked if D.’s husband, a fellow-
Marine who defendant knew had been convicted of this offense, was on death row.  Tarpley said 
he didn’t know.  Defendant then admitted that it was “possible” he had killed someone while 
under the influence of drugs because sometimes he “black[ed] out” and would do and say things 
he did not remember.  Detective Tarpley urged defendant: “Today's the day that you take control 
and you say . . . I'm going to do the right thing, and that’s what we’re here for . . . . And that’s 
what I'm asking you to do. . . . Can you do that for me?”  In response, defendant asked, “Is Costa 
Mesa still here?”  Tarpley replied affirmatively. Defendant asked to use the bathroom, stating, 
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“then we can . . . get this over with.”  Detective Redmond and Investigator Giesler joined Tarpley 
in the interview room shortly thereafter.  Defendant then proceeded to confess to the Costa Mesa 
and Tustin homicides.  Defendant was subsequently interrogated by Anaheim Police Detective 
Richard Raulston and Sergeant Steven Rodig regarding Sandra Fry’s (Victim #1) case.  Detective 
Raulston interviewed defendant a second time (when it was discovered that a portion of the first 
taped interview had been accidentally erased).  Detective Redmond and Investigator Giesler also 
interviewed him again because they wanted defendant’s confession on videotape.  Defendant 
was re-advised of his Miranda rights before these interviews, expressly waiving them each time.  
Each interview resulted in defendant providing more details.  Charged with six homicides and 
special circumstances (multiple murder and murder during the attempted commission or 
commission of the crimes of rape and burglary), defendant was convicted of all counts and 
allegations and was sentenced to death.  His appeal to the California Supreme Court was 
automatic.   
 
HELD: The California Supreme Court affirmed.  One of the issues on appeal was the 
admissibility of his various confessions.  Specifically, defendant argued that his incriminating 
statements were obtained without a valid waiver of his Miranda rights and that he had repeatedly 
invoked his right to silence during the initial interrogation. 
(1)  Implied Waiver:  Defendant was interviewed five times, expressly waiving his rights in every 
interview except the first.  Defendant argued that he had never waived his rights in the first 
interview, invalidating every interview that followed.  To be valid, a waiver under Miranda must be 
“knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made.”  Because defendant’s crimes occurred prior to 
passage of Proposition 8 (June 9, 1982), the legal rules effective at that time applied to his case.  
At that time, it was the prosecution’s burden to prove the voluntariness of a Miranda waiver 
“beyond a reasonable doubt.”  (Post Proposition 8, the federal rule of “by a preponderance of the 
evidence” is to be used in California.  “‘[T]he date of the crime, and not the date of the confession, 
is the controlling benchmark’ for the proper burden of proof.”)  In defendant’s first interview, 
Detective Redmond advised defendant of his Miranda rights.  Although defendant indicated that 
he understood his rights, he was never formally asked to waive those rights, and he did not 
volunteer to do so.  Instead, defendant was asked: “Do you want to talk to us about . . . anything 
that might have occurred back, '79, '80”?  To this, defendant responded, “‘79, ‘80, why, why 
would I want to talk to you about something that occurred back then?”  Detective Redmond then 
said: “Well, some things have come up and . . . we need to talk to you about them, you can stop 
talking at any time.”  Defendant responded: “I can’t . . . imagine why I would want to talk with the 
Costa Mesa Police Department.”  So Detective Redmond explained to defendant how DNA had 
linked him with some murders, telling defendant: “[W]e are going to be just right up front with you 
. . . , your DNA came up on a couple of Costa Mesa homicides back in 1979. . . .”  After this, 
defendant proceeded to answer all questions that were asked of him, sometimes asking clarifying 
questions, and often volunteering additional information.  The court classified this exchange as an 
“implied waiver.”  On appeal, defendant argued that his statements should have been excluded 
from evidence at his trial because he never expressly waived his right to silence and nothing 
about his actions demonstrated an intent to waive that right. The court rejected this argument, 
noting that it is well settled that law enforcement officers are not required to obtain an express 
waiver of a suspect’s Miranda rights prior to a custodial interview and that a valid waiver of such 
rights may be implied from the defendant’s words and actions.  In this case, after defendant 
confirmed that he had understood his rights, he proceeded to actively participate in the 
conversation with the detectives, at least initially, answering questions, asking for clarification, 
and generally contributing to a discussion he knew was being tape-recorded.  There was no 
evidence that defendant had been physically or psychologically pressured into talking with the 
investigators.  Also, defendant had extensive prior experience with the criminal justice system, 
having been arrested and pleading guilty to felonies in three previous cases before being 
interrogated in this case.  Under these circumstances, the evidence was sufficient to permit an 
inference beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant understood he had a choice whether or not 
to talk to the detectives, with or without an attorney present, and knowingly and voluntarily chose 
not to exercise his right to remain silent, at least until he later asked to delay the interrogation to a 
later date (see point #2, post).  The fact that defendant had questioned why he would want to talk 
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to the detectives, taken in context, was not an indication of a reluctance to waive his rights but 
rather merely sought to clarify why the Costa Mesa detective and investigator wished to speak 
with him. 
 
(2)  Invocation of the Right to Remain Silent:  Defendant also argued that, at some point mid-
interrogation, he had invoked his right to silence.  Specifically, defendant responded:  “The thing 
is, I will reserve the right to speak at another time” right after Investigator Giesler told defendant “I 
mean 17 years is long enough, I think it's time to talk about it, don't you? . . . Why don't you tell us 
what happened?”  Despite the investigator’s encouragement to get to the truth, interspersed with 
questions concerning why not talk about it now, defendant continued to indicate his wish to put off 
the questioning to a later date:  “Yeah, the day is not today though. . . . I can’t take it. . . . Yeah, 
but there’s also a reason for wanting to wait too. . . . Now, this is going to be a long drawn out 
process, the rest of my life is going right out the door, it probably went out the door years ago, I 
just didn’t recognize it. . . . Like I say, once again, . . . there’s I think for me, there’s a time, and a 
place for saying what I have to say, and, in reference to what happened, I, I, there’s nothing else 
that I can tell you. . . . Like I say, I think I should wait until later on before . . . .  No, no, this, this, I, 
I just need some time to call upon myself, to bring, to draw up on some strength. . . .  To say what 
I have to say. . . . When they take me down there, yes, you can come back.”  Investigator Giesler 
then clarified, “I can come and talk to you at that time? . . . Are you serious, when you get down to 
Orange County, I can come see you again?” Defendant answered, “Right. Right . . . I’l1 be there.”  
So Detective Redmond and Investigator Giesler terminated their interview.  But before leaving the 
interview room they told defendant that an investigator from Tustin also wanted to speak with him.  
Detective Tarpley then entered the room, informed defendant that he wished to discuss a 
different case, and re-advised defendant of his Miranda rights.  Defendant expressly waived his 
rights and, eventually, confessed to the Tustin cases.  During this interrogation, defendant also 
asked if Detective Redmond and Investigator Giesler were still there, subsequently confessing to 
them about the additional homicides in their jurisdiction.  Defendant argued that, because he had 
clearly and unequivocally invoked his right to remain silent, these subsequent confessions should 
not have been allowed into evidence.  The court disagreed.  Per the court, although defendant 
made statements suggesting he did not want to talk further with Detective Redmond and 
Investigator Giesler, he also indicated a willingness to speak with them at a later date.  As 
Redmond and Giesler terminated their questioning, defendant made no objection when informed 
that a detective from Tustin wished to speak with him about a different case.  Detective Tarpley 
subsequently re-advised defendant of his Miranda rights and asked whether he was willing to talk 
to him “about why I'm here today.”  Defendant responded in the affirmative.  This record supports 
the conclusion that any asserted refusal to continue talking at that time applied only to Redmond 
and Giesler and did not extend to Detective Tarpley.  In considering the totality of the 
circumstances, and in recognizing that a defendant may selectively waive his rights, that limited 
invocation made to Redmond and Giesler did not bar Detective Tarpley from interrogating 
defendant about the Tustin offenses after re-advising him of his Miranda rights, confirming that 
defendant was willing to speak to him, and obtaining a waiver of his rights.  Also, when a suspect 
invokes his right to silence only, as opposed to his right to the assistance of counsel (see “Note” 
below), police may later reinitiate questioning as long as no coercion is employed in obtaining a 
subsequent waiver.  Also, it was defendant himself who reinitiated contact with Detective 
Redmond and Investigator Giesler by asking Detective Tarpley whether “Costa Mesa is still here” 
and stating “then we can . . . get this over with.”  In context, defendant was asking for the Costa 
Mesa detectives to come back so he could confess.  This re-initiation of contact with Redmond 
and Giesler superseded any prior invocation he may have made.  Defendant’s various 
confessions, therefore, were properly admitted into evidence against him. 
 

NOTE:  This case reaffirms the general rule that “implied waivers” are valid.  But remember that a 
court must determine, based on an evaluation of the totality of the circumstances, whether an 
implied waiver is valid in the context of any particular case.  On the other hand, after insuring that 
an in-custody suspect understands the Miranda rights, an officer can seek an “express waiver” by 
asking “Having in mind and understanding your rights as I’ve explained them to you, are you 
willing to answer questions?”  An affirmative response ends the inquiry and almost always 
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ensures a valid waiver.  So, when dealing with a cooperative suspect who doesn’t exhibit a bad 
attitude, just seek an express waiver.  On a separate point, police may re-initiate an interrogation 
with a defendant after he has said he doesn’t want to talk.  But that rule applies only to when the 
defendant invokes his right to silence.  Had he asked for an attorney, the rule is that he would 
have been off limits as to all police-initiated questioning, for all cases, for as long as he remains in 
custody, at least for an arbitrarily set time limit of 14 days.  (Maryland v. Shatzer (2010) 559 U.S. 
98.)  It is important to know this difference, and to check with any prior agencies who might have 
interviewed a suspect, to properly determine whether you can legally approach a suspect and 
seek a waiver of his rights. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

MIRANDA 
Booking Questions Exception 
 
United States v. Zapien (9th Cir. 2017) 861 F.3d 971 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Routine booking questions are an exception to the rule that a Miranda invocation 
precludes any further interrogation of an in-custody suspect.  However, the admissibility of a 
defendant’s responses to what appear to be booking questions is dependent upon whether the 
officer should have known that his questions were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating 
response. 
 
FACTS:  Beginning with an informant’s tip that defendant was a drug dealer, Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA) agents surveilled defendant as he interacted with a confidential informant.  
Eventually, defendant was observed participating in a drug transaction.  Defendant was later 
stopped by Sahuarita Police Department Officer Carl Navarette, arrested, and brought to the 
police station where DEA Agent Jerome Souza, DEA Task Force Officer Mark Ramirez, and DEA 
Special Agent Erika Dorado took over.  Less than an hour after his arrest, while seated at a table 
in a hallway, unhandcuffed, and with Officer Ramirez translating between English and Spanish for 
the agents, defendant was read his Miranda rights and waived them.  For the first five minutes of 
questioning, defendant denied any involvement in drug trafficking.  But then, after the agents told 
him that they had evidence of his involvement in a drug transaction, defendant invoked his right to 
counsel.  All questioning about drug trafficking ceased, and Officer Ramirez told defendant that 
he was not going to ask anything “about the case, about the evidence.”  However, Officer 
Ramirez stated that he needed some information to “fill out the form,” i.e., the DEA Form 202 
used to record biographical information.  Officer Ramirez later testified that he regularly asks DEA 
Form 202 questions to gather emergency contact information to provide to the Marshals.  
Pursuant to Form 202, Officer Ramirez asked defendant questions concerning such things as his 
name, birth date, and residence, and the names of his wife, parents, and children.  As he was 
doing so, defendant changed his mind about having invoked and told Officer Ramirez that he 
wished to give a statement regarding his drug trafficking.  The agents immediately reminded 
defendant of his constitutional rights and told him they did not want to ask any questions because 
of his earlier request for an attorney. Defendant, however, said he understood those rights, he 
wanted to waive them, and he wished “to speak to [the agents] without the presence of an 
attorney.”  It was only after this exchange that the agents asked about his participation in drug 
activity.  Defendant told the officers that he had been involved “in making phone calls and 
meeting with an unknown [H]ispanic male, and that he did sell narcotics.”  Defendant was indicted 
by a federal grand jury on federal drug possession and distribution charges and his motion to 
suppress his incriminating statements was denied.  Defendant’s statements were used against 
him at trial, defendant was convicted of all charges, and he appealed. 
 
HELD: The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.   Defendant argued that Officer Ramirez had 
violated Miranda by interrogating defendant after he had invoked.  He claimed the questions were 
not just “biographical” and triggered his subsequent waiver of rights.  In Edwards v. Arizona 
(1981) 451 U.S. 477, the United States Supreme Court held that, once an in-custody suspect 
invokes his Fifth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel, he is off limits to all further 
questioning unless and until he himself reinitiates the questioning, he is provided with an attorney, 
or he is released from custody.  In this case, after defendant specifically invoked his right to 
counsel, Officer Ramirez began asking the questions from the DEA Form 202, which, according 
to Ramirez, are used only to record biographical information, providing the Marshals’ Office with 
emergency contact information.  Indeed, it has been held that the “routine gathering of 
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background biographical information, such as identity, age, and address, usually does not 
constitute interrogation,” and is thus not protected by the Miranda rule.  “What is called the 
‘booking exception’ . . . is in fact an ‘exemp[tion] “from Miranda’s coverage’” for questions posed 
‘“to secure the biographical data necessary to complete booking or pretrial services.”’”  However, 
recognizing the potential for abuse by law enforcement officers who might, under the guise of 
seeking “objective” or “neutral” biographical information, deliberately elicit an incriminating 
statement from a suspect, the Ninth Circuit held that an “objective” test must be used to 
determine whether booking questions in any particular case might really be a prohibited 
interrogation.  Therefore, the court held that the admissibility of a defendant’s responses to what 
appear to be booking questions is dependent upon whether the officer should have known that 
his questions were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.  In analyzing the 
circumstances of this case, the court found no evidence that, in asking for biographical 
information after defendant had invoked his right to counsel, the agents made any reference to 
defendant’s alleged offense for which he had been arrested.  The requested biographical 
information bore no relationship to defendant’s crimes.  Also, there was no evidence that the 
agents “played upon (defendant’s) weaknesses” or that defendant was unusually disoriented or 
upset at the time.  Lastly, it did not appear that defendant was particularly susceptible to that line 
of questioning or that the agents used the questions as a mere pretext to eliciting incriminating 
information.  In sum, the record did not show that the agents should have known that their 
questions were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.  As such, the requested DEA 
Form 202 information was not an interrogation but rather came within the booking exception to 
the Miranda rule.  The court also noted that whether defendant had previously invoked his right to 
counsel had no bearing on whether subsequent questions will be considered booking questions.  
Defendant’s decision to change his mind about wanting an attorney and to waive his rights, which 
followed the asking of these booking questions, was of his own volition, making his subsequent 
incriminating statements admissible. 
 
NOTE:  A major exception to the booking question “exemption” is when a booking officer (or any 
other officer) asks an incoming inmate or any in-custody suspect questions related to his possible 
gang affiliation.  In People v. Elizalde et al. (2015) 61 Cal.4th 523, the California Supreme Court 
held that questions related to an inmate’s possible gang affiliation, commonly asked for purposes 
of housing the inmate away from other rival gangsters, and thus done for purposes of officer and 
inmate safety, are questions that the booking officer should know are reasonably likely to elicit an 
incriminating response.  Therefore, although such questions may be asked to ensure safety 
within the jail, the answers to such questions are inadmissible at trial to prove gang affiliation.  
The Ninth Circuit is in accord with this rule.  (See United States v. Williams (9th Cir. 2016) 842 
F.3d 1143.)  Not being an issue in this case, however, this exception to the booking questions 
exception was not mentioned.  But the gang-affiliation rule does tell us that not all background 
biographical information-related questions are going to qualify for the booking question 
“exemption.”  Rather, the issue centers around whether the officer should have known that the 
questions asked were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

VOLUNTARINESS 
Miranda; Implied Waiver of Rights; Juveniles; Interrogation Tactics; Offers 
of Leniency; Use of Deception 
 
People v. Jones (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 787 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  An implied waiver of one’s Miranda rights will be upheld absent evidence that the waiver 
was involuntary or not knowingly made.  Juveniles have the capacity to waive their constitutional 
rights, but courts use special care in scrutinizing the record to insure that a juvenile’s custodial 
confession was not involuntary.  An offer of leniency will not require the suppression of 
incriminatory statements where it is shown that those statements were not caused by the offer.  
The use of deception during an interrogation is lawful as long as it is unlikely to cause an 
involuntary or unreliable confession.   
 
FACTS:  On November 21, 2012, 16-year-old defendant was hanging out with fellow Hoover 
criminal street gang members outside an apartment building on 110th Street near Budlong 
Avenue in Los Angeles when Early Smith and Demajah Strawn (neither of whom belonged to a 
gang) walked by.  Minutes later, a young Black man approached Smith and Strawn from behind 
and fired eight .40-caliber rounds at them, wounding Smith.  When interviewed by police, Strawn 
made a very tentative ID of defendant as the shooter (i.e., “possibly the shooter”) from a 
photographic lineup.  Smith couldn’t identify anyone.  Both Smith and Strawn were unable to 
identify defendant at trial, saying that they didn’t see the shooter’s face.  But Strawn admitted that 
he did not want to testify at trial because he was afraid of retaliation from the Hoover gang.  Less 
than three month later, on February 12, 2013, three young men in the area of 112th Street and 
Budlong approached Derrick Jackson in front of his house and asked him where he was from.  
Told by Jackson that he didn’t belong to a gang, they moved on.  But then, as told to police by 
Jackson and another neighbor, John Marshall, a couple of cars came down the street.  The three 
men yelled “Hoover” at one of the passing cars.  The men then walked into the middle of the 
street as one of them fired a gun multiple times in the direction of the car.  All three men then ran 
from the area.  Six .40-caliber casings were recovered from the scene shortly after the shooting.  
The driver of the targeted car also fled from the scene and was never identified.  Both Jackson 
and Marshall were able to provide physical descriptions of the three men.  Jackson, however, 
could not identify defendant in a photo lineup.  And Marshall later denied that he had witnessed 
the shooting or had described any of the suspects to the police.  Both Jackson and Marshall 
testified that they were aware of gang violence in the area and were reluctant to testify at trial 
because of fear of retaliation.  On March 1, 2013, investigators executed a search warrant at 
defendant’s father’s apartment, which was in the area of both shootings.  A loaded .40-caliber 
Glock handgun was recovered from the father’s locked bedroom.  The Glock was later shown, 
after ballistics tests had been performed, to have fired the rounds in both of the shootings.  On 
April 3, 2013, Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Detectives Derek White and Gene Takashima 
conducted an audio-recorded interview of Jones.  After defendant was read his Miranda warnings 
and acknowledged that he had understood his rights, and after Detective Takashima finished 
questioning defendant about an unrelated robbery, Detective White took over and questioned 
defendant about the above two shootings.  Defendant admitted that he was from the “11 Deuce” 
subset of the Hoover criminal street gang and that he got into the gang because his father was a 
member.  Although he did not yet have the results of ballistics testing on the Glock, Detective 
White told defendant that it “came back to a few shootings,” but that defendant’s father did not 
match the description of the shooter.  Detective White also told Jones that it “would look bad” for 
his father to go to prison for “something he didn’t do.”  Defendant denied any involvement in the 
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shootings.  Detective White then falsely told defendant that his fingerprints had been found on the 
gun.  Defendant responded that he sometimes held the gun, but “everybody did” as well.  
Defendant told White that the Glock did not belong to his father, but rather was a “Hoover” gun.  
Getting down to the details of the shootings, Detective White showed defendant two fake photo 
arrays with defendant’s photograph circled and purported witness handwritten statements 
indicating that he was the shooter in each case.  Detective White also falsely suggested that he 
had spoken to people in the gang who had implicated defendant in the shootings, telling him that 
if he was proud to be a Hoover gang member, he should “stand up” and admit what he had done.  
Although defendant continued to deny that he was involved in either shooting, he weakened a bit 
and admitted that he’d been present at the scenes of both.  Defendant said that he gave the gun 
to other gang members and that, after each shooting, they had returned it to him.  He then gave 
Detective White a detailed account about how each of the shootings had occurred but claimed 
that, in the first, “Melvin” (no further details) was the shooter.  In the second shooting (i.e., at the 
car), one of his “friends” shot at the car and then gave the gun back to defendant afterwards.  
After these admissions, Detective White told defendant to “either clear your name or you go and 
do a little time in camp for something you did or did not do.”  When defendant asked how he 
could clear his name, Detective White responded: “I’d rather the truth, to be honest with you. If 
you did it, then be proud of it and do a little time in camp and move on.”  Defendant made no 
further admissions other than to again admit that he had been present at the scene of both 
shootings.  (Subsequent to these events, on June 15, 2013, defendant shot and killed a 16-year-
old acquaintance, Joseph Jordan, during an argument over Jordan’s sister.  A .45-caliber 
handgun, which was never recovered, was used in this homicide.  This shooting, for which 
defendant was eventually convicted of second degree murder, was not the subject of the Miranda 
and interrogation issues discussed here.)  Pre-trial, defendant moved to suppress his statements 
to Detective White in the April 3rd interrogation, arguing that his admissions were coerced and 
the product of an offer of leniency.  The trial court, after an evidentiary hearing, denied the 
motion.  In the subsequent trial on the two shootings discussed here, plus the June 15th 
homicide, a gang expert testified that defendant was a member of a subset of the Hoover street 
gang and that each of the shootings had been committed for the benefit of, and in association 
with, a criminal street gang.  Defendant was convicted of two counts of premeditated attempted 
murder of victims Early Smith and Demajah Strawn from the November 2012 shooting with 
various firearm and gang enhancement allegations found to be true.  He was acquitted of an 
attempted murder of the vehicle’s unknown occupant for the February shooting.  The jury hung on 
a charge of shooting at an occupied vehicle, a count that was later dismissed.  The jury also 
found him guilty of a second degree murder of Joseph Jordan in the June shooting, found true the 
related firearm enhancement, but found the gang enhancement not true.  Defendant appealed his 
80-years-to-life sentence. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal affirmed.  Among the issues on appeal, defendant submitted that his 
Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination and his Fourteenth Amendment right to due 
process had been violated when the trial court admitted into evidence his April 3, 2013, 
statements to the Detective White.  Defendant argued that his statement should have been 
excluded at trial because it was involuntary and the result of coercive police conduct.     
(1)   Defendant’s Waiver of Rights:  The law is well-settled that an in-custody suspect must be 
read his rights as dictated by the Miranda decision, that he must understand those rights, and that 
he must waive them before being interrogated.  In the case of juveniles, consideration must be 
given to factors such as the juvenile’s age, experience, education, background, and intelligence.  
A juvenile must also be shown to have the capacity to understand the warnings given him, the 
nature of his Fifth Amendment rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights.  Although 
juveniles, as a rule, are perfectly capable of waiving those rights, the courts are admonished that 
they must use “special care in scrutinizing the record” to evaluate a claim that a juvenile’s 
custodial confession was not voluntarily given.  In this case, on the issue of the validity of 
defendant’s waiver, the court noted that defendant was a 16-year-old high school student.  More 
importantly, he had been through the system before, having prior arrests for battery, grand theft, 
unlawful taking of a vehicle, and marijuana possession.  The record reflected that defendant was 
able to understand the detectives’ questions and to provide coherent responses to those 
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questions.  Although defendant did not expressly waive his Miranda rights during the interview, he 
did so implicitly by acknowledging that he understood those rights and then voluntarily answering 
the detectives’ questions without hesitation.  The court therefore ruled that defendant’s implied 
waiver of his Miranda rights was legally valid.   
 
(2)  Due Process Voluntariness Issues:  The test for determining whether a confession is 
voluntary, be the defendant an adult or minor, is whether the defendant’s will was overborne at 
the time he confessed.  A confession that is extracted by threats or violence, obtained by direct or 
implied promises of leniency, trickery, or intimidation, or secured by the exertion of improper 
influence, are subject to being suppressed.  The constitutional safeguard of voluntariness 
ensures that any custodial admission flows from the volition of the juvenile and not the will of the 
interrogating officers.  Although coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to establish an 
involuntary confession, it does not itself compel a finding that a resulting confession is 
involuntary.  The statement and the inducement must be “causally linked.”  A confession is not 
rendered involuntary by coercive police activity that is not the ‘motivating cause’ of the 
defendant’s decision to incriminate himself.  As for the admissions defendant eventually made 
(i.e., being at the scene of the shootings and supplying the gun), defendant argued that Detective 
White’s “use of coercive tactics, including threats, deception, and promises of leniency” made 
those statements inadmissible.  The court disagreed.  Looking at the circumstances of the 
interview, the court first noted that the interview took place in the afternoon.  Defendant was 
never handcuffed during the interview, which lasted only one hour and 10 minutes. The 
detectives were never aggressive with defendant, and defendant never appeared to be afraid 
while answering questions.  The interrogation was more of a back-and-forth conversation during 
which the detectives expressed their belief that defendant was the shooter and he consistently 
denied that allegation.  Although Detective White did in fact talk about defendant “clear(ing) (his) 
name,” and “do(ing) a little time in camp,” assuming those comments were in fact “offers of 
leniency,” they weren’t made until after defendant had already admitted to being at the scenes of 
the two shootings and supplying the gun used.  After these comments by the detective were 
made, defendant offered no more in the way of incriminating statements.  There was therefore no 
“causal link” between the detective’s comments and defendant’s admissions.  The court further 
ruled that the detectives’ comments about his father being in trouble was not a threat that would 
have prompted any unreliable statements from defendant in that he was also told that his father 
did not match the physical description of the shooter.  Lastly, the court held that deceptions used 
during an interrogation are not improper as long as they are not the type of a deception that might 
cause a suspect to give an involuntary or unreliable statement.  In this case, it was held that the 
use of the false photographic arrays and telling defendant that witnesses had identified him as the 
shooter, telling him that the casings at the scene matched the gun (which, although true, was not 
known to the detective yet), and that his fingerprints were on the gun when they were not, were 
not the types of deceptions that might cause an involuntary or unreliable confession.  Even so, 
except to admit that he was at the scenes of the two shootings and provided the gun used, 
defendant remained adamant that he was not the shooter.  So the ruses used had little if any 
effect on him.  Therefore, based upon the totality of the circumstances, the court ruled that 
defendant’s admissions were not the result of coercive police interrogation tactics and were 
properly admitted into evidence. 
 
NOTE: Despite the rulings in this case, police interrogators should know that juries are seldom 
impressed with interrogation tactics that involve falsehoods (referred to as blatant and intentional 
“lies” by defense counsel).  Perhaps more importantly, courts (and state legislators) are becoming 
less and less sympathetic with interrogation mind-games, especially when played upon juvenile 
suspects.  As indicated, courts employ “special care” in evaluating confessions by juveniles.  Use 
discretion when questioning juveniles.  Avoid using deceptions, suggesting that cooperation will 
bring lighter sentences, and inferring that a loved one will take the heat if a confession is not 
forthcoming.   
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

VOLUNTARINESS 
Miranda; Waiver of Rights; Voluntariness 
 
In re T.F. (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 202 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  An implied waiver of one’s Miranda rights is invalid when the evidence shows that the 
suspect either did not understand those rights or did not realize the consequences of waiving 
them.  Confessions obtained by questionable interrogation techniques are involuntary when the 
evidence shows that the suspect's will to resist was overborne.   
 
FACTS:  T.F. (defendant) was 12 to 15 years old between December, 2010, and April, 2013.  
During that time period, defendant lived with his mother, Veronica, and his two older siblings in 
Antioch.  On occasion during this time period, Veronica would babysit E.C., the daughter of her 
friend, Heather, and E.C.’s siblings.  In April 2012, E.C. was four years old.  When E.C. was at 
Veronica’s house, some of the children noticed defendant playing with E.C., chasing her around 
the room.  Defendant eventually caught E.C. and pulled her pants down.  The other children later 
described other instances when defendant appeared to get too familiar with E.C.  Then, in April or 
May 2012, as Heather was getting ready to take her children to Veronica’s, E.C. started 
screaming and crying, telling Heather that she did not want to go to Veronica’s house anymore.  
E.C. also complained about pain in her vagina and acted abnormally, e.g., wetting her pants, 
refusing to go the restroom by herself, and avoiding male family members, including her father.  
E.C. eventually told Veronica that defendant was being “nasty” with her.  Although a doctor was 
unable to find evidence of improper touching, Heather decided (at the doctor’s suggestion) not to 
take E.C. to Veronica’s after that.  E.C. eventually told Heather that defendant had touched her 
“coo-coo (vagina) and her butt” with his finger.  Bringing in a pastor, E.C. told him the same thing.  
And then again in 2014, E.C. told an interviewer from a Children’s Interview Center that 
defendant had been touching her in the area of her vagina.  In May 2014, Antioch Police 
Detectives Hewitt and McManus went to the then 15-year-old defendant’s high school and had 
him pulled out of class by a school security officer and brought to a conference room.  The 
detectives questioned defendant without Miranda warnings.  Detective Hewitt, in plain clothes but 
with his badge and gun visible, quickly went from seeking basic background information to an 
interrogation about defendant’s relationship with E.C.  For the next 60 minutes, Detective Hewitt 
repeatedly “stated as a fact” that defendant had touched E.C. in a sexual manner, an accusation 
that defendant adamantly and continually denied.  Defendant seemed to waver only once, when 
Detective Hewitt asked defendant whether it was “a one-time, isolated incident,” prompting 
defendant to respond that it was “one time.”  But then defendant again quickly denied touching 
E.C.  Throughout this questioning, defendant was very emotional, sobbing at numerous points.  
He repeatedly said he wanted to go back to class or to go home.  Instead of being allowed to 
leave, the officers handcuffed him and placed him under arrest, transporting him to the police 
station.  Following the 15-to-20-minute ride to the station and a brief detention in a holding cell, 
Detective Hewitt (without Detective McManus) resumed the interrogation.  At the start of this 
session, Detective Hewitt told defendant; “I’m gonna read these to you before we talk, okay?”  
Detective Hewitt then read defendant his Miranda rights in what the court referred to as a “rapid 
recitation.”  After each line of the warning, Detective Hewitt asked defendant if he understood.  
The transcript of the audio-recorded interview, however, didn’t show any response from 
defendant until finally, after being told that he had the right to have an attorney present, and upon 
being asked if he understood, defendant responded, “Mm hmm.”  Again, after Detective Hewitt 
described his right to a free attorney and asked him if he understood, defendant said, “Yes sir.”  
From there, Detective Hewitt asked defendant a couple of questions about an outstanding 
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warrant (apparently having to do with defendant bringing a knife onto the school campus on a 
prior occasion).  But then the detective launched directly into his interrogation of the still upset 
and crying defendant about E.C. without ever asking if he was willing to waive his rights (i.e., an 
attempt at an implied waiver). “[G]oing back to what we were talking about up at the school[.] … 
[N]ow that you’ve had a little bit of time to think about what’s going … I just wanted to give you the 
opportunity to talk to me again.”  For the next 45 minutes, Detective Hewitt continued the 
interrogation tactic of stating as a fact that defendant had touched E.C.’s vagina, ignoring 
defendant’s denials.  For the bulk of this period, defendant continued to adamantly deny touching 
E.C. inappropriately at any time.  Finally, when Detective Hewitt suggested that defendant might 
have touched “her vagina over her pants a little bit,” defendant responded, “Yeah.” When Hewitt 
pressed for further details, defendant replied: “I said it. I said it . . . I said it, I did it.”  When 
Detective Hewitt asked defendant why he stopped touching E.C., defendant replied: “I was 
thinking to myself that it was wrong to do this.  I was, it was like, while I was doing it I was like, it’s 
wrong, it’s wrong.  And then I stopped myself.”  With Detective Hewitt having gotten his 
confession, the Contra Costa County District Attorney filed a wardship petition, alleging one 
felony count of committing a lewd and lascivious act upon a child under 14 years of age. (Pen. 
Code, § 288, subd. (a).) In the amended petition, the district attorney alleged that between 
December 3, 2010, and April 12, 2013, defendant, then 12 to 15 years old, committed a lewd and 
lascivious act on E.C.  Before, and again at the jurisdictional hearing, defense counsel moved to 
exclude defendant’s statements to Detective Hewitt on the grounds that he did not voluntarily 
waive his Miranda rights. The juvenile court granted the motion as to the statements made at the 
school but denied it as to the statements defendant made at the police station.  At the close of the 
jurisdictional hearing, the juvenile court magistrate found “beyond a reasonable doubt” that 
defendant had committed a violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a), and that he 
knew it was wrong at the time he did it.  At the January 2015 disposition hearing, evidence was 
introduced that defendant had been diagnosed with an “intellectual disability” in elementary 
school.  Defendant remained a “special-Ed" student from that time on.  Defendant’s special 
education teacher reported that, although a freshman in high school, he read and wrote at a 
fourth grade level.  At the close of the hearing the court declared defendant a ward of the court 
and placed him on probation at his mother’s home, subject to numerous conditions.  Defendant 
appealed. 
 
HELD: The Court of Appeal reversed.  On appeal, defendant argued both (1) that he did not 
knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his Miranda rights and (2) that his confession was 
involuntary.  The court agreed on both issues. 
 
(1)  The Miranda Waiver:  Under Miranda v. Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436, the court held that an 
in-custody suspect’s Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination is protected when the 
suspect is warned prior to any questioning that “he has the right to remain silent, that anything he 
says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an 
attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any 
questioning if he so desires.”  Once properly advised of the Miranda rights, a suspect may waive 
them if the waiver is voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently made.  It is the People’s burden to 
prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the suspect was so advised and that a valid 
waiver of those rights was obtained.  The waiver of Miranda rights must be voluntary in the sense 
that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice and must be knowing and intelligent in the 
sense that it was made with a full awareness of the nature of the rights being abandoned and the 
consequences of the decision to abandon them.  These issues are more closely scrutinized when 
the suspect is a minor.  In determining the voluntariness of a minor’s purported Miranda waiver, 
the minor’s age, experience, education, background, and intelligence, as well as whether the 
minor has the capacity to understand the warnings given, the nature of the Fifth Amendment 
rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights, must all be considered.  “When a 
confession by a minor is involved and counsel was not present for some permissible reason when 
an admission was obtained, the greatest care must be taken to assure that the admission was 
voluntary.”  In this case, for several reasons, the court determined that the record did not show 
that defendant understood all of his Miranda rights or that he voluntarily, knowingly, and 
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intelligently waived them, despite the trial court’s ruling to the contrary.  First, the detective 
“rapidly rattled off” the Miranda admonition without taking time, after each line of the admonition, 
to determine whether defendant understood each specific right as it was read.  Second, the court 
failed to find substantial evidence that defendant wasn’t “cajoled or tricked.”  Specifically, before 
being advised of his rights, defendant was told, “I'm gonna read these to you before we talk, 
okay?”  The use of “before” implied that it was a forgone conclusion that defendant would in fact 
submit to the continuing interrogation.  In this context, the Miranda admonishment that he had a 
right to silence had to be “contradictory and confusing” to an already “sobbing and clearly 
distraught” defendant.  Third, after telling defendant they were going to “talk” and quickly 
dispensing with the Miranda warning without attempting to obtain an express waiver of his rights, 
the detective immediately launched into questioning him about an unrelated outstanding warrant.  
The recording of the interview made apparent that defendant was confused about the warrant.  
Fourth, once Detective Hewitt confused defendant, he told him to “forget about the warrant for 
right now. . . . That doesn't really have anything to do with this case.  I was just curious if you 
remembered.”  In the court’s words, “After befuddling (defendant) by mixing up the Miranda rights 
with the warrant, Hewitt smoothly transitioned to questioning (defendant), referring him ‘back to 
what we were talking about up at the school.’”  Under these circumstances, it was clear that 
defendant really had no way of understanding that he was not required to submit to any further 
interrogation, despite the Miranda warning to the contrary.  In reaching this conclusion, the court 
took into account defendant’s emotional state at the time, his age, his lack of experience with the 
criminal justice system, and his diagnosed “intellectual disability.”  Based upon this, the court 
concluded that defendant did not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waive his right to counsel 
or to remain silent. 
 
(2)  Voluntariness of the Confession:  Defendant also argued that Detective Hewitt had 
“overborne his will,” rendering his confession involuntary under the due process clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment because it was the product of the type of coercive techniques 
condemned in Miranda.  Again, the court agreed.  The well-established rule is that the use of an 
involuntary confession for any purpose in a criminal or delinquency proceeding violates a 
defendant’s rights under the Fourteenth Amendment.  Whether a confession is voluntary depends 
upon an evaluation of the totality of the circumstances, taking into account both the 
characteristics of the accused and the circumstances of the interrogation itself.  While a 
determination that a confession is involuntary requires a finding of coercive police conduct, the 
exertion of any improper influence by the police will suffice.  In this case, the court agreed that 
defendant’s will was overborne.  It considered defendant’s age, documented learning disability, 
lack of sophistication, minimal experience with law enforcement, and emotional state as well as 
the detective’s use of coercive police interrogation tactics.  In particular, the court found that the 
detective relentlessly interrogated him for nearly an hour and a half (between the school and the 
police station).  In addition to the length of this interrogation, defendant was isolated in two small 
rooms, first at his school and then at the station, as the detective “buffeted” him “with accusations 
of guilt, assertions bolstered by evidence, and refused to accept his denials.”  It was noted that 
Detective Hewitt utilized a particular interrogation technique called “maximization/minimization” 
that has been criticized by experts for causing false or unreliable confessions, particularly when 
employed against young unsophisticated suspects, “particularly adolescents.”  This interrogation 
technique involves a “cluster of tactics” designed to convey two things.  The first is the 
interrogator's rock-solid belief that the suspect is guilty and that all denials will fail.  Such a tactic 
includes making an accusation, overriding objections, and citing evidence, real or manufactured, 
to shift the suspect’s mental state from confident to hopeless.  In contrast, “minimization” tactics 
are designed to provide the suspect with moral justification and face-saving excuses for having 
committed the crime in question; a tactic that communicates by implication that leniency in 
punishment is forthcoming upon confession.  In discussing this interrogation technique, the court 
noted that a “convincing body of evidence demonstrates that implicit promises can put vulnerable 
innocents at risk to confess by encouraging them to think that the only way to lessen or escape 
punishment is compliance with the interrogator's demand for confession, especially when 
minimization is used on suspects who are also led to believe that their continued denial is futile 
and prosecution inevitable.”  But this is exactly what Detective Hewitt did in this case.  
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Specifically, Detective Hewitt told defendant up front that his guilt was a forgone conclusion and 
that they only needed to fill in the details.  Protestations of innocence were brushed aside as 
having no relevance.  The court ruled that “the aggressive nature and persistence of Hewitt’s 
questioning was designed to create a sense of hopelessness.”  The court also noted that 
Detective Hewitt employed a threat during his accusative questioning to subject defendant to a lie 
detector test that would definitively reveal the falsity of his denials, referred to in the literature as 
“the lie detector ploy.”  This technique has been touted in the literature “as among the most 
common interrogation techniques that result in false confessions.”  Toward the end of the 
interrogation, however, Detective Hewett “minimized” the nature of the offense, giving defendant 
a face-saving escape by asking if he might have only touched “her vagina over her pants a little 
bit.”  This was enough to trigger defendant’s eventual confession.  In sum, the court ruled that 
defendant’s confession was involuntarily obtained and should have been suppressed. 
 
NOTE:  Questionable interrogation mind-games should be avoided, particularly when 
interrogating minors or other suspects of limited intellect.  Getting a confession is never the 
ultimate goal of an interrogation.  Rather, police interrogators should strive for the truth.  But 
finding the truth may not result in justice being served if the truth is obtained by questionable 
interrogation tactics.  Obtaining a confession through the use of techniques that may secure a 
confession of questionable veracity obscures the ultimate issue of whether the person confessing 
is in fact guilty or innocent.  Even if other evidence known before an interrogation begins points 
strongly toward guilt, officers should not use techniques that are just as likely to get a confession 
out of an innocent person as they are to get one out of a guilty person.  Regardless of guilt, the 
product of your efforts will not be admissible in evidence, and your credibility as an interrogator 
may be questioned in future cases.  Also, be aware that current law now requires that, before an 
in-custody suspect under 16 may be interrogated or waive his or her rights, he must be given the 
opportunity to consult with counsel.  (See p. 13, ante.) 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

VOLUNTARINESS 
Miranda; Honoring an Invocation of Counsel; Waiver of Right to Counsel on 
Suspect's Attempted Re-initiation of Interrogation 
 
Rodriguez v. McDonald (9th Cir. 2017) 872 F.3d 908 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE:  An officer’s continued discussion about the facts of a case to a suspect after he has 
invoked his right to the assistance of counsel under Miranda is improper and taints the validity of 
a later attempt by the suspect to reinitiate the interrogation.  Courts evaluate the totality of the 
circumstances in determining the validity of an attempted re-initiation of an interrogation after an 
invocation of the right to counsel.  
 
FACTS:  On the evening of February 23, 2005, as Manuel Penaloza and Cynthia Portillo were 
walking near Gabanzo (or Garvanza) Park in Los Angeles, a brown minivan slowed and 
approached them.  When the occupants asked them where they were from, Penaloza understood 
them to mean that they were inquiring as to his gang affiliation.  Penaloza responded honestly 
(and perhaps fool-heartedly) that he was from the Drifters gang.  This brought on an immediate 
barrage of gunfire from the van.  Wounded in the shoulder, Penaloza panicked and fled.  Cynthia 
Portillo was hit in the head and died shortly thereafter.  The van sped off.  Two hours later, the 
van was spotted by Los Angeles Police Department Officer Carlos Langarica in Highland Park. 
He stopped the van, detained the two occupants, and recovered two fully loaded handguns.  
Detective Luis Rivera interviewed the occupants of the van.  They told Detective Rivera that a 
person with the gang moniker of “Husky” was the shooter.  Detective Rivera determined that 
“Husky” was defendant’s gang moniker.  An uncooperative Manuel Penaloza picked out two 
persons from a six-pack photographic lineup, one of whom was defendant.  A month later, the 14-
year-old defendant was arrested at a juvenile probation camp and brought to the police station for 
questioning.  In a videotaped interview, Detective Rivera first asked defendant for basic 
background information during which he admitted that he was a Highland Park gang member. He 
was also questioned about his nicknames and tattoos.  Denying that he was called “Husky” and 
instead claiming that he was called “Chubbs,” he showed the detectives a relatively new (within 
the last month?) “HIP” tattoo on his shoulder that the officers believed was one he probably got in 
recognition for having shot someone.  Detective Rivera then read to defendant his Miranda rights 
(Miranda v. Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436), telling him that they were required to do this because 
he “belong(s) to the camp . . . (and) the camp and the juvenile courts feel that we must do (it).”  
(See “Note” below.)  Defendant was asked after every line of the admonishment whether he 
understood that particular right and answered “yes” each time.  Although the detective did not 
seek an express waiver of those rights, he then asked defendant about his involvement in the 
shooting and murder of Cynthia Portillo.  Defendant denied being in the van during the shooting.  
At some point in the interrogation, the detectives told defendant that they would take what he told 
them to the district attorney, adding “and say; Hey man, you know what, this guy — we think — 
he’s — you know, he’s 14 maybe there was a little bit of influence from the other guys the older 
guys, you know, he still — we can still save him he’s not an entirely bad dude.”  Even more 
explicitly, they suggested that cooperating was the only way to “save [his] life”: “I mean, that’s it 
what’s done is done, but this is like the rest of your life now, this is the difference, you[’re] only 14, 
man.  It’s not like you[’re] 18, 19 and you know, you’re 14 years old, man, you can still save your 
life. You still have a lifetime.” They continued, “You got a chance to set things right, take 
responsibility for what you did, and then whatever happens happens but be assured that what we 
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would like to do is talk to the district attorney tell him that you were cooperative and being truthful 
and [accept] the responsibility.”  Later in the interrogation, when Detective Rivera told defendant 
that others had said he was in the van, defendant asked to speak to an attorney.  Defendant was 
told that, since he wanted an attorney, “we can’t talk to you anymore.”  They next said, he was 
“going to be charged with murder today.”  Defendant asked why.  The officers explained that 
they’d already told him that they were investigating a murder and that they wanted to ask him 
questions so that “we can put your story on paper.”  The detectives also told him that if he wanted 
to talk to an attorney instead, that was his right.  However, “I just want you to remember that I 
tried to give you the opportunity. I tried to give you the opportunity to straighten things out.”  
Immediately after this comment, one of the detectives asked defendant “Do you know Easy from 
Highland Park? You don’t know him?”  Defendant responded that he did not.  So the detective 
showed defendant a photograph, telling him “You don't know him? This one here?  You don't 
know him?”  When defendant again responded that he did not, the detective said, “The girl that 
died, that's his girlfriend.”  Defendant was then told again, apparently to his continuing surprise, 
that they were going to transport him to “East Lake” (apparently a juvenile detention center) 
where they were going to charge him with murder.  Eventually, defendant was taken to a juvenile 
facility where, while in an intake area, defendant asked Detective Rivera, “What’s going to 
happen?”  Told that the case would be presented to the prosecutor’s office, defendant asked the 
detective for a business card, explaining that he might want “to talk” to the detective.  Detective 
Rivera explained that, because defendant had invoked his right to counsel, the detective could 
not speak to him until he had spoken to an attorney unless defendant “changed his mind” about 
exercising his right to counsel.  Defendant replied that he wanted to talk to the detective.  
Detective Rivera therefore took defendant into an interview room.  Because there were none 
available, he did not bring a tape recorder.  Defendant proceeded to confess.  At the detective’s 
request, defendant wrote out his own statement. That written confession was later admitted into 
evidence at defendant’s trial.  At a pretrial fitness hearing to determine whether defendant should 
be tried as a juvenile or an adult, a psychologist who had interviewed defendant testified that 
defendant had “border-line intelligence functioning” that rendered him particularly “susceptible to 
the influence of others.”  The psychologist reported that defendant had an I.Q. of 77, meaning 
that he was “quite limited intellectually,” and that he tested at a fourth or fifth-grade academic 
level even though he had completed ninth grade.  The report predicted that this intellectual 
limitation “will prevent him from making good decisions as he is likely to be more concrete than 
abstract in his problem solving capacity.”  The report further noted that defendant exhibited 
“symptoms related to [Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder] (i.e., “ADHD”) and that he had 
been “placed on medication . . . to help him concentrate” while residing at the juvenile camp.  
According to the report; “[t]he literature shows that individuals who suffer from the disorder tend to 
not do well with respect to making good decisions.”  At the end of the hearing, the court 
concluded that defendant was not fit for adjudication in juvenile court and referred the matter to 
adult court.  Charged in state court with murder and attempted murder, plus other related 
charges, defendant filed a pretrial motion to suppress his written confession.  The motion was 
denied.  He was thereafter convicted of second degree murder and attempted murder, and the 
enhancements were found true.  He appealed from his 84-years-to-life prison sentence.  The 
Court of Appeal affirmed and the California Supreme Court declined to hear the case.  After 
unsuccessfully seeking collateral (i.e., habeas corpus) relief in the state courts, defendant filed a 
petition for writ of habeas corpus in the federal District Court that was also denied.  Defendant 
appealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. 
 
HELD: The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed, agreed with defendant that his written 
confession was obtained in violation of Miranda, and remanded the case back for retrial or, in the 
alternative, granted defendant’s release.  The Ninth Circuit ruled that (1) the detectives had failed 
to honor defendant’s invocation of his right to the assistance of counsel, under Miranda, and (2) 
defendant’s subsequent re-initiation of the interrogation and implied waiver of his right to counsel 
was not “knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.”   
 
(1)  Invocation of Right to Counsel:  It was undisputed that defendant, mid-interrogation, had 
clearly and unequivocally invoked his Miranda (i.e., Fifth Amendment) right to the assistance of 
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counsel.  The law is clear that, once an in-custody suspect invokes his right to counsel, the 
interrogation must cease until an attorney is present.  The recognized exceptions to this rule are 
when that suspect is released from custody (which did not happen here) or he himself reinitiates 
the questioning.  (See (2), post.)  Until one of these two events occurs, law enforcement is not 
allowed to question him any further.  More specific to this case, law enforcement is prohibited 
from purposely encouraging a defendant to reinitiate the questioning by doing or saying anything 
to him in an attempt to cause him to change his mind.  This includes the officers continuing to 
discuss the facts of the case itself.  Here, that’s exactly what the detectives did.  After defendant’s 
invocation, the detectives told defendant that he was “going to be charged with murder today” and 
to “remember that [they] tried to give [defendant] the opportunity . . . to straighten things out.”  
And then, in violation of the rule about not discussing the case, one of the detectives explicitly 
asked defendant if he knew “Easy from Highland Park?” (“Easy” apparently being the gang 
moniker for either victim Manuel Penaloza or some other gangster not discussed.) When 
defendant responded that he did not, the detective showed him a picture of Easy and commented 
that, “The girl that died, that’s his girlfriend.”  The court here held that defendant’s subsequent 
decision to reinitiate questioning was the predictable result (along with other factors; see (2), 
below) of this illegal after-invocation discussion of the facts of the case.  By continuing to discuss 
the case, the detectives had illegally failed to honor defendant’s invocation of his right to the 
assistance of counsel.   
 
(2)  Re-initiation of the Interrogation:  After the above events, as defendant was being booked into 
a juvenile detention center, he told Detective Rivera that he wanted to talk to him despite his 
earlier invocation.  At this juncture, the issue became whether defendant’s decision to reinitiate 
the questioning (1) was a free and voluntary decision to waive his right to counsel, despite the 
earlier invocation, or (2) was the product of the officers’ failure to honor defendant’s invocation by 
unlawfully continuing the discussion of the case (See (1), above), in combination with other 
improper interrogation tactics used and other relevant factors.  The court held that, under the 
circumstances of this case, it was the latter.  The People have a “heavy burden” to show that “the 
defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his privilege against self-incrimination and his right 
to retained or appointed counsel.”  While an in-custody suspect has the right to re-initiate 
questioning after an invocation, the courts carefully scrutinize whether that decision was the result 
of law enforcement “badgering” him.  “(W)hen an accused has invoked his right to have counsel 
present during custodial interrogation, a valid (subsequent) waiver of that right cannot be 
established by showing only that he responded to further police-initiated custodial interrogation 
even if he has been advised of his rights.”  To uphold a defendant’s decision that he changed his 
mind about wanting the assistance of counsel, the court must determine that the decision to 
reinitiate questioning constituted a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of his right to 
counsel.  Here, the court held that it was not.  “The validity of a waiver depends in each case 
upon the particular facts and circumstances surrounding [the] case, including the background, 
experience, and conduct of the accused.”  Here, the court considered several factors that 
possibly affected defendant’s decision to re-initiate questioning.  The officers had, in effect, 
suggested to defendant that his cooperation would result in leniency when they tried to convince 
him that cooperating was the only way to “save [his] life.”  They also continued to discuss the 
case with him after his invocation.  In addition, the court considered defendant’s youth, his low 
I.Q. (close to “mental retardation”), his ADHD diagnosis, and his susceptibility to easily being 
influenced by others.  This combination of factors caused the court to decide that the People had 
failed to meet their burden of proof on the issue of defendant’s decision to reinitiate the 
interrogation, i.e., the People did not show that defendant’s decision was knowingly, intelligently, 
and voluntarily made as opposed to being the product of the improper interrogation tactics used 
here.  Not having shown a valid waiver of his right to the assistance of counsel, defendant’s 
subsequent written confession should have been suppressed.   
 
NOTE: The court may have reached a different conclusion if Detective Rivera had: (1) re-
admonished defendant at the juvenile detention center before continuing the interrogation; (2) 
sought an “express” (as opposed to “implied”) waiver of defendant’s rights; and (3) emphasized 
his right to have counsel present and his earlier request for that to happen.  Given the People’s 
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“heavy” burden of proof on this issue, the United States Supreme Court has suggested, even 
though not legally required, that a complete re-admonishment would be the minimum an officer 
should do when a subject attempts to reinitiate questioning.  (See Patterson v. Illinois (1988) 487 
U.S. 285, 293.)   It may also help to get the subject to acknowledge that nothing the detective had 
done or said up to that point was causing him reinitiate the questioning and to confess, other than 
his own desire to do so.  Here, given this particular defendant’s youth, ADHD, and low IQ, a re-
initiation of the interrogation was unlikely to be upheld by the Ninth Circuit, despite the ruling 
being upheld by the trial court, the California appellate court, and the federal District Court.  Also, 
although not discussed by the court here, there is some authority for the argument that an 
interrogating officer should not “downplay” the importance of the Miranda admonishment.  Here, 
the detectives downplayed the importance of the Miranda rights by telling defendant that they 
were reading the rights only because the probation camp and the juvenile courts required it.  It 
has been held that downplaying the rights might mislead a defendant as to what he is giving up 
upon a waiver.  (Juan H. v. Allen (9th Cir. 2005) 408 F.3d 1262, 1271-1272.) 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC RECORDS ACT 
Information Contained in Private Electronic Devices 
 
City of San Jose v. Superior Court (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608  
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: The California Public Records Act (“CPRA”) requires disclosure of public records upon 
request.  (Gov. Code, § 6253.)  In encouraging transparency in government activities, there is a 
presumptive right of access to any record created or maintained by a public agency that relates in 
any way to the business of that public agency.  This rule of disclosure is backed up by the 
California Constitution: “The people have the right of access to information concerning the 
conduct of the people’s business, and, therefore, . . . the writings of public officials and agencies 
shall be open to public scrutiny.”  (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(1).) 
 
FACTS:  A resident sought e-mails, text messages, and voicemails from both work and personal 
accounts of the mayor of San Jose and several city council members.  The City disclosed 
communications made using city telephone numbers and e-mail accounts but declined to disclose 
communications made using the listed individuals’ personal accounts.  The resident sued for 
declaratory relief, arguing that the California Public Records Act’s (CPRA) definition of “public 
records” encompasses all communications about official business, regardless of how they are 
created, communicated, or stored.  The City’s argument in response was that messages 
communicating information on personal accounts are not public records because they are not 
within the public entity’s custody or control.  The trial court ordered disclosure, but the Court of 
Appeal issued a writ of mandate, reversing that order.  The resident petitioned to the California 
Supreme Court. 
 
HELD: The California Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeal, deeming the messages 
communicated on personal accounts subject to disclosure.  The court framed the issue as: “Are 
writings concerning the conduct of public business beyond CPRA’s reach merely because they 
were sent or received using a nongovernmental account?”  After considering the language of the 
CPRA and the important policy interests it serves, while balancing the public’s interest in 
transparent government with the privacy interests involved, the simple answer was, “No, they are 
not beyond the reach of the CPRA.”   
 
Engaging in statutory interpretation, the court broke the CPRA definition of “public record” down 
to three requirements: (1) It is a “writing” (defined broadly); (2) with content relating to the conduct 
of the public’s business; (3) which is owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency OR 
prepared by that agency.  The court clarified that an “agency” includes not only the entity itself, 
but also the individuals who conduct the agency’s business.  Therefore, a work-related text, call, 
or email by an employee is “prepared by” the agency.  
 
The court’s holding that the CPRA applies to a public employee’s work-related communications 
on private accounts does not mean that public employees no longer have a personal right to 
privacy.  The presumptive right of access to public records under the CPRA is rebuttable, subject 
to a number of statutory exceptions.  (See, e.g., Gov. Code, § 6254.)  The CPRA also includes a 
catchall provision exempting disclosure if “the public interest served by not disclosing the record 
clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure.” (Gov. Code, § 6255, subd. (a).)  
Communications that are primarily personal, so long as they contain no more than incidental 
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mentions of agency business, generally will not constitute public records.  Such privacy concerns, 
however, are more properly addressed on a case-by-case basis.  And even then, privacy 
concerns can be minimized through specific procedural safeguards.  Personal information not 
related to the conduct of public business, or material falling under a statutory exemption, can be 
redacted from public records that are produced or presented for review.  Also, noting that a public 
agency is only required to make “reasonable efforts” to obtain such information from its officers 
and employees (see California First Amendment Coalition v. Superior Court (1998) 67 
Cal.App.4th 159, 166), it is not up to the agency itself to search out requested information not 
actually in its own possession.  In complying with a CPRA request “an agency’s first step should 
be to communicate the request to the employees in question. The agency may then reasonably 
rely on these employees to search their own personal files, accounts, and devices for responsive 
material” and make that information available to the requesting entity.  Agencies may want to 
“adopt policies that will reduce the likelihood of public records being held in employees’ private 
accounts.”  Eliminating, or at least reducing, the practice of using personal accounts to conduct 
public business will help to minimize this issue. 
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─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 

EXPERT TESTIMONY 
Ident-A-Drug Website; Admissibility in Evidence; Hearsay and 
Confrontation Issues; Controlled Substances; Proof by Circumstantial 
Evidence 
 
People v. Mooring (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 928 
 
─────────────────────────────────────────────────────── 
 
RULE: Information from the Ident-A-Drug website concerning the controlled substance status of 
certain pills is hearsay but is admissible in evidence under the “compilation exception” to the 
hearsay rule, pursuant to Evidence Code section 1340.  That same information is not 
“testimonial,” and, therefore, its admission into evidence does not violate the Sixth Amendment 
Confrontation Clause. It is not legally required that a controlled substance be chemically 
analyzed.  Circumstantial evidence of the controlled nature of a substance is sufficient to convict. 
 
FACTS:  In January 2011, Richmond Police Sergeant Eduardo Soto, assigned to the narcotics 
unit, executed a search warrant at the home of Lanita Denise Davis, Darrel James Mooring, Sr., 
and Darrel Ellis Mooring, Jr.  Over 4,000 prescription pills plus various pill bottles (some with, 
some the names of defendants on them, some without) were seized.  Defendants were charged 
in state court with various counts of possessing a controlled substance for sale plus a number of 
enhancements.  At trial, Shana Meldrum, a criminalist at the Contra Costa Sheriff's Crime Lab, 
testified as an expert in presumptive identification of prescription pills.  Aside from her ten years 
of experience and over 400 hours of training in analyzing and identifying suspected controlled 
substances, Meldrum had received training on the various references the crime lab uses to 
presumptively identify prescription pills, including the “Ident-A-Drug Website.”  This website, a 
fee-based and log-in controlled service, contains information about and images of pharmaceutical 
pills derived from the federal Food and Drug Administration [FDA] and pharmaceutical 
manufacturers.  The procedure used is as follows:  To presumptively identify a prescription pill, 
the crime lab would compare a pill’s “individual characteristics”—its color, shape, and markings—
to images on Ident-A-Drug.  The criminalist would then type into the website whatever markings 
were on the pill.  The website would then kick back either one match or a list of possible matches 
that the pill might be.  Then, based on the color and the shape and the imprints on the pill, the 
criminalist would make a determination whether to report that as a presumptive identification.  
This method is generally accepted in the scientific community and has been reviewed by the 
crime lab’s accrediting board.  Meldrum testified that she had presumptively identified prescription 
pills using Ident-A-Drug over 2,000 times.  In this case, Meldrum testified that she had compared 
the markings, imprints, coloring, and shapes of the prescription pills seized from defendants’ 
residence to the information on Ident-A-Drug.  Using the procedure described above, Meldrum 
presumptively identified the pills as follows: (1) 1,930 dihydrocodeinone (or Vicodin), a controlled 
substance; (2) 573 oxycodone, a controlled substance; (3) 132 diazepam, a controlled substance; 
(4) 785 methadone, a controlled substance; (5) 242 morphine, a controlled substance; and (6) 
113 codeine, a controlled substance.  Meldrum stated that she did not conduct chemical testing 
on the pills.  Per her testimony, a “usable amount” of a prescription pill could be as little as half a 
pill.  Meldrum further testified that she did not think the pills were counterfeit in that counterfeit 
pills are “a softer texture than a legal pharmaceutical” and may have a “slightly different color.”  
As a result of this testimony, plus that from Sgt. Soto and another expert on the crime of 
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possessing prescription pills for sale, defendants Davis and Mooring, Jr., were convicted.  An 
appeal was filed. 
 
HELD:  Among the issues on appeal was the admissibility of the testimony of the Contra Costa 
Sheriff’s Crime Lab’s criminalist, Shana Meldrum, as it related to the information she gleaned 
from the Ident-A-Drug website.  Specifically, defendants argued that, pursuant to the rule 
announced in People v. Sanchez (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665, her testimony regarding the Ident-A-
Drug website was (1) inadmissible hearsay, and (2) its admission into evidence violated their 
Sixth Amendment confrontation rights.  In Sanchez, the California Supreme Court considered the 
extent to which the U.S. Supreme Court in Crawford v. Washington (2004) 541 U.S. 36 had 
limited an expert witness from relating case-specific hearsay in explaining the basis for that 
expert’s opinion while also clarifying the application of hearsay rules to that kind of expert 
testimony.  Crawford had held that a declarant's statements to police (or others) are inadmissible 
at trial, despite an applicable exception to the hearsay rule, unless it is proved that the declarant 
is (1) now unavailable to testify, and (2) the defendant has had a prior opportunity to confront and 
cross-examine the declarant (a Sixth Amendment confrontation issue).  Sanchez held that case-
specific out-of-court statements testified to by a prosecution gang expert constituted inadmissible 
hearsay under state law and, to the extent those statements were “testimonial,” ran afoul of the 
rule in Crawford.  In discussing the Sanchez and Crawford rules as they apply to the information 
Meldrum obtained and used from the Ident-A-Drug website in her testimony in support of her 
expert opinion as to what the pills were, the court considered two issues:   
 
(1)  Hearsay:  Absent a statutory exception, hearsay is generally inadmissible.  Defendants 
argued that Meldrum’s testimony concerning what Ident-A-Drug had indicated to her about the 
pills in question, constituted inadmissible hearsay, i.e., it was an “out-of-court” statement that was 
offered for the truth of the matter asserted.  The Attorney General, conceding that the information 
from Ident-A-Drug was in fact hearsay, countered with the argument that it fell within the 
“published compilation” exception to the hearsay rule under Evidence Code section 1340.  The 
court agreed with the A.G.  Looking at the elements of Evidence Code section 1340, the court 
first held that Ident-A-Drug does in fact constitute a “compilation.”  As noted by the court, the 
Ident-A-Drug website collects information regarding prescription pills from the FDA and 
pharmaceutical pill manufacturers and presents the information in a searchable database.  It is an 
“organized, edited presentation of a finite quantity of information that . . . has been recorded and 
circulated in [a] fixed form analogous to printing.”  Second, the compilation is “published” on the 
Internet.  Third, the compilation is “generally used” in the crime lab’s course of business, as 
evidenced by Meldrum’s testimony that she has used it over 2,000 times to presumptively identify 
prescription pills, and that the site is generally accepted in the scientific community.  For these 
same reasons, the Ident-A-Drug Web site is “generally . . .  relied upon as accurate” by the crime 
lab in conducting its business.  Also, Ident-A-Drug has a commercial incentive to be accurate and 
reliable because subscribers pay to access the website. Trustworthiness is reasonably assured 
by the fact that the business community generally uses and relies upon this compilation of 
information and by the fact that its author knows the work will have no commercial value unless it 
is accurate.  
  
(2)  Confrontation Clause:  The court next held that the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause is 
not violated by using the Ident-A-Drug website because the information obtained therein, and 
testified to by Meldrum as a basis for her expert opinion as to the controlled nature of the pills 
involved, was not “testimonial.”  “Testimonial statements are those made primarily to memorialize 
facts relating to past criminal activity, which could be used like trial testimony.  Nontestimonial 
statements are those whose primary purpose is to deal with an ongoing emergency or some 
other purpose unrelated to preserving facts for later use at trial.”  Also, to be considered 
testimonial, “the statement must be made with some degree of formality or solemnity.”  (People v. 
Ochoa (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 575, 583.)  Here, the court held that the information from Ident-A-
Drug is not testimonial in that it contains no more than generic data about various pharmaceutical 
pills, based on information provided from pharmaceutical manufacturers and the FDA.  The 
primary purpose of collecting and compiling this content on the Ident-A-Drug website was not to 
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gather or to preserve evidence for a criminal prosecution.  Also, the information on Ident-A-Drug 
does not have the requisite level of formality or solemnity to constitute testimonial hearsay.  
Therefore, use by Meldrum in her testimony did not violate the rule of Crawford.   
  
As a final issue, defendants argued that the evidence of their possession of the alleged controlled 
substances was insufficient to convict because the pills were never chemically analyzed.  The 
court rejected this argument, noting that there is no legal requirement that the pills be chemically 
analyzed.  Their nature as a controlled substance may be proved circumstantially.  In some 
cases, that certain substances are illegal drugs may be proved by evidence that the substance in 
question was a part of a larger quantity that was chemically analyzed.  It may be proved by the 
expert opinion of the arresting officer.  Or it may be proved by the conduct of the defendant 
indicating consciousness of guilt.  In this case, Meldrum presumptively identified the prescription 
pills and testified that she did not believe they were counterfeit.  Also, the defense had several 
doctors testify that they had prescribed the pills to one or both of the defendants.  Absent any 
evidence to the contrary, this was enough to prove, circumstantially, that the pills were in fact 
controlled substances as alleged.   
 


